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As the world’s leading inspection, verification, 

testing and certification company, we provide

competitive advantage, drive 
sustainability and deliver trust.

Recognised as the global benchmark for quality and 
integrity, we employ over 64 000 people 
and operate a network of more than 1250 offices and 
laboratories around the world.

We are continually pushing ourselves to deliver innovative 
services and solutions that help our customers move their 
businesses forward. 

               Each amazing acHievement by humankind  

                      leaves us wondering ’HOW?’
            It is often impossible to comprehend exactly what 

     has occurred to permit an aWe-inspiring end result. 
    Many of industry’s achievements today have one thing in common: 

        an expert team putting systems and processes in place, 

                 laying the foundations for a gOal tO be reacHed. 
           While others may wonder ‘how?’ these people

                             knOW tHe ansWers. 
          At SGS our experts know and 
      we can help provide solutions.
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Water is essential for life. Our bodies are 

approximately 60% water and to stay healthy a 

continual intake of pure, clean, non-contaminated 

water is required. Much of the water we need 

comes from the food we consume, particularly 

from fresh fruit and vegetables. The quality of the 

water available for crops has a direct impact on  

the quality of the water they are composed of,  

and therefore on our health.

Through our soil and water testing procedures 

SGS ensures the water supply to farmed land is 

both safe and reliable. Our expert knowledge of 

agricultural practices means we can mitigate  

risks and advise on best practice. 

IT STARTS WITH 

      Water
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HigHlIGHTS
                           fROM 2010
 Constant currency revenue growth of 4.1%

        Total revenue of CHf 4.8 billion

   Adjusted operating income margin  
                                       increased to 17.8% 

   net profit for the year of CHf 588 million

          basic earnings per share of CHf 77.64

 Core operating cash flow of CHf 783 million

Ten acquisitions completed for a total

                                         cash consideration of CHf 302 million

proposed ordinary dividend  of CHf 30 
      and additional dividend of CHf 35 per share

fInAnCIAl
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2010 was an eventful and challenging year. As the world struggled to move out of recession, prices were volatile, 
leading to unrest in the financial, stocks and commodities markets. This was further exacerbated by unexpected 
catastrophes, most notably the Gulf of Mexico oil spill. These issues, combined with the slow growth at the start 
of the year, caused real concern as to whether the global economy would recover. It was not until the second 
half of the year that the outlook began to brighten. In this uneven economic environment SGS remained resilient 
and our overall achievement is continuing evidence of our position as market leader. 

We delivered an annual revenue increase of 4.1% over 2009, reaching a total of 4.8 billion, on a constant 
currency basis. This is attributable to an increase in activity levels across most geographical areas. Revenue 
growth was delivered primarily by the Minerals, Consumer Testing, Systems & Services Certification and 
Governments & Institutions Services businesses. Minerals recovered rapidly from a very difficult year in 2009 
seeing increasingly strong demand across the entire value chain with solid trade volumes, high commodity 
prices and increased exploration spend. Consumer Testing, Systems & Services Certification and Governments 
& Institutions Services all delivered organic revenue growth in excess of 7%. 

Over the year we also saw margin improvements. Our adjusted EbITdA margin reached 22.4%, while our 
adjusted operating income margin increased to a record 17.8%, from 17.4% in 2009. These margins were 
achieved through improved mix and capacity utilization, especially in Minerals Services, as well as enhanced 
efficiency in Automotive Services and excellent performance in Consumer Testing Services. Operating cash 
flows remained strong at CHf 783 million, which is in line with the previous year. As a result of the Group’s 
healthy cash generation the board of directors is proposing a dividend of CHf 65 per share.

cOntinuing glObal recOverY indicates a pHase OF sustainable grOWtH

The global recovery continued throughout 2010 in both developed and developing countries but slowed towards 
the end of the year to the pace expected for the first half of 2011. This rate is predicted to increase in the second 
half of the coming year on the back of rising commodity prices, but the overall estimated global Gdp growth is 
3.3%, compared with 3.9% in 2010. 

It is predicted that the economy in Asia will remain strong through 2011, with the developing countries in general 
expected to expand by 6% or more in the coming year. At the same time there is still some uncertainty about 
the pace of economic recovery in Europe. 

The hardest hit economies and sectors, such as automotive and housing, continue to feel the effects of the 
recession, although some improvement is expected towards the end of the year when consumer and business 
confidence should begin to rise. 

dear sHareHOlders,

letter fROM THE 
   cHairman & ceO
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Sergio Marchionne 
Chairman of the board 

Christopher Kirk 
Chief Executive Officer

Throughout 2010 we continued to support our customers with innovative solutions and acquisitions that 
enhanced our product offering and service. Each business has also successfully brought new projects to market 
supporting its strategic direction. Sustainability has been, and will continue to be, a thread running through each 
of our businesses and regions. Many of the projects in this area, especially when it comes to power generation, 
stretch across and incorporate the services and skills of a number of our business areas. Our extensive  
cross-functional knowledge allows us to advise customers on subjects such as carbon foot-printing, green 
building and retail chain management.

strategic grOWtH tHrOugH acQuisitiOns

We acquired ten companies during 2010, for a total cash consideration of CHf 302 million. Each has given us  
a stronger regional market offering while allowing us to give our customers a more comprehensive service.  
Six of the acquisitions we made were in the area of Industrial Services; three companies in Asia and three in 
Europe. Through these acquisitions we reinforced our capabilities in materials testing, non-destructive testing 
(ndT) and medical devices. Our first acquisition of the year was Intron, a netherlands based construction 
consultancy company, which provides inspection, certification and testing. Through Intron’s integration we have 
enhanced our project management services and construction expertise to the whole buildings industry. 

We also acquired the M-Scan Group, supporting our life Science Services strategic move into biologics.  
With this purchase we can now offer tailor-made biological testing services to our clients and have gained 
significant expertise in large molecule characterisation. 

In december we made the largest of our acquisitions of 2010, General de Servicios ITv (Inspección Técnica  
de vehículos) SA, establishing SGS in the Spanish vehicle inspection market while at the same time enhancing 
our position in Argentina. This increased presence in both Western Europe and South America is in line with  
the strategic growth objectives of the Automotive Services business.

both regional and trans-national acquisitions are fundamental to our continual drive to develop our existing 
services and expertise. In 2010 we reinforced our acquisitions team and integration process to ensure sustained 
and rapid value generation. We utilized our capabilities once again with the preparation in 2010 for the first 
acquisition of 2011; the Hong Kong based International Electrical Certification Centre ltd. 

lOOking aHead tO 2011

In 2010 we started to lay the foundations for our growth plan for the period to 2014. Our forward thinking 
approach will guide us as we expand our services and generate organic growth. With this there will be 
substantial investment in development projects to drive growth well beyond the current year. We are expecting 
this to push the business forward through 2014 and beyond. In the year ahead we expect to show improvements 
in top line growth compared to 2010. Operating performance will also improve with trading profit above the level 
of prior years.

On behalf of the board of directors and the Operations Council we would like to thank the 64,000 SGS 
employees for their on-going hard work and dedication. It is through their commitment that we are able to 
ensure we deliver the best possible service, which enables our customers to develop their businesses to achieve 
their full potential.

Sincerely,
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depleting reserves of traditional fossil 

fuels and environmental drivers make 

alternative energy sources more 

marketable than ever. When compared 

with fossil fuels, all alternative energies 

generate less polluting greenhouse 

gases (GHG). However, to make a true 

comparison it is crucial that the gases 

released are considered across the 

whole lifecycle of each energy source 

and not just at the point of use. 

The SGS Climate Change programme 

ensures that GHG levels comply with 

eligibility criteria confirming their 

status as suitable alternative energy. 

by certifying emission reductions 

we guarantee only truly beneficial 

alternatives will survive.

   is tHe 

AlTERnATIvE 
               

A better 
        OptiOn?
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Wherever they are in the world, 
whichever industry sector they operate in,  

our customers rely on us to help 

find the answers to ‘HOW?’  
How can they reach their objectives? 
How can they streamline their processes? 

How can they operate in a more sustainable  
manner? How can they improve quality, 
reduce risk or increase their speed to market? 

Our international teams of experts provide 

specialised business solutions. Across all 

industry areas we partner with organisations, 

offering them independent services that 

analyse their operations, infrastructure and 

products and help them to make their businesses 

faster, simpler and more efficient.  
When our customers need to find out how, when 

they need to be sure, they come to us.  

sgs AT A

      GlAnCE
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We aim to be the most competitive and the most productive service organisation in the world. Our core competencies  

in inspection, verification, testing and certification are being continuously improved to be best-in-class.  
They are at the heart of what we are. Our chosen markets will be solely determined by our ability to be the most competitive  

and to consistently deliver unequalled service to our customers all over the world.

We seek to be epitomised by our passion, integrity, entrepreneurship and our innovative spirit, as we 

continually strive to fulfil our vision. These values guide us in all that we do and are the bedrock upon which  

our organisation is built.

Our vISIOn

Our vAluES

SGS is led by a dynamic group of individuals with many years of experience in their respective fields, and who are 

committed to our success as a company and to the success of our customers.

We are organised into ten lines of business and operate across ten geographic regions. Each business is led  

by an Executive vice president (Evp), and each region is led by a Chief Operating Officer (COO). The Evps and the COOs,  

in conjunction with the functional Senior vice presidents (Svps) and the Group’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief financial Officer  

and General Counsel make up the Operations Council, which meets regularly throughout the year to determine Group-wide 

strategies and priorities and review performance.

seniOr management*

Christopher Kirk
Chief Executive Officer and IT

Geraldine Matchett
Chief financial Officer

Olivier Merkt
General Counsel & 
Chief Compliance Officer 

cHieF Operating OFFicers

pauline Earl
Western Europe

duilio Giacomelli
South East Europe

dirk Hellemans
Central & north West Europe

Teymur Abasov
Eastern Europe & Middle East

frédéric Herren
Africa

Jeffrey Mcdonald
north America

Alejandro Gomez de la Torre
South America

Helmut Chik
China & Hong Kong

Anthony Hall
South Eastern Asia & pacific

dennis yang
Eastern Asia

eXecutive vice presidents

Jeffrey newell
Agricultural Services 

Michael belton
Minerals Services

Alim Saidov
Oil, Gas & Chemicals and
Environmental Services

Anne Hays
life Science Services

frankie ng
Consumer Testing Services

Malcolm Reid
Systems & Services Certification 

beat In-Albon
Industrial Services

Thomas Klukas
Automotive Services

frédéric Herren
Governments & Institutions Services

seniOr vice presidents

francis lacroze
Continuous Improvement

Jean-luc de buman
Corporate development,
Corporate Communications 
& Investor Relations

dominique ben dhaou
Human Resources

* Denotes members of the Operations 
Council directly supervised by the Board 
of Directors (Senior Management).
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Biofuels, which are produced by 

converting organic matter into fuel, are 

expected to make a serious contribution 

to the entire world’s transportation fuels 

over the coming decades. As biofuels 

usage increases our dependence on 

fossil fuels will decrease. One such 

biofuel is bioethanol, derived from 

sugarcane. Biofuels are blended 

with diesel to create biodiesel, which 

can, depending on the blend ratio 

and specification, be used to power 

unmodified diesel engines. 

SGS tests and verifies the sugarcane 

and subsequent bioethanol as it is 

developed and blended to ensure  

that at every stage in the process  

the needs of industry and the 

environment are being met.

efficiency 
 frOm

 paddock 
  

tO

 power
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oNLY THe

SmArteSt
iDeAS cAn HeLP
finD aNSwerS

with ever-present concerns regarding the 

environmental impact of intensive farming 

conflicting with the imperative of food security, 

finding innovative solutions is top of the agenda  

for the whole agricultural industry. Developing 

ways of improving outputs, protecting crops, or  

of using alternative resources could prove crucial 

for the industry, helping it to meet the demand 

of our growing world population for sufficient 

affordable food.

Always looking for creative answers, we at SGS 

independently assess customer product benefits 

in our own crop research farms. we analyse 

improvements in cost efficiency, increased yields 

and environmental protection. As a result, our 

customers can ensure their products deliver 

increased crop quality and quantity.
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As agricultural goods progress from field to fork they require 

attention, tracking and integrity. SGS is on hand with services 

to meet these needs. we test new and innovative seeds, 

conduct field trials and monitor crops. Once harvested,  

we verify the handling, separating, blending and storage 

before crops move on to the primary processing or trade 

phase of the supply chain. we also inspect the loading and 

discharging of shipments and perform quality inspections  

and fumigation to ensure against product deterioration.  

finally, collateral management and guarantee services 

complete our end-to-end supply chain offering.

aGricULtUrAL 
ServiceS

  >  matching customer requirements – new crop 
            research sites across europe, Americas & Asia Pacific

>  identifying proteins in ‘eight stack’ corn hybrids – 
      with innovative bioassay tests

   >  new soil, leaf and water testing and fertility 
               management services 
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New proJecTS oN cUTTiNG  
edGe iNNovaTioNS

the new ‘eight stack’ corn hybrids are 
an example of SGS’ work on cutting 
edge solutions. the eight stack,  
a recently introduced major industry 
achievement, produces eight different 
kinds of proteins to protect against 
insects and herbicides. SGS met the 
challenge to develop bioassay tests to 
prove the presence of all eight proteins. 
SGS is also working with manufacturers 
of insecticides and herbicides to 
determine their efficiency and safety 
using international field and laboratory 
tests. there is growing concern about 
agricultural inputs worldwide so as part 
of our work against counterfeiting, SGS 
has developed tailor made schemes 
for brand protection and supply chain 
integrity solutions. 

did YoU kNow 

SGS’ new soil and leaf testing laboratory 
in callao, Peru, helps farmers improve 
yields and output quality with soil and 
foliar analysis. Our nationwide services 
cover the three main climates of the 
coastal, mountainous and Amazon 
regions, giving customers web-based 
results that guide efficiency, productivity 
and improvement. Our soil sampling 
and testing enables soil nutrient 
management while the foliar analysis 
informs about the soil nutrient uptake 
by crops, allowing growers to make 
informed decisions. Our expert SGS 
team working in this area holds specialist 
knowledge about the specific climatic 
and environmental conditions in Peru. 

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Agricultural Services comparable revenue 
remained stable at cHf 344 million 
for the year, with significant growth in 
inland activities being offset by overall 
lower volumes of grain exports out of 
eastern europe and weaker results in 
South America. revenues from the trade 
inspection business declined primarily in 
eastern europe due to lower commodity 
prices delaying exports, compounded by 
russian and Ukrainian grain export bans 
and quota impositions. Operating margin 
for the year declined slightly to 15.7%, 
impacted mainly by this situation. these 
trends were partially offset by increased 
volumes from other origins such as 
western europe and canada but at  
lower margins for the Group.

During the year the Group continued 
to focus on developing inland services, 
which grew over 30%, especially in  
north America and europe. Both 
Seed testing and crop Services, and 
Agricultural research Services are also 
gaining traction in countries such as 
china and india, supported by a global 
development team.

food prices are again rising and the Un is warning that the next year could be even more 
difficult. with this in mind, the industry is seeking ways to boost food production and prevent further supply 

shocks. this year’s poor harvests and the rundown of global reserves could mean that, without a major 

increase in food production, next year could resemble the food crisis of 2007/8. the Un food and Agricultural 

Organisation (fAO) has recently called for a boost in agricultural investment and suggested that, to ensure  

long-term food security, there must be structural changes in the global food system. to meet this need for 

industry reform SGS has expanded in the inland sector with services for risk management, loss prevention  

or quality issues and developing and applying best practice methodologies.

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 344.1 356.3

cHaNGe % (3.4) 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % (0.1) 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (3.3) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 54.0 57.2

change % (5.6) 

MarGiN % 1 15.7 16.1

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.
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iT’S TrUe UnDerStAnDinG 
                    tHAt SteerS OUr 

                   deveLopMeNT
Powerful magnetic separators can recover valuable metals otherwise 

inseparable from mined products while ferrous contaminants can be 

removed using similar magnet based technologies. it is the unique attributes 

of magnets which allow these technologies to aid the mining industry in 

these and many other tasks.

SGS iron ore and steel services can provide extensive metallurgical services 

enhancing operations and improving productivity. As part of this we advise 

on the most effective technological solutions at each stage of the mineral 

extraction process. 
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 MiNerALS  
    ServiceS

whether our customers need technical advice on steel 

manufacturing processes, a strategic partnership in coal and 

coke trading or guidance on risk reduction, maximising profits 

or improving efficiencies in precious or base metal mining or 

extraction, we are readily available with an international service. 

Our expertise extends into biofuels, fertilizers, cement, industrial 

minerals and diamonds and places us at the forefront of the 

industry. Our global network of operations and laboratories  

means that our service touches every aspect of the value chain. 

>  identification of new resources – SGS quickly assesses 
      the profit potential

 >  independent sample preparation in remote locations – 
        SGS builds the first mobile laboratory in russia

>  Developing services in areas of risk – with laboratories across Africa
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in an uncertain industry, in which prices have been very volatile, it is no surprise that there are supply 

issues and concerns over industry development. iron ore prices remain high, copper has recently attained peak 

prices last seen in 2008 and prices of noble metals, including gold and silver are increasing. the shortage of 

resources can only mean prices are likely to continue to rise, but a global recovery should mean further industry 

investment will occur as production, trade and consumption grow. industry concerns are centred on the lack 

of human resources and need for technological development. Putting infrastructure in place and developing 

operations is frequently an issue for organisations needing a fast payback period. SGS’ expertise is invaluable  

for process alignment, resource prioritisation and fast timelines. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 615.6 536.0

cHaNGe % 14.9 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 12.2 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % 0.9 

 currency translation % 1.8 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 117.9 87.2

change % 35.2 

MarGiN % 1 19.2 16.3

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

overcoMiNG aLL diFFicULTieS

SGS’ work on the Severstal Uryakh  
Gold exploration Project sees us testing 
more than a 100 samples a day in a 
location hundreds of miles away from 
urban areas. this exploration project 
is in the heart of the irkutsk Province, 
in South-eastern Siberia, one of the 
remotest areas of russia. we have 
eight staff on rotation between here 
and our regional chita Laboratory, 
which supports Severstal with further 
analyses. the onsite mobile laboratory 
means that samples that previously had 
to be transported for two days can now 
be prepared immediately saving time 
and transportation costs.

did YoU kNow 

SGS’ geometallurgy expertise was 
called upon to identify the minerals 
present, textural relationships, to 
obtain bulk modal compositions and 
to provide metallurgical liberation data 
when Avalon rare metals discovered 
a new potential rare earth element 
source. As global demand for heavy 
and light rare earth elements (ree) 
increases, identifying resources and 
bringing them effectively to market is 
crucial. currently most ree come from 
china, but 60% are used domestically. 
the unique properties of ree make 
them indispensible in many novel 
technologies and as a result, suppliers 
are seeking alternative resources. 
when Avalon rare metals discovered a 
potential site in canada, they had many 
complex geochemical and mineralogical 
questions. Our team delivered a full 
programme to maximise recovery and 
profits while minimising impurities.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

minerals Services delivered excellent 
comparable revenue growth of 13.1% (of 
which 12.2% organic) to cHf 616 million 
for the year as the recovery in commodity 
markets continued. increased demand for 
energy minerals and bulk commodities, 
particularly iron ore, coal and non-ferrous, 
and recovery in the metallurgical and 
geochemical segments led to an increase 
in sample volumes in our laboratories in 
Africa. these factors also improved the 
pipeline of projects from clients in north 
America, South America and Australia.

the operating margin for the year 
increased to 19.2% from 16.3%.  
this was achieved through sales and 
back-office efficiency improvements; the 
extensive restructuring in 2009; improved 
capacity utilization; and a more favourable 
product mix. SGS also acquired verilab 
in northern chile and Assayers canada 
in vancouver, adding geochemical and 
analytical services to the existing service 
portfolio in these key markets. in addition, 
organic growth investments increased 
79% versus prior year to cHf 34 million.
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oNLY AccUrAte
    AnALySiS 
           enABLeS effective BUSineSS 

                   deciSioNSto run at optimal performance 

levels every business needs 

control. By having the right tests, 

run at the right time, using the 

right equipment, procedures can 

be adapted, staff can be trained 

and businesses can grow.  

the tests and controls that 

support the exploration, 

development and production of 

wells are essential, without them 

it would be impossible to profit 

from discovered fields. 

SGS well testing services 

meter fluids from wells and 

provide accurate well attribute 

measurements. in addition we 

can control pressure and flow 

rates, separate fluids and solids, 

provide fluid samples for analysis 

and open and close zones or seal 

wells completely.
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Our robust technology, knowledge-based approach  

and dedication to quality and safety allow us to 

provide innovative solutions to every part of the 

oil and gas industry. Our services throughout both 

the upstream and downstream sectors enrich each 

stage of the value chain and impact on everything 

from transport fuel and heating products to plastics, 

fertilisers and pharmaceuticals. Ultimately, our growing 

global network of offices and laboratories offers 

an independent service focused on responding to 

customer needs and delivering competitive advantage. 

oiL, GAS & cHemicALS 
                                                                        ServiceS

     >  expanding services into South America – five new 
           Used Oil testing laboratories

>  recognised leaders in safety – SGS has received 
      several safety awards from major oil companies

   >  real time data analysis – fluidProtm portable 
    production fluids testing laboratories
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the international energy Agency states that by 2014 surplus oil capacity will fall below 5%. 
this means prices could potentially triple between 2009 and 2030 due to the greater demand for decreasing 

resources and the rising costs of finding, extracting and refining lesser quality oil from more extreme locations. 

As the industry explores deeper waters and further inland the need to do this safely and efficiently is paramount 

and calls for innovative solutions and expertise. this is even more obvious in light of this year’s oil spill in  

the Gulf of mexico, which has lead to the recognition that safety needs to be scrutinized and protecting  

the environment has to be a primary objective. SGS meets this need with technologically advanced testing 

services and extensive risk management. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 956.6 951.0

cHaNGe % 0.6 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 4.2 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (3.6) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 148.9 149.2

change % (0.2) 

MarGiN % 1 15.6 15.7

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

aNaLYSiS wHeN aNd  
wHere iT’S Needed

SGS has developed well-testing services 
offering separator or multi-phased meter 
analysis innovatively supported by our 
fluidProtm portable testing laboratories. 
this extensive project saw us design 
packages and co-ordinate an industry-
wide familiarisation programme. with 
units now in deployment, we are looking 
at ways to further assist our customer 
base with this service. to meet the 
needs of our South American customers 
we have established five new Used Oil 
testing laboratories on this continent.  
At a time when the industry needs 
safety testing more than ever, we have 
been presented with, as the partner 
of major oil companies, a number of 
awards, demonstrating our industry 
leading expertise in this area. 

did YoU kNow 

At the beginning of 2010 we deployed 
our first fluidProtm unit. the mobile 
laboratory, offering onsite Pvt studies, 
production chemistry, sampling 
services and high pressure / high 
temperature fluid transfer services, 
was placed at a customer’s location 
in Angola. Our fluidProtm units are 
designed to bring all the precision of 
fixed land-based laboratories directly 
to the wellhead site. Our unit team 
of certified chemists is now able to 
provide the customer with immediate 
analyses and high quality data, giving 
an unparalleled service. this on-site 
testing minimises the costs associated 
with cylinder rental and transportation 
and delivers faster results than sending 
samples to fixed laboratories.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Oil, Gas & chemicals Services delivered 
comparable revenue growth of 4.2% to 
cHf 957 million for the year, supported 
by a steady increase in revenue from 
trade related business as well as strong 
growth in Plant and terminal Operations.

trade volumes and oil prices increased 
over the year as the global economy 
recovered. However, upstream sector 
revenue growth in the middle east was 
offset by reduced activity in the Gulf of 
mexico and Australia.

the operating margin for the year 
declined slightly to 15.6%, impacted 
mainly by start-up costs for the new 
well testing services, production fluids 
analysis and well engineering. in addition, 
persistent flooding in the Australian 
cooper Basin delayed the execution of a 
major new upstream contract. Substantial 
capital investments, amounting to 
cHf 67 million for the year, continued 
to support organic growth, including 
laboratory expansions in the United 
States and the United Kingdom and  
well testing equipment in Australia and 
Papua new Guinea.
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miLLiOnS Of LiveS depeNd oN 

FaST drUG deveLopMeNT
                        FroM DiScOvery 
        tO mArKet

when years of research result in the discovery 

of a molecule that can improve millions of 

people’s lives, what counts is reactivity.  

One recent breakthrough for multiple sclerosis 

patients is that activating stem cells can repair 

damage and alleviate the symptoms caused 

by this central nervous system disease. 

Pharmaceutical companies now need to 

develop a safe drug, test it through clinical  

trials and get it to market fast.

SGS plays a role in getting pharmaceuticals 

to patients. Our Life Science Services provide 

analytical, bioanalytical and clinical trial testing 

capabilities, along with process management, 

that enable drugs to swiftly reach those  

that need them with minimal cost and 

maximum safety.
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As a leading contract services organisation we have one 

of the largest networks of laboratories and facilities. we 

partner customers in the pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical, 

biotechnology, medical device and healthcare-related 

industries across europe, the Americas and Asia. Our 

portfolio encompasses analytical chemistry, microbiology, 

method development, stability studies, biopharmaceutical 

testing, bioanalysis, clinical trials (Phase i to iv), biometrics 

and regulatory consultancy. throughout all the services we 

provide, ensuring quality and safety is our primary concern.

LiFe ScieNce ServiceS

      >  Acquired tailor-made biology services – through SGS m-Scan

>  Growth demand for biopharmaceutical testing – 
      replicating projects for multinational clients

 >  investing in immunoanalysis – with the expansion
       of our Poitiers laboratory
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the pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical industries have felt the effects of the global 
economic downturn over the last few years. As a result, less potential products have been brought 

to clinical trial as concerns over intellectual property and poor returns on investment come to the forefront. 

Organisations have instead moved their focus to drugs in the later stages of clinical trials. there is also an 

increasing trend for pharmaceutical and biopharmaceutical companies to partner with third party organisations  

to reduce fixed costs. the services we offer on an international scale can be tailored to customer needs,  

from biotech start-ups to big pharmaceutical companies. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 193.6 199.9

cHaNGe % (3.2) 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 2.6 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % 1.3 

 currency translation % (7.1) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 28.8 29.0

change % (0.7) 

MarGiN % 1 14.9 14.5

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results 
   and business organisation.

iNTerNaTioNaLLY driviNG 
BioLoGicaL TeSTiNG

SGS has gained tremendous expertise 
in the biopharmaceutical arena with 
the acquisition of the m-Scan Group 
in 2010. the reputation that m-Scan 
holds in large molecule characterisation 
and biological testing together with 
its foothold in pioneering biosimilar 
testing complement the global reach 
of our network and greatly extend our 
SGS offering. SGS m-Scan customers 
now benefit from a comprehensive, 
full service across all areas of biological 
testing. As a result of our focus on 
biopharmaceuticals we were asked by 
our client, a top five company in the 
pharmaceutical industry, to replicate a 
biologics project used by its Belgium 
subsidiary to its china operations. By 
leveraging our global network we were 
able to successfully repeat the project  
in a second geographical location.

did YoU kNow 

Antibody products are widely 
recognised as a growing market and are 
predicted to be in the top five categories 
of biotherapeutics by 2014. recently, 
SGS has characterised the full molecular 
structure of a therapeutic antibody 
candidate on behalf of a German 
biotechnology company. this is a key 
area for SGS m-Scan which is perfectly 
positioned to assess the structural 
analysis of biomolecules. SGS m-Scan 
uses mass spectrometry to provide 
information on a protein’s primary 
(amino acid sequence), secondary  
(di-sulfide bridges), and tertiary (folding 
and conformation) structure in addition 
to any post-translational modifications 
(e.g. glycosylation). Our analysis 
satisfied the regulatory requirements  
(icH Q6B) for protein and glycoprotein 
products and provided information  
on potential modifications using  
mS-mAPPinG procedures.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Life Science Services delivered 
comparable revenue growth of 3.9% (of 
which 2.6% organic) to cHf 194 million 
for the year. Quality control testing and 
bio-analysis delivered growth while 
clinical research maintained its top-line.

total operating margin for the year 
increased by 40 basis points to 14.9%, 
driven by higher capacity utilization 
within the laboratory network, as well  
as increased demand from key accounts. 
Both were partially offset by pressure  
on margins in clinical research.

in response to deteriorating market 
conditions for early-phase clinical 
research, the business strengthened 
its sales structure with added focus on 
laboratory based services.

SGS acquired the m-Scan Group which 
consists of three laboratories in europe 
and one laboratory in the United States. 
it employs 61 highly qualified experts 
and generates annual revenues in excess 
of cHf 11 million. with this acquisition, 
the Group reinforces its commitment 
to becoming a leading player within the 
biologics testing arena.



38



r
e

v
ie

w

39

innOvAtive
 reLiaBLe MaTeriaLS pave THe waY To 

                                 creaTiviTYPlastics are all around us. their ability to be adapted, 

creating new variations with the properties needed, 

has allowed us to make things that would otherwise be 

impossible and, as a result, every industry relies on plastics. 

they are one of the materials that are synonymous with 

consumer products. However, as with many new materials 

resulting from chemical processes, some associated 

health hazards have come to light and these present major 

concerns to industry and regulators. manufacturers rely 

on SGS to verify the quality and safety of their goods. 

Our extensive laboratory network helps our customers 

ensure that hazardous chemical substances restricted by 

regulations such as roHS, eU reAcH and requirements 

related to SvHcs (Substances of very High concern) are 

either not present or are within tolerance in their products.
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 cOnSUmer 

 TeStinG

 ServiceS

>  Supporting Green electronics – testing compliance with 
      toxic chemical restrictions under global regulations

    >  risk assessing toys – 17 accredited toy 
        laboratories internationally

  >  Driving sustainability – 30% of cArB certified 
           chinese manufacturers are certified through SGS

in an age where consumer goods leave the shelves 

as quickly as they arrive and technological innovations 

transcend from concept to market at incredible speed, 

we ensure no important detail has been overlooked. 

whether it’s an addition to the food chiller, a new range 

of children’s toys or the latest electronic gadget, we verify 

regulations are met and products are safe and free from 

harmful chemicals. Our global network performs testing, 

inspection and assessments while providing technical 

assistance, reducing risk and improving efficiencies.
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Despite continuing global economic pressures, demand for consumer goods remains and where 

regional economies are brightening so too is expenditure. the use of chemicals in consumer products has grown 

exponentially over the years, as have the associated chemicals related health risks. Health hazards, particularly for 

children’s products, are a constant industry focus. cadmium compounds such as cadmium chloride and cadmium 

sulphate, used to stabilise plastics, have been at the forefront in 2010, as cadmium’s toxicity is now more widely 

recognised. Alleviating international concerns, our cadmium specific tests provide an example of how we tailor 

our services to meet the needs of the market and the growing concerns related to the use of chemicals.

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 821.4 790.4

cHaNGe % 3.9 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 7.0 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (3.1) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 211.9 201.1

change % 5.4 

MarGiN % 1 25.8 25.4

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results 
   and business organisation.

aLwaYS a STep aHead

in china and Hong Kong SGS is the 
first company to be accredited as an 
Airborne toxic control measure (Atcm) 
california Air resources Board (cArB) 
third Party certifier. this applies to 
furniture and wood composite products. 
we were also the first in Asia to test and 
accredit for volatile Organic compounds. 
for hazardous substances in electrical 
goods, we work with industry to develop 
the most appropriate tests. major 
consumer electronic brands use our 
global network of laboratories to verify 
their products are toxic free. Similarly, 
toy suppliers looking to comply with the 
eU new toy Safety Directive (2009/48/
ec) use our specialised risk assessment, 
testing and technical service.

did YoU kNow 

we recently identified non-compliant 
formaldehyde levels in decorated plastic 
dishes and cutlery likely to come into 
contact with food for infants, ahead 
of their market launch. this was on 
behalf of a major european houseware 
retailer and associated Asian suppliers. 
Our range of tests performed in our 
chemical laboratories across the eU 
and Asia, provided differing results. 
SGS investigated the cause of these 
variations. Our analytical findings along 
with a review of the manufacturing 
process suggested the coloured 
decoration materials were the source  
of formaldehyde level scattering,  
most likely due to manual lamination.  
we then advised the manufacturer on 
effective quality control measures,  
such as raw material analysis and regular 
manufacturing process evaluations  
to ensure that the formaldehyde levels 
are kept below the legal threshold.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

consumer testing Services delivered 
solid comparable revenue growth of 
7.0% to cHf 821 million for the year, 
with an operating margin of 25.8% 
up from 25.4%. All segments of this 
business contributed to increasing the 
top-line. Key growth drivers for the year 
included textiles, hard goods, food and 
especially automotive parts testing, for 
which laboratory investments are being 
made in europe and Asia. Sustainability 
services and solar testing also gathered 
pace during the year. these growth areas 
comfortably offset the comparative 
reduction in toys testing volumes and 
wireless testing.

Development of new services in 
response to changes in regulations and 
market liberalisation continued, with 
new services having been introduced for 
Sustainability, reAcH testing and cArB 
(california Air resources Board).

During the year, investments in 
equipment and infrastructure to support 
the expansion of our laboratory network 
and the successful replication of services 
continued, totaling cHf 59 million.



42

it’S 
coMMiTMeNT 
           THaT SeTS YoU APArt

creating a positive outlook for 

the future is a global challenge. 

Understanding which actions need 

to be taken is often the difficulty. 

Organisations are now seeing the 

value of including social, environmental 

and economic factors in their 

strategies as consumers tend to 

choose products and services from 

more responsible suppliers. 

At SGS we help organisations 

ensure they and their partners have 

efficient and manageable processes 

and systems in place which comply 

with stakeholder requirements 

related to quality, health and safety, 

environmental management, corporate 

social responsibility and other areas 

of sustainable development. Our core 

solutions for auditing, certification, 

verification, training and advisory 

services enable our clients to 

continually improve their processes, 

systems, supply chains, people and 

customer relationships.
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Our customers depend on us to enhance their business 

operations and to help them develop in a sustainable manner. 

By leveraging our audit, certification, verification, training 

and advisory services the effectiveness of their processes is 

improved, the quality of their products or services exceeds the 

expectations of their clients, and they experience increased global 

market opportunities. through schemes that align them with 

international regulations and standards, we protect and nurture 

their reputation, help them to manage their costs and guide them 

towards long-term competitive advantage. 

     >  enhancing sustainable development – by training professional 
          Sustainability Assurance Practitioners

 >  Accessing global markets – aligning businesses 
      with the requirements of their customers

>  Providing economic benefits and cost savings – certifying energy 
       management Systems

SYSTeMS & ServiceS cerTiFicaTioN
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there is growing demand for sustainable products and services as consumers and stakeholders 

demand attention to environmental and social issues. As a result of this rising public concern, regulations 

are continuously being introduced or adapted to incorporate sustainability criteria. every organisation must 

comply with regulations and prove their socially responsible behaviour. echoing this change in legislative policy, 

assessments of environmental and social risk factors are incorporated into investment evaluations. Businesses 

and consumers have to make many choices, fast. So it is no surprise that the reassurances gained through 

partnering with SGS lead to stronger customer relationships. Proactive organisations can protect their brands by 

ensuring they have effective processes, compliant and consistent supply chains and an ever-developing, skilled 

workforce: all areas in which SGS can offer guidance and solutions.

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 386.1 367.3

cHaNGe % 5.1 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 7.9 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (2.8) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 81.6 77.6

change % 5.2 

MarGiN % 1 21.1 21.1

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

TakiNG iT To THe NeXT LeveL

when it comes to overcoming big global 
challenges, our customers know SGS 
can provide answers. Our recently 
introduced corporate responsibility 
training adds to our increasingly popular 
portfolio of training services. the 
training helps organisations’ successful 
candidates achieve the associate 
level of the Sustainability Assurance 
Practitioners Scheme (cSAP), the 
first professional qualification in this 
field. As the international Standards 
Organisation (iSO) continues to address 
industry-specific issues, such as energy 
management, carbon footprint and 
Social responsibility, we at SGS offer 
more and more opportunities for our 
customers to gain certification against 
the most up-to-date best practice 
measures. in addition, the new SGS 
certified clients’ Portal now provides 
clients with continuous access to 
documents and information.

did YoU kNow 

within the pharmaceuticals industry we 
ensure consistent quality management 
systems are in place throughout the 
entire supply chain. we recently 
awarded Good Distribution Practice 
(GDP) certification to the Panalpina 
Group for its european HUB airport 
in Luxembourg. Here we assessed 
‘Ambient Systems’ for the handling 
of finished dosage drugs. By looking 
at every detail and helping to perfect 
processes we guarantee that Panalpina’s 
radio frequency identification (rfiD) 
measuring and monitoring system is 
operating with product safety, quality, 
regulatory and consumer concerns as 
priorities. Gaining this independent 
assessment is a crucial way for 
Panalpina to demonstrate its dedication 
to the healthcare industry. 

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Systems and Services certification 
delivered comparable revenue growth 
of 7.9% to cHf 386 million for the 
year, successfully maintaining a 
stable operating margin of 21.1%. 
the key business development focus 
areas delivered solid top-line growth, 
especially automotive, food, medical 
devices and pharmaceutical sectors. 
training activities also experienced a 
global recovery in demand.

Business expansion was evenly 
distributed across geographies, with 
double digit growth and market share 
gains in the Americas, eastern europe, 
South east Asia Pacific and china.

the strengthening of the business’s 
international sales team secured global 
contracts with multinational companies. 

investments have been made during 
the year to reinforce the international 
sales, technical and key accountant 
management teams. combined 
with new service developments, the 
implementation of new generation it 
solutions and excellent management of 
auditor utilization, good margins were 
successfully achieved.
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UnrAveLLinG 
                          tHe myStery 

                 Of miGHty 

          coNSTrUcTioNS
Behind every engineering feat there  

is an idea, a design and a construction 

project. the awe-inspiring end result often 

makes it impossible to comprehend how 

a structure was built. Looking back, the 

Great Pyramids in egypt are one such 

wonder. Some are built from as many as  

1 300 000 blocks of shaped limestone, 

each one weighing 2.5 to 15 tons and 

cover 13 acres of ground, standing up to 

146 metres high. 

today, when a project is conceived, 

making it happen is no less ambitious. 

SGS can assist by ensuring processes run 

efficiently, construction sites are safe and 

reliable materials are used.
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Our international team of engineers supports  

the integrity, safety and reliability of our 

customers’ activities, equipment and operations 

with creative technical solutions. we advise 

our customers on growth strategy execution 

and market best practice. Our diverse expertise 

covers renewable and conventional power 

generation, transmission, construction, industrial 

manufacturing and trade as well as banks 

and financial institutions involved in industrial 

projects. Our technical verification, inspection, 

testing and conformity assessments ensure 

our customers’ processes and projects meet all 

quality and performance requirements. 

iNdUStriAL  
             ServiceS

>  identifying the right solutions – SGS takes 
      a customer-centric and market driven approach

 >  increasing construction expertise – 
       with the purchase of the construction 
        consultancy company, intron 

  >  Accessing the non-destructive testing
            market in china – with a further acquisition



49

civil and industrial infrastructure development is influenced by many global factors. As demand 

for renewable energy rises, so too does the demand for technologies enabling the capture and transfer of energy 

from sources such as wind, solar and tides. the main drive in this sector is currently from offshore wind projects. 

technologies that enable waste recycling are another area of growth with positive environmental benefits.  

with the ageing assets of many energy suppliers and growing energy demand, new builds and modernisations 

of conventional power plants are also desperately needed, each adhering to today’s strict regulations. SGS has 

the expertise to guide customers through every aspect of construction and modernisation, ensuring regulations 

are met, safety is considered at every stage and environmental impact is limited. 

reSearcHiNG poTeNTiaL SoLUTioNS

intron, now part of SGS, has identified 
solutions to the growing issue of 
surplus sulphur from oil and gas 
extraction. working closely with our 
customer, Shell, we have investigated 
potential products and applications. we 
performed mechanical and chemical 
properties research into sulphur 
concrete and found it to be very strong, 
resistant to acid attack and with a 
surface that cannot be permeated by 
water meaning it is ideal for garden tiles, 
road building and hydraulic engineering. 
As a result sulphur concrete garden 
tiles are in the process of gaining ce 
certification ahead of market launch. 
At the same time we have performed 
various trials using sulphur concrete 
in marine environments, which have 
yielded positive results. 

did YoU kNow 

SGS is central to eDf’s pilot tidal turbine 
system. Located approximately 6km 
offshore from Paimpol in france, the 
Paimpol-Bréhat tidal Project site has 
some of the most powerful tidal currents 
on the coastline. there will soon be up 
to six turbines installed and linked to 
the french grid in Brittany, generating 
between 4 and 6 mw of energy. SGS, 
as the marine engineer, is responsible 
for technical assessments of the sub-
sea cable specifications, procurement 
and installation as well as project safety, 
cost management, planning, operation 
and maintenance. further to this, SGS 
is carrying out risk management and 
providing Occupational Health, Safety 
and environment (HSe) support.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

industrial Services comparable revenues 
increased 3.1% to cHf 738 million for the 
year, with good revenue growth in most 
regions tempered by market conditions in 
europe and the middle east.

Despite a slow start, new non-
destructive testing (nDt) operations 
in Germany and france contributed 
significantly to the top-line. in other 
regions, revenue growth drivers included 
material testing in Asia, project finance 
mandates in west Africa and mexico, 
and offshore inspection and testing in 
Africa. the operating margin for the year 
declined slightly to 13.2%, impacted 
mainly by a difficult construction sector 
in europe, particularly in Spain, and 
delayed capital investment projects in 
the middle east.

During the year, six acquisitions were 
made, three in Asia Pacific and three in 
europe. these acquisitions, in addition 
to capital investments of cHf 29 million, 
enabled the Group to expand materials 
testing capabilities in South Korea and 
Australia and access new nDt markets.

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 737.9 743.6

cHaNGe % (0.8) 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % (0.6) 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % 3.7 

 currency translation % (3.9) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 97.1 104.3

change % (6.9) 

MarGiN % 1 13.2 14.0

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.
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finDinG tHe cAUSe 
     preveNTS yeArS Of fUrtHer

            HarM

contamination is a major environmental concern 

as any toxic substance can have devastating 

effects on human health or wildlife. while only 

large-scale incidents make the international 

news, such as the Gulf of mexico oil spill, there 

are numerous smaller contaminations that cause 

just as much damage for which the causes are 

often unknown.

SGS uses a process of hydrocarbon 

fingerprinting to understand the distinct 

composition of a contaminating hydrocarbon or 

petroleum product, establishing whether it is 

new or old and identifying its source so further 

leaks can be prevented.
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Protecting our global ecosystem is the 

responsibility of governments and industry 

alike. Our international team of experts 

is constantly available with guidance and 

assistance in everything from assessing 

environmental performance to ensuring 

environmental regulations are met along 

with full laboratory analyses and support. 

tailored to the specific needs of individual 

customers, our service encompasses the 

monitoring of air and water quality, climate 

change effects and impact assessments. 

Our aim is to increase business efficiency 

and manage risk while enhancing our 

customers’ reputations.

 eNvirOnmentAL 
 ServiceS

>  Offering a more comprehensive service – 
      further expansion of our field and data 
      interpretation services

  >  Preventing air contamination – with our 
           fugitive emissions Service 

>  Spreading services geographically – 
      routine and new across india, 
      china and Africa
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the Un Biodiversity Summit, nagoya, Japan, October 2010 demonstrated the international 
focus on protecting biodiversity. An objective of the summit was to enlighten the world as to what this 

means: preventing risks to entire ecosystems, economies and ultimately human life. this focus on environmental 

problems highlights the growing public expectation that industry must avoid negatively impacting ecosystems. 

As a result, there is an increasing need for analysis of resource demands and the effects of pollution, along with 

the necessary actions should contamination occur. there is also a growing industry need to monitor operating 

conditions and to have a complete understanding of the long-term toxicity of chemicals such as pharmaceuticals 

and hormone residues. SGS’ expertise in analysis is behind numerous projects that will have benefits for our 

environment’s future. 

eXTeNdiNG oUr Service To ideNTiFY  

THe proBLeM areaS

SGS has developed a service to identify 
the areas of petrochemical plants where 
‘fugitive emissions’ escape. these being 
the various joints, flanges and valves 
from which 80% of a plant’s emissions 
are released. the other 20% come 
from the controlled emissions released 
through the stacks or chimneys.  
By identifying the major sources of the 
leaks, air contamination can be reduced 
and operating efficiencies improved. 
As part of this service we map our 
clients’ plant emission performance 
and highlight potential future fugitive 
emission points. Overall, SGS has been 
recognised this year by industry and 
authority clients for our international  
and highly experienced service.

did YoU kNow 

fundamental to the work we do is our 
ability to identify a target particle in a 
challenging environment, for instance, to 
detect the dioxin molecule concentration 
at which they become toxic. imagine 
trying to find one small red ball in an 
Olympic swimming pool filled with 
oil and small green balls. when in the 
oil, the colour of the balls is no longer 
distinguishable. to find the red ball, each 
ball must be carefully and individually 
cleaned, to protect and identify the 
colour. On a microscopic scale this 
is known as trace analysis and our 
instrumentation and expertise mean we 
consistently and accurately perform our 
analyses at this level.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

environmental Services comparable 
revenues increased to cHf 278 million 
for the year with growth generated by 
eKO-Project in Poland being offset  
by weaker results in western europe 
and north America. Good revenue 
growth was generated in emerging 
markets and new services such as 
sampling and data interpretation  
were introduced in various countries.

western europe’s prolonged winter 
weather conditions affected operations 
and the overall depressed economic 
conditions delayed project execution 
in italy, Germany and the netherlands. 
in Spain this was compounded by 
reduced construction related health & 
safety services as well as environmental 
compliance monitoring work for the 
construction industry. 

the operating margin for the year 
declined to 10.7% due to the weakness 
in europe as well as in north America 
where market conditions were also 
very difficult. in response, new higher 
margin services have been successfully 
rolled-out including biogenic carbon and 
fugitive emission services with contract 
wins in the middle east, Africa, india, 
Asia, South America and europe. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 278.4 287.7

cHaNGe % (3.2) 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % (1.3) 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % 2.1 

 currency translation % (4.0) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 29.8 33.6

change % (11.3) 

MarGiN % 1 10.7 11.7

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.
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PUre cLeAn Air 
                                                          depeNdS oN 

                                                          eXHaUST 
                                                          LiMiTaTioNS

we are not always aware of the 

pollutants released from vehicles, 

but their presence is felt in the air 

we breathe. ensuring they are kept 

to a minimum is an international 

concern as cities are smothered in 

gases that have negative effects on 

health and the environment. many 

countries have strict regulations 

that vehicle manufacturers and car 

owners must adhere to in order to 

minimise these dangers.

each year, across ten countries, 

SGS performs over 36 million 

vehicle emission tests helping the 

authorities enforce local legislations. 

this is a significant contribution 

towards better air quality for societies 

committed to the protection of 

present and future generations.
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 aUToMoTive 
ServiceS Our global, independent, accurate and secure vehicle 

testing solutions are designed to meet the specific needs 

of our customers and markets. By creating, constructing 

and implementing tests in accordance with statutory 

requirements we contribute to road safety and reduce  

the environmental impact of road traffic. Our customers, 

which can be governments, manufacturers, traders, 

financial institutions or insurance companies, rely on us to 

carefully design individual testing programmes that meet 

both objectives and compliance requirements. 

>  increased services for manufacturers and retail networks – 
       combining multiple SGS resources

    >  international growth – wider reach of statutory 
                  and commercial services

  >  Partner of choice for global clients – through our 
            innovative ideas and evolving traditional service
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the current commercial drive in the automotive industry is towards vehicle efficiency, quality 
and value over sales quantity in order to survive declining markets. while statutory periodic vehicle 

inspections are still needed, there has been an increased focus on dealer network support and guaranteeing 

the service levels experienced by the end consumers. regional requirements differ, but there is a growing 

recognition within developing countries that road safety and emission testing is needed and should match 

the levels required in developed countries. However, delivery models need to be enhanced and compliance 

improved. SGS works closely with customers around the world to meet their changing requirements whichever 

markets they operate in. Our customers are constantly coming to us for new and innovative solutions to help 

them develop and grow their businesses.

GrowiNG ServiceS GLoBaLLY wiTH  

New TeSTiNG STaTioN proJecTS

in 2010 we expanded both our statutory 
and commercial services into a greater 
number of countries. in Albania our 
service offering has grown with the 
modernization of a network of inspection 
stations, along with the construction of 
a brand new test station in the capital, 
tirana. Similarly, in Africa a number of 
expansion projects are underway. we 
have opened a modern testing station 
in ivory coast and others in morocco 
too. Our added value services have 
promoted successes in the commercial 
markets of europe and the US. Here 
our services have broadened to include 
brand enhancement and protection, 
vehicle inventory and certified pre-
owned management.

did YoU kNow 

One of our innovative commercial 
projects has resulted in a multi-year 
contract with a major automotive 
manufacturer to validate their dealership 
processes. to do this our SGS experts 
visit dealerships to assess the sales 
and service standards that have been 
developed by the manufacturer.  
A specially designed and constructed 
Dealer Assessment Data collection 
System bundles the entry data and 
sends it directly to the manufacturer to 
determine each individual dealership’s 
score. the scores achieved are 
incentivised and dealerships scoring a 
certain level receive award payments. 
SGS’ innovative solution, technology and 
trained experts provide our customer 
with consistent, real-time, highly valued 
performance feedback.

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Automotive Services comparable 
revenues declined 21.8% to  
cHf 195 million as a result of the 
termination of the irish statutory vehicle 
testing concession effective 1 January 
2010. excluding the impact of this 
concession, revenues for the sector 
grew by 3.1%.

Operating margin for the year increased 
from 16.3% to 18.4%. this was 
achieved across all regions, through 
either profitable growth such as in 
france and South America or, in the 
case of north America, efficiency 
gains achieved through a successful 
restructuring plan initiated in 2009. in 
addition, fee increases for statutory 
vehicle inspections were successfully 
negotiated in several countries. Political 
events in ivory coast affected operations, 
a situation that could remain in 2011. 

in December, the Group acquired the 
vehicle inspection business General  
de Servicios itv (inspección técnica  
de vehículos) SA for eUr 188 million. 
itv, at the time of the transaction,  
had 833 employees and operated  
43 vehicle inspection centres in Spain 
and 32 in Argentina. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 195.1 266.2

cHaNGe % (26.7) 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % (21.8) 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (4.9) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 35.9 43.5

change % (17.5) 

MarGiN % 1 18.4 16.3

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

r
e

v
ie

w
r

e
v

ie
w



58



r
e

v
ie

w

59

aBidiNG BY 

tHe rULeS 
               cAn’t Be tAKen fOr 

       GraNTed 
Setting the rules is the easy part, 

but ensuring that they are complied 

with is not a simple task. Keeping 

a country safe by preventing the 

entry of sub-standard goods and 

ensuring that only legally approved 

products cross borders, takes 

resources and co-ordinated efforts. 

there are big risks associated with 

processing international cargoes, 

risks that innovative technological 

solutions can help overcome.

SGS has trained over 300 customs, 

Police and Army officers in twelve 

different countries in our newly 

introduced Scanner Academy, 

which supports our Destination 

inspection Scanner Services in 

co-operation with international 

scanner manufacturers.
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Our portfolio of innovative services for governments, 

international institutions and partner organisations 

across the public and private sectors covers a variety 

of verification and technology based solutions.  

we assess compliance with regulatory requirements, 

enhance government revenue, facilitate trade, support 

efficiency and promote good governance along with 

sustainable development. we achieve this through 

electronic business processing, scanning operations, 

price verification and monitoring as well as validation 

of declared information. throughout our customer 

base and services, our focus is on new technologies 

and it systems.  

GOvernmentS & 

     inStitUtiOnS 

       ServiceS

          >  facilitating trade and other government activities – 
               combining unique expertise and technology partners

      >  expansion in Africa – with Product 
   conformity Assessment Services

>  moving to a package of services – risk-based assessments, 
      scanning, product conformity and traditional 
      pre-shipment services
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As the international environment becomes increasingly complex, we are witnessing an evolution 

from global solutions to local solutions. Local knowledge, presence and capabilities are now seen as more 

important than established global expertise. with this, competition among small local companies has increased 

as they now have the capabilities to meet the demand. Specifically, what the market requires is targeted, 

technology based solutions with immediate results. current policies require governments and institutions to look 

at industrial and agricultural development as well as building local competence and capabilities. SGS predicted 

these industry changes and has established strong partnerships and alliances while creating services that meet 

the new expectations. throughout 2010 we have been adapting and modernising our offering to address the 

emerging needs of our governmental and institution customers. 

(CHF million) 2010 2009 2

reveNUe 228.6 214.0

cHaNGe % 6.8 

change due to  

 volume & Prices % 9.2 

 Acquisitions / (Disposals) % - 

 currency translation % (2.4) 

adJUSTed operaTiNG iNcoMe 1 41.6 39.4

change % 5.6 

MarGiN % 1 18.2 18.4

1. Before amortisation of acquisition intangibles, restructuring and transaction-related costs. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

eXpaNSioN oF ServiceS acroSS  
THe deveLopiNG worLd

SGS is focused on expanding across 
all regions, particularly the middle east 
and Africa. in countries where national 
Standards Organisations are in the 
process of building their own capacities 
our Product conformity Assessment 
Services provide independent third party 
certification. this ensures the safety, 
quality and legality of products entering 
the country. At the same time it assists 
industry by reducing unfair competition 
and the market entry of substandard 
products. SGS builds the bridge 
between producers and buyers across 
the developing world while protecting 
the comfort and security of consumers 
by drawing on our immense expertise 
and service resources.

did YoU kNow 

SGS provides support to key United 
nations projects such as the eight 
Un millennium Development Goals. 
member States are required to 
achieve these by 2015 and we are 
currently assisting the international 
funding agencies involved. the goals 
aim to combat poverty, disease, 
illiteracy, environmental degradation 
and discrimination against women. 
Specifically, SGS is helping with three 
areas: to halt and reverse the spread of 
Hiv/AiDS; to achieve universal access 
to treatment for Hiv/AiDS; and to halt 
and reverse the incidence of malaria 
and other major diseases. with quality 
control services on pharmaceuticals, 
contraceptives and equipment SGS is 
playing a crucial role in helping these 
goals to be attained. 

FiNaNciaL perForMaNce 

Governments & institutions Services 
delivered comparable revenue growth of 
9.2% to cHf 229 million for the year, with 
Local Solutions now contributing over 
65% of total revenues for the division. 

the revenue growth for the year was 
achieved primarily through Product 
conformity Assessment (PcA) 
programmes in Algeria, Kenya and 
Saudi Arabia, as well as an extension of 
scope in indonesia. tradenet services 
continued to perform well in Ghana, 
madagascar and ivory coast. for 
scanning services, new mandates were 
secured in cape verde and the maldives; 
and in the Democratic republic of congo 
a new forestry monitoring programme 
was implemented. these compensated 
for overall lower revenues from the  
Pre-Shipment inspection contracts. 

the operating margin remained stable 
at 18.2% compared to 2009. this was 
impacted by the earthquake in Haiti 
and lower pre-shipment inspection 
volumes. During the year, ongoing capital 
investments of cHf 11 million supported 
the development of scanning solutions in 
Ghana and enabled several tradenet and 
cargo tracking programmes.
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Supermarket shelves are stacked 

full of variously prepared and 

packaged foods. Some are fresh 

and rapidly deteriorate, while others 

have undergone treatment and 

handling processes to preserve 

their quality, appearance and 

nutritional value. Canning is one 

such preservation method. Suitable 

foods are cooked and sealed 

in sterile cans, which are then 

sterilized by boiling. However, any 

failure in quality control could result 

in a fatal outcome for the consumer.

SgS ensures the safety and quality 

of preserved foods through our 

testing, auditing, inspection and 

evaluation of food manufacturing 

facilities. We verify all regulatory 

requirements are met and that the 

food reaching the consumer looks, 

smells and tastes as it should.

preServing  
tHe

 Quality
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SgS Corporate governance policies are designed to maximise 

shareholder value by defining clear and efficient decision-making 

processes, fostering a climate of performance and accountability among 

managers and employees alike and aligning employees’ remuneration 

with the long-term interests of shareholders.

this report has been prepared in compliance with the Corporate 

governance Directive and related commentary issued by the SiX Swiss 

exchange and has taken account of the Swiss Code of Best practice for 

Corporate governance issued by economiesuisse. 

introDUCtion
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at 31 December 2010, geographic 
operations were organised as follows:

europe, africa, Middle east

•	 Western europe

•	 Central & north West europe

•	 South east europe

•	 eastern europe & Middle east

•	 africa

americas

•	 north america

•	 South america

asia pacific

•	 east asia

•	 China & Hong Kong

• South east asia & pacific

the group is also structured into 10 
lines of business. each business line is 
responsible for the global development 
of group activities within its own sphere 
of specialisation and for the execution of 
strategies with the support of the Chief 
operating officers.

at 31 December 2010, the business 
lines were organised as follows:

• agricultural

• Minerals

• oil, gas & Chemicals

• Life Science

• Consumer testing

• Systems & Services Certification

• industrial

• environmental

• automotive

• governments & institutions

each line of business is led by an 
executive vice president, who is also a 
member of the operations Council.

1.2. SigniFicant SHareHolDerS

as at 31 December 2010, exor held 
15.00% (2009: 15.00%), Mr. august  
von Finck and members of his family 
acting in concert held 14.96%  
(2009: 14.96%), the Bank of new York 
Mellon Corporation held 4.99%  
(2009: 3.01%), allianz Se held 4.97%  
(2009: 7.40%), the Capital group 

Companies held 3.51% (2009: 3.51%)  
of the share capital and voting rights  
of the Company. 

SgS Sa, together with certain of its 
subsidiaries, held 232 652 treasury 
shares, representing 2.97%  
(2009: 4.12%) of the share capital  
of the company. 

During 2010, the Company has 
published regularly on the electronic 
platform of the Disclosure office of the 
SiX Swiss exchange Ltd all disclosure 
notifications received from shareholders 
of transactions subject to the disclosure 
obligations of article 20 SeSta. Such 
disclosure notifications can be accessed 
at http://www.six-swiss-exchange.com/
shares/companies/.

1.3. croSS-SHareHolDingS

neither SgS Sa nor its direct and 
indirect subsidiaries has any  
cross-shareholding in any other entity, 
whether publicly traded or privately held.

1.1. grouP Structure

SgS Sa, registered in geneva (CH), also referred to as the “Company”, controls directly 
or indirectly all companies worldwide belonging to the SgS group, which provides 
independent inspection, verification, testing, certification and quality assurance services 
through its worldwide network of subsidiaries, branches and agencies.

the shares of SgS Sa are listed on the SiX Swiss exchange and are traded on  
SiX europe (Swiss Security number: 249745; iSin: CH0002497458).  
on 31 December 2010, the market capitalisation of SgS Sa was CHF 12 273 million.

none of the companies under the direct or indirect control of SgS Sa has listed its 
shares or other securities on any stock exchange. 

the principal entities consolidated within the group are listed on pages 157 to 160 of 
the annual report, with details of the share capital, the percentage of shares controlled 
directly or indirectly by SgS Sa and the registered office or principal place of business.

Details of material acquisitions made by the SgS group during 2010 are provided in 
note 3 to consolidated financial statements included in the section SgS group results 
(page 97) of this annual report.

the operations of the group are divided into 10 regions, each led by a Chief operating 
officer who is a member of the operations Council and who is responsible for  
the SgS businesses in that region and for the local implementation of group policies 
and strategies.

1
groUp 
Structure 
             anD
SHareHolDerS
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caPital StrUCtUre

2.1. iSSueD SHare caPital

the share capital of SgS Sa is  
CHF 7 822 436 and comprises  
7 822 436 fully paid-in, registered  
shares of a par value of CHF 1. 

on 31 December 2010, SgS Sa held, 
directly or indirectly, 232 652  
treasury shares.

in 2010, 89 898 treasury shares were 
released to cover option rights.  
these shares were sold at an average 
price of CHF 944.38. 

2.2. autHoriSeD anD conDitional 

SHare caPital

the Board of Directors has the authority 
to increase the share capital of the 
Company by a maximum of 500 000 
registered shares with a par value 
of CHF 1 each, corresponding to a 
maximum increase of CHF 500 000 in 
share capital. the Board is authorised 
to issue the new shares at the market 
conditions prevailing at the time of 
issue. in the event that the new shares 
are issued for the purposes of an 
acquisition, the Board is authorised to 
waive the shareholders’ preferential 
right of subscription or to allocate such 
subscription rights to third parties. the 
authority delegated by the shareholders 
to the Board of Directors to increase the 
share capital is valid until 24 March 2011.

the shareholders have conditionally 
approved an increase of share capital 
by an amount of CHF 1 100 000 divided 
into 1 100 000 registered shares with a 
par value of CHF 1 each. this conditional 
share capital increase is intended to 
obtain the shares necessary to meet the 
Company’s obligations with respect to 
employee share option plans and option 
or conversion rights of convertible bonds 
or similar equity-linked instruments that 
the Board is authorised to issue. the 
right to subscribe to such conditional 
capital is reserved to beneficiaries 
of employee share option plans and 
holders of convertible bonds or similar 

debt instruments and therefore excludes 
shareholders’ preferential rights of 
subscription. the Board is authorised  
to determine the timing and conditions 
of such issues, provided that they reflect 
prevailing market conditions.  
the term of exercise of the options  
or conversion rights may not exceed  
10 years from the date of issuance of 
the equity-linked instruments.

2.3. cHangeS in caPital

there have been no changes to the 
Company’s share capital in the last  
four years.

2.4. SHareS anD  

ParticiPation certiFicateS

all shares, other than treasury shares  
held directly or indirectly by SgS Sa,  
have equal rights to the dividends 
declared by the Company and have  
equal voting rights.

the Company has not issued any 
participation certificates (bons de 
participation / partizipationsscheine).

2.5. ProFit SHaring certiFicateS

the Company has not issued any profit 
sharing certificates.

2.6. liMitationS on  

tranSFeraBility anD aDMiSSiBility 

oF noMinee regiStrationS

SgS Sa does not limit the transferability 
of its shares. the registration of shares 
held by nominees is not permitted by 
the Company’s articles of association, 
except by special resolution of the Board 
of Directors. By decision of the Board, 
made public in a note issued by Sag 
(then Sega) on 4 october 2001, the 
Company’s shares can be registered 
in the name of a nominee acting in a 
fiduciary capacity for an undisclosed 
principal. Such shares do not carry 
voting rights except with the approval 
of the Board of Directors. on 23 March 

2005, the Board of Directors decided to 
approve the registration of such shares 
with voting rights of up to 5% of the 
aggregate share capital of the Company. 
this decision was communicated  
to Sag.

the Company has a single class of 
shares and no preferential rights, 
statutory or otherwise, have been 
granted to any shareholder.

2.7. convertiBle BonDS anD 

WarrantS / oPtionS

no convertible bonds have been issued 
by the Company or by any entity under its 
direct or indirect control. options granted 
to senior managers and Directors of the 
group are detailed in section 5. Details 
of all options outstanding are provided 
in note 31 to the consolidated financial 
statements of the group. no other 
options or similar instruments have been 
issued by the Company nor by any of the 
group’s subsidiaries.
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3.1. MeMBerS oF tHe  

BoarD oF DirectorS 

the Members of the Board of Directors 
during 2010 were as follows:

Sergio MArCHioNNe 
Canadian / italian (1952)

Chairman

Chairman of the audit Committee

Chairman of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Chairman of the professional  
Conduct Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

May 2001

Professional background

Ceo Fiat group Automobiles S.p.A.

Ceo Chrysler group LLC.

TiBerTo ruy BrANDoLiNi D’ADDA 

italian (1948)

Member of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2005

Professional background

Chairman Sequana

AuguST voN FiNCK 

german (1930)

Member of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

october 1998

Professional background

industrialist

AuguST FrANçoiS voN FiNCK 

Swiss (1968)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

May 2002

Professional background

industrialist

PeTer KALANTZiS 

Swiss / greek (1945)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2009

Professional background

economist, Consultant

SHeLBy r. Du PASQuier 

Swiss (1960)

Member of the professional  
Conduct Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2006

Professional background

Attorney at law

THoMAS LiMBerger 

german (1967)

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2008

Professional background

Business executive

CArLo BAreL Di SANT’ALBANo  

italian (1964)

Member of the audit Committee

Date of appointment to the Board

March 2009

Professional background

Ceo exor SpA

olivier Merkt, general Counsel of 
the SgS group, acts as the Company 
Secretary, he is not a Member of the 
Board of Directors. 

additional biographical information on 
the Members of the Board of Directors 
may be viewed on the group website, 
http://www.sgs.com/about_sgs/
management/boardofdirectors.htm, 
which is updated regularly.

the Directors bring a wide range of 
experience and skills to the Board. 
they participate fully in decisions on 
key issues facing the group. the Board 
undertakes a periodic review of the 
Directors’ interests in which all potential 
or perceived conflicts of interests and 
issues relevant to their independence 
are considered. Based on this review, 
the Board has concluded that all the 
non-executive Directors (including 
the Chairman) are independent from 
management and free of any relationship 
that could materially interfere with 
the exercise of their independent 
judgement. With the exception of Sergio 
Marchionne, who was Chief executive 
officer of the group between February 
2002 and June 2004, none of the 
Directors or their close relatives has 
or had any management responsibility 
within the SgS group. 

3   BoarD oF

 DireCtorS
the Board of Directors convenes regularly scheduled meetings with additional 
meetings held as and when required, in person or by phone conference. it may pass 
resolutions by written consent.
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none of the Members of the Board  
of Directors or their close relatives 
has or had any material business 
connections with the Company or  
its affiliated companies.  
the remuneration of the Members of 
the Board of Directors is detailed in 
section 5.2.3.

3.2. otHer activitieS anD FunctionS 

the following list presents all material 
positions in governing and supervisory 
boards, management positions and 
consultancy functions, official tenures 
and political commitments of each  
Board Member, both in Switzerland  
and abroad, as at 31 December 2010  
(an * denotes a listed company). 

Sergio MArCHioNNe

Major Board assignments

*Fiat S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2003

Chief executive officer since 2004

Fiat industrial S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Chairman since 2010

Fiat group Automobiles S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Chief executive officer since 2005

*CNH global N.v., Amsterdam (NL)

Chairman of the Board since 2006

*Philip Morris international SA, 

Lausanne (CH)

Member of the Board since 2008

Chrysler group LLC, Auburn Hill, 

Michigan (uSA)

Chief executive officer since 2009

*exor S.p.A , Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2010

Confindustria, rome (iT)

Member of the general Council 

since 2006

european Automobile Manufacturers’

Association (ACeA), Brussels (Be)

Member of the Board since 2006

TiBerTo ruy BrANDoLiNi D’ADDA

Major Board assignments

eXor investissements SA,

Luxembourg (Lu)

Chairman of the Board since 2007

*Sequana SA, Paris (Fr)

Chairman of the Board since 2005

*eXor S.p.A., Turin (iT)

vice-Chairman since 1981

giovanni Agnelli e C., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

*Fiat S.p.A., Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

*vittoria Assicurazioni S.p.A., Milan (iT)

Member of the Board since 2004

Antalis international SAS, Paris (Fr)

Member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2005

ArjoWiggins SAS, issy les Moulineaux (Fr)

Member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2005

AuguST voN FiNCK

Major Board assignment

generali Holding vienna Ag, vienna (AT)

Member of the Board since 1974

AuguST FrANçoiS voN FiNCK

Major Board assignments

*Custodia Holding, Munich (De)

Member of the Board since 1999

Carlton Holding, Allschwil (CH)

Member of the Board since 2001

*Staatl. Mineralbrunnen Ag, 

Bad Brückenau (De)

Member of the Board since May 2001

Bank von roll, Zürich (CH)

vice-President of the Board since 2009

*von roll Holding Ag, Breitenbach (CH)

Member of the Board since 2010

PeTer KALANTZiS

Major Board assignments

Mövenpick Holding Ag, Cham (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2001

Clair Ag, Cham (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2004

*CNH global Nv, Amsterdam (NL)

Member of the Board since 2006

*Lamda Development Ltd, Athens (gr)

Chairman of the Board since 2010 

Member of the Board since 2004

Paneuropean oil and industrial Holdings SA, 

Luxembourg (Lu)

Member of the Board since 2002

*von roll Holding Ag, Breitenbach (CH)

Chairman of the Board since 2010 

Member of the Board since 2007 

Transbalkan Pipeline Bv, Amsterdam (NL)

Member of the Supervisory Board since 2008

Hardstone Services SA, geneva (CH)

Member of the Board since 2009
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SHeLBy r. Du PASQuier

Major Board assignment

*Aygaz AS, istanbul (Tr)

Member of the Board since 1998

CArLo BAreL Di SANT’ALBANo

Major Board assignments

*Fiat S.p.A. Turin (iT) 

Member of the Board since 2006

Cushman & Wakefield, New york (uS)

Member of the Board since 2007

Juventus, Turin (iT)

Member of the Board since 2006

vision investment Management (HK)

Member of the Board since 2007

3.3. croSS involveMent 

no member of the Board of Directors 
or of the operations Council is also a 
member of the executive bodies of 
entities or organisations with which 
the group has material business or 
commercial relations.

3.4. electionS anD terMS oF oFFice 

the articles of association of SgS 
Sa provide that the Members of the 
Board of Directors are elected by the 
shareholders for a maximum term of 
four years. each Member of the Board 
is individually elected at the annual 
Meeting of Shareholders. there is no 
limit to the number of terms a Director 
may serve. the term of office of all the 
current Board Members will expire at 
the 2014 annual general Meeting of 
Shareholders, at which time all Board 
positions will be subject to election by 
the shareholders. there is no provision 
for partial, rotating or staggered renewal 
of the Board of Directors. By-elections 
may be held before the end of the term 
of office in the event of vacancies.

the initial date of appointment of each 
Board Member is indicated in section 3.1.

3.5. internal  

organiSational Structure 

the duties of the Board of Directors 
and its Committees are defined in the 
Company’s internal regulations which 
are reviewed periodically. they set out all 
matters for which a decision by the Board 
of Directors is required. in addition to the 
decisions required by Swiss company 
law, the Board of Directors approves 
the group’s strategies and key business 
policies, investments, acquisitions, 
disposals and commitments in excess  
of delegated limits.

the Members of the Board of Directors 
are briefed in advance of Board 
meetings on matters to be addressed 
at the meeting and each Board member 
receives monthly reports on the group’s 
operational results and financial position. 
they are regularly updated on key 
aspects of the group’s business and 
other material issues. the Board of 
Directors meets with all members of 
the operations Council at least twice a 
year. the Chief executive officer, Chief 
Financial officer and general Counsel 
& Chief Compliance officer (hereafter 
«Senior Management») attend all of the 
Board of Directors meetings, while other 
operations Council members attend 
from time to time to discuss matters 
under their direct responsibility.  
the Board of Directors held six meetings 
in 2010. 

3.5.1.allocation of Board Member tasks

the Board of Directors elects its 
Chairman, currently Sergio Marchionne 
(see section 3.1.) and the members of 
its committees at the beginning of each 
term, at its first meeting after the annual 
general Meeting of shareholders.

3.5.2. Committees

the Board has established  
the following committees:

• nomination and remuneration

• audit

• professional Conduct

each committee acts within terms of 
reference established by the Board  
of Directors and set out in the internal 
regulations of the Company. the 
minutes of their meetings are available 
to all Directors. the Chairman of  
the Board also chairs each of the  
Board Committees.

Section 3.1 indicates the membership  
of each Board Committee.

Nomination and remuneration Committee

Section 5.1. of this report describes 
the terms of reference and activities 
during 2010 of the nomination and 
remuneration Committee. in 2010,  
the Committee held one meeting and 
passed one resolution in writing.

Audit Committee

the audit Committee supports the 
Board of Directors in discharging its 
duties in relation to financial reporting 
and control. Such duties include 
consideration of the appropriateness 
of accounting policies, the adequacy of 
internal controls and risk management 
and regulatory compliance. it is also 
responsible for the supervision of the 
internal and external auditors of the 
group, each of which provides regular 
reports to the committee on findings 
arising from their work. the committee 
reports regularly to the Board of 
Directors on its findings. in 2010, the 
audit Committee held three meetings. 

Professional Conduct Committee

the professional Conduct Committee 
assists the Board of Directors and 
Management in establishing policies 
relating to professional conduct and 
oversees their implementation. the 
group’s professional conduct policies 
are embodied in the Code of integrity 
and professional Conduct which sets 
out the principles governing business 
conduct, which are applied across the 
whole SgS group. these principles 
reflect the Business principles 
for Countering Bribery issued by 
transparency international and Social 
accountability international and 
incorporate the rules adopted by the 
international Federation of inspection 
agencies (iFia), the professional 
association for the inspection industry. 
the Committee met twice in 2010 and 
passed several resolutions in writing.
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in addition to the Board Members 
indicated in the chart in section 3.1.,  
the professional Conduct Committee 
also comprises the Chief executive 
officer and the general Counsel & Chief 
Compliance officer (general Counsel). 
the head of internal audit attends  
all meetings of the professional  
Conduct Committee.

3.5.3. Board Meetings

the Board of Directors is the highest 
governing body within the group.  
it is the ultimate decision-making 
authority except for those decisions 
reserved by law for the general Meeting 
of Shareholders. 

the Chairman plans and defines the 
agenda of the meetings of the Board 
and its Committees. each Board 
Member has the right to request that 
a meeting be held or that an item for 
discussion and decision be included 
in the agenda of a meeting. Board 
and Committee members receive 
supporting documentation in advance 
of the meetings and are entitled to 
request further information from the 
Management in order to assist them to 
prepare for the meetings.

to be adopted, resolutions need a 
majority vote of the members of the 
Board or Committee, with the Chairman 
having a casting vote. 

3.6. DeFinition oF  

areaS oF reSPonSiBility 

the Board of Directors is responsible 
for the ultimate direction of the group. 
the Board discharges all duties and 
responsibilities which are attributed to it 
by law. in particular, the Board: 

• Leads and oversees the conduct, 
management and supervision  
of the group

• Determines the organisation  
of the group

• assesses risks facing the business 
and reviews risk management and 
mitigation policies

• appoints and removes the group’s 
Chief executive officer and other 
members of Management

• Defines the group’s accounting and 
control principles

• Decides on major acquisitions, 
investments and disposals

• Discusses and approves the group’s 
strategy, financial statements and 
annual budgets

• prepares the general Meetings of 
Shareholders and implements the 
shareholders’ resolutions

• notifies the judicial authorities in the 
event of insolvency of the Company, 
as required by Swiss law

in accordance with the Company’s 
internal regulations, available at  
www.sgs.com/boardregulations, 
operational management of the group, 
a function which the Board of Directors 
has delegated, is the responsibility 
of the operations Council. the 
operations Council has the authority 
and responsibility to decide on all 
issues which are not attributed to 
the Board of Directors. in the event 
of uncertainty on a particular issue 
regarding the separation of responsibility 
between the Board of Directors and the 
Management, the final decision is taken 
by the Chairman of the Board.

the Chairman is regularly informed of 
the activities of the operations Council 
by the Chief executive officer, Chief 
Financial officer and general Counsel.

the operations Council is chaired by 
the Chief executive officer and consists 
of those individuals entrusted with the 
operational management of the group’s 
activities, as follows:

• the Chief operating officers (Coos) 
are responsible for operations in the 
group’s 10 regions (see section 1.1.)

• the executive vice presidents (evps) 
are entrusted with the management 
and development of the group’s 10 
business lines (see section 1.1.)

• the Senior vice presidents (Svps) 
represent the principal group  
support functions (Finance,  
it, Communications & investor 
relations, Corporate Development, 
Legal & Compliance and Continuous 
improvement).

the composition, role and organisation 
of the operations Council are detailed  
in section 4.

3.7. inForMation anD  

control inStruMentS  

viS-À-viS tHe ManageMent

a. responsibility of the Board

the Board of Directors has ultimate 
responsibility for the system of 
internal controls established and 
maintained by the group and for 
periodically reviewing its effectiveness. 
internal control is intended to provide 
reasonable assurance against financial 
misstatement and / or loss, and 
includes the safeguarding of assets, 
the maintenance of proper accounting 
records, the reliability of financial 
information and the compliance with 
relevant legislation, regulation and 
industry practice.

B. governance framework

the group has an established 
governance framework which is 
designed to oversee its operations 
and assist the Company in achieving 
its objectives. the main principles of 
this framework include the definition 
of the role of the Board and its 
Committees, an organisational structure 
with documented delegated authority 
from the Board to Management and 
procedures for the approval of major 
investments, acquisitions and other 
capital allocations.

as a rule, the Chief executive officer 
participates in the meetings of the Board 
of Directors and of the Committees;  
the Chief Financial officer participates  
in the meetings of the Board of Directors 
and of the audit Committee; the 
group Controller and the Head of the 
internal audit Function participate in the 
meetings of the audit Committee; the 
Head of Human resources participates 
in the meetings of the nomination 
and remuneration Committee and the 
general Counsel & Chief Compliance 
officer attends all meetings of the 
Board of Directors and its Committees. 
the other members of the operations 
Council and other members of 
management only participate in  
the Board and Committee meetings  
by invitation.
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C. information to the Board

the Board of Directors receives  
monthly reports on the financial  
results and other reports on business  
and operations at each meeting. 

the group has a dedicated internal audit 
function, reporting to the Chairman of 
the Board and the audit Committee, 
which assesses the effectiveness 
and appropriateness of the group’s 
risk management, internal controls 
and governance processes as well as 
the reliability of internal financial and 
operational information and ensures 
that the standards and policies of 
the group are respected. internal 
audit reviews and identifies areas of 
potential risk associated with the key 
business activities performed by a 
particular office, highlights opportunities 
for improvement and proposes 

constructive control solutions to reduce 
any exposures. all key observations 
are communicated to the operations 
Council and the Chairman of the Board 
through formal and informal reports.  
the audit Committee is regularly 
informed about audits performed and 
important findings, as well as the 
progress on implementing the agreed 
actions by management.

D. general Counsel & Chief 

Compliance officer

Furthermore, the group has a 
compliance function, headed by the 
general Counsel & Chief Compliance 
officer, who is a member of the 
professional Conduct Committee and 
has direct access to the Chairman of 
the Board. the compliance function 
supports the implementation of a 

compliance programme based on the 
SgS Code of integrity and professional 
Conduct, available in 29 languages.  
the goal of the programme is to 
ensure that the highest standards of 
integrity are applied to all of the group’s 
activities worldwide in accordance with 
international best practices.

e. other

in addition, the main business lines have 
specialised technical governance units, 
which ensure compliance with internally 
set quality standards and industry 
best practices. Formal procedures are 
in place for both internal and external 
auditors to report their findings and 
recommendations independently to  
the Board’s audit Committee.
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4.1. MeMBerS oF tHe  

oPerationS council

the members of the operations Council 
at 31 December 2010 were as follows:

CHriSToPHer KirK (1956) 

British

Chief executive officer & it

Bachelor of Science

Joined SgS in 1981

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2006: evp, Minerals and 
environmental Services

2002 – 2003: Coo, South east  
asia & pacific

2000 – 2002: Managing Director and 
Sub-regional Manager, Singapore

1998 – 1999: Managing Director, 
thailand

gerALDiNe MATCHeTT (1972) 

Swiss / British / French

Chief Financial officer (since March 2010)

Master in Sustainable Development 

Chartered accountant

Joined SgS in 2004

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2010: group Financial Controller

other work experience:

2001 – 2004: Deloitte, geneva

1997 – 2001: KpMg, London

oLivier MerKT (1962) 

Swiss

general Counsel & Chief Compliance officer

Doctorate in Law, admitted to the  
bar in Switzerland

Joined SgS in 2001

Previous responsibilities:

2006 – 2008: vp, Corporate 
Development

2001 – 2006: Senior Counsel

other work experience:

1993 – 2001: Senior Manager Legal, 
ernst & Young, geneva

TeyMur ABASov (1972) 

Azeri

Coo, eastern europe & Middle east

Degree in electrical engineering

Joined SgS in 1994

Previous responsibilities:

2006 – 2007: Managing Director, 
Kazakhstan & Caspian Sub-region

2004 – 2006: Managing Director, 
azerbaijan and georgia

2003 – 2004: Managing Director, georgia

2001 – 2003: operations Manager,  
oil gas & Chemicals Services, azerbaijan

MiCHAeL BeLToN (1960) 
British

evp, Minerals Services 

BSc Chemistry

Joined SgS in 2002

Previous responsibilities:

2005 – 2007: Managing Director, 
Minerals Services, north america

2002 – 2005: vp, global non-Ferrous 
Minerals Services

other work experience:

1995 – 2002: evp, alfred H. Knight 
north america Ltd

JeAN-LuC De BuMAN (1953) 

Swiss

Corporate Development, Corporate 
Communications & investor relations

Legal studies

Joined SgS in 1998

other work experience:

1978 – 1998: Country Head Switzerland, 
Sales Fixed income, UBS

oPerationS 
council
the operations Council (as defined in section 3.5.) meets on a regular basis,  
in principle at least six times a year. Between meetings, it holds regular phone 
conferences and may make decisions on such calls or by electronic voting.
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HeLMuT CHiK (1966) 

Chinese

Coo, China & Hong Kong

Master of Business administration

Joined SgS in 1991

Previous responsibilities:

2003: Managing Director, Hong Kong

2002: global Business Manager, 
Softline, Consumer testing Services

2000 – 2001: Director greater China, 
SBU Softline, Consumer testing Services

1999: Director, Hong Kong,  
Consumer testing Services

PAuLiNe eArL (1961) 

British

Coo (ad interim), Western europe  
(since September 2010)

BSc in Food Science

Joined SgS in 1995

Previous responsibilities:

2007 – 2010: Managing Director,  
United Kingdom

2004 – 2007: SSC Business Manager, 
United Kingdom

DuiLio giACoMeLLi (1950) 

italian

Coo, South east europe

Diploma in industrial Chemistry

Joined SgS in 1970

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2005: Managing Director, italy

1999 – 2002: Business Manager, 
agricultural, Minerals and oil gas & 
Chemicals Services, South east europe

1995 – 1998: Business Manager, 
agricultural Services, italy

ALeJANDro goMeZ De  

LA Torre (1959) 

Peruvian

Coo, South america

Degree in Business administration,  
postgraduate Specialisation in  
international Commerce

Joined SgS in 1986

Previous responsibilities:

1996 – 2001: national Chief executive, 
peru and Manager Central Sub-region, 
Latin america (1998 – 2001)

ANTHoNy HALL (1963) 

Australian

Coo, South east asia & pacific 

Chemist, laboratory technician

Joined SgS in 2001

Previous responsibilities:

2007 – 2009: Managing Director, australia

2005 – 2006: national Business Manager 
australia, ogC, industrial and automotive

ANNe HAyS (1959) 

French

evp, Life Science (since January 2010)

phD in pharmacy

Joined SgS in 1984

Previous responsibilities:

2008 – 2010: vp Business Development 
r&D QC, Life Science Services

2001 – 2007: global Sales QC,  
Life Science Services

1992 – 2000: general Manager, 
Laboratory Simon, France

DirK HeLLeMANS (1958) 

Belgian

Coo, Central & north West europe

Degree in Chemical engineering and 
Master in Business administration

Joined SgS in 1988

Previous responsibilities:

2002 – 2004: Coo, north West europe

1997 – 2002: Managing Director, Belgium

FrÉDÉriC HerreN (1955) 

Swiss

evp, automotive Services and 
governments & institutions Services 

Coo, africa (since September 2010)

Master in economics

initially joined SgS in 1986,  
rejoined in 1999

Previous responsibilities:

2003 – 2006: evp, automotive Services

1999 – 2003: Head of global Marketing, 
trade assurance Services (now 
governments & institutions Services)

other work experience:

1995 – 1998: Ceo, Unilabs international

BeAT iN-ALBoN (1952) 

Swiss

evp, industrial Services  
(since January 2010)

Doctorate in economic Science & MBa

Joined SgS in 2007

Previous responsibilities:

2007 – 2009: evp, Life Science Services

other work experience:

2003 – 2007: Head, organic Fine  
& performance Chemicals, Lonza

1998 – 2003: Head, organic Fine 
Chemicals, Lonza

FrANCiS LACroZe (1953) 

French

Svp, Continuous improvement

Doctorate in economics

Joined SgS in 1987

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: evp, agricultural Services

2002 – 2004: evp, Systems &  
Services Certification

1997 – 2002: general Manager, 
Consumer testing Services and Systems 
& Services Certification, France.

1998 – 2000: also regional Sector 
Manager, Consumer testing Services, 
europe, africa & Middle east
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JeFFrey MCDoNALD (1964) 

Australian

Coo, north america

postgraduate Certificate education

Joined SgS in 1995

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: evp, Systems &  
Services Certification

2003: global project Manager, Systems 
& Services Certification

1995 – 2003: Systems & Services 
Certification, South east asia & pacific, 
regional Manager (Bangkok)

JeFFrey NeWeLL (1950) 

British

evp, agricultural Services

Ba in Chemistry & Biology

Joined SgS in 1969

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: Svp, global Sales, oil, gas 
& Chemicals Services

1998 – 2003: global Business Manager, 
oil, gas & Chemicals Services

FrANKie Ng (1966) 

Swiss / Chinese

evp, Consumer testing Services

Ba in economics and  
electronics engineering

Joined SgS in 1994

Previous responsibilities:

2002 – 2004: Managing Director,  
US testing

2000 – 2002: Director, Consumer 
testing Services, China and  
global Hardlines

1997 – 2000: operations Manager, 
Consumer testing Services, China

MALCoLM reiD (1963) 
British

evp, Systems & Services Certification

BSc Chemistry

Joined SgS in 1987

Previous responsibilities:

2005 – 2007: Managing Director, 
australia

2000 – 2005: Managing Director, thailand

1997 – 2000: Managing Director, philippines

ALiM SAiDov (1964) 

Azeri

evp, oil, gas & Chemicals Services  
and environmental Services

phD in Science

Joined SgS in 1993

Previous responsibilities:

2004 – 2007: Coo, eastern europe  
& Middle east

2004: Coo, north america and 
Managing Director, Canada

2001 – 2004: Managing Director, 
Kazakhstan & Manager Caspian region

DeNNiS yANg (1949) 

Taiwanese

Coo, east asia

Master of Business administration

Joined SgS in 1975

Previous responsibilities:

2000 – 2002: Managing Director, taiwan

1992 – 2000: assistant general 
Manager, taiwan 

richard tobin (Chief Financial officer 
& it), robert Markus (Coo africa), 
Fernando Basabe (Coo Western 
europe) have left the operations Council 
and the group in the course of 2010.

in January 2011, the nomination and 
remuneration Committee of the Board 
has ratified the nomination of pauline 
earl as Coo Western europe and has 
appointed thomas Klukas as evp 
automotive Services and Dominique 
Ben Dhaou as Svp, Human resources. 
these appointments take effect as from 
January 2011.

additional information, including 
biographical details can be found on the 
Company’s website: http://www.sgs.com/ 
about_sgs/management

4.2. otHer activitieS anD FunctionS

the following list presents all material 
activities in governing and supervisory 
boards, management positions and 
consultancy functions, official tenures 
and political positions held by each 
member of the operations Council 
outside the group, both in Switzerland 
and abroad.

JeAN-LuC De BuMAN

CCig Chambre de Commerce et de 
l’industrie de genève, geneva (CH), 
Member of the Board since 1999.

association pour le Développement des 
Compétences Bancaires, geneva (CH), 
Member of the Board since 1999.

Hyposwiss private Bank Sa,  
geneva (CH), Zurich (CH), Member  
of the Board since 2006.

FrÉDÉriC HerreN

Cita, international Motor vehicle 
inspection Committee, Brussels (Be), 
Member of the Bureau permanent  
since 2005.

FiSita , international Federation of 
automotive engineering Societies, 
London (gB), Member of the Honorary 
Committee since 2006.

JeFFrey NeWeLL

Council Member of gaFta and  
Member of international Contracts 
policy Committee of gaFta

MALCoLM reiD

Member of the Board of iioC 
(independent international organisation 
for Certification) since 2007.

4.3 ManageMent contractS

the Company is not party to any 
management contract delegating 
management tasks to companies or 
individuals outside the group.
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5.1. coMPany’S  

reMuneration PolicieS

the group’s overriding compensation 
policies are defined by the Board of 
Directors. the objectives of these 
policies are twofold: a) to attract and 
retain the best talent available in the 
industry; and b) to motivate employees 
and managers to create value for 
shareholders by generating long-term 
sustainable financial achievements.

the Board of Directors is responsible  
for determining the remuneration of  
the Chairman and the directors.  
it also decides on the remuneration  
and terms of employment of the  
Chief executive officer, based upon the 
recommendations of the nomination 
and remuneration Committee. it 
additionally determines the financial 
targets upon which the variable 
element of the remuneration of the 
operations Council and other group 
senior executives is based, and defines 
the conditions of all share option plans 
(including Long-term incentive (Lti) 
plans) as well as the allocation of such 
options and the conditions of their 
granting, vesting and exercise. all 
general executive remuneration policies, 
including the criteria and weighting 
of financial targets relevant to the 
assessment of the variable element of 
executive remuneration, are approved  
by the Board of Directors. 

the Board of Directors is assisted 
in its work by a nomination and 
remuneration Committee which 
consists of independent non-executive 
Directors. the Committee acts in part 
in a consultative capacity to the Board, 
and in part as a decision-making body 
on matters that the Board has delegated 
to the Committee. the Committee 
reviews regularly, at least once a year, 
the compensation of each member of 
the operations Council (other than the 
Chief operating officer), and decides on 

all matters relating to the remuneration 
of these executives. 

neither the Chairman of the Board nor 
the Chief executive officer is allowed to 
participate in discussions and decisions 
on their own compensation. general 
executive remuneration policies, 
including the implementation of  
long-term incentive plans, are decided 
by the Board, on the recommendation  
of the Committee.

the following Directors served on 
the nomination and remuneration 
Committee in 2010:

• Sergio Marchionne (Chairman)

• august von Finck

• tiberto ruy Brandolini d’adda

the Chief executive officer attends  
all meetings of the Committee,  
except when his own remuneration  
is being discussed.

When reviewing and deciding on 
executive remuneration policies, the 
Committee and the Board have access 
to the group Human resources staff 
and may use third party consultants 
specializing in compensation matters. 
in 2010, neither the Committee nor the 
Board had recourse to such external 
advisors. in discharging their duties in 
relation to compensation, they have 
relied on advice from the group Human 
resources department and on publicly 
available information on director and 
executive management remuneration 
paid by other Swiss companies and,  
as applicable, on available comparable 
data in the relevant location and / or 
industrial segment.

the group’s executive compensation 
consists of a fixed base salary (including 
benefits), and a variable remuneration 
in the form of an annual bonus and 
long-term incentive plans. the policies 
described here apply to all members of 
the operations Council, including the 
Chief executive officer.

employment contracts

employment contracts of operations 
Council members have no fixed term 
and can be terminated at any time by 
either party, provided a standard notice 
period (from three to six months) is 
respected. the Chief executive officer’s 
employment contract provides for a 
severance payment equivalent to two 
years total remuneration payable in the 
event that the employment contract is 
terminated or constructively terminated 
(including in the event of a change of 
control) by the Company, other than 
for cause. no severance payment is 
due if the employment relationship is 
terminated in any other circumstance.

Base salary

the base salary is reviewed annually, 
on the basis of market data for similar 
positions and on an individual’s 
performance. additional employment 
benefits are paid depending on standard 
practice in the location of employment. 
Such employment benefits include a car 
allowance and, if applicable, a housing 
allowance and tuition fees allowance  
for children.

geneva based operations Council 
members participate, on the same basis 
as other Swiss employees of the group, 
in the Company’s pension schemes, 
being one defined benefit scheme 
established in accordance with the 
Swiss Lpp regulations up to an insured 
amount of CHF 100 000 and one defined 
contribution scheme for pensionable 
remuneration in excess of CHF 100 000 
up to a maximum of CHF 820 800  
per year.

employees contribute 8% of their base 
salary and the Company contributes an 
amount equal to one and a half times 
the contributions paid by all employees 
to the scheme.

5CoMpenSation, 
SHareHolDingS anD loanS
this section of the Corporate governance report serves as the Company’s remuneration report.

Following the recommendations of the Swiss Code of Best practice for Corporate governance in this matter, this section of  
the report will be subject to a consultative vote at the next annual general Meeting of Shareholders.
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annual bonus

in addition to the base salary, members 
of the operations Council (including the 
Chief executive officer) are entitled to 
a performance-related annual bonus 
which, if pre-defined financial targets are 
met, results in an incentive payment of 
between 30% and 70% of base salary. 
if targets are exceeded, annual bonuses 
are increased on a multiplier basis with 
a maximum payout equal to a range of 
75% to 175% of base salary.

in the event of underperformance 
against targets, the bonus is ratably 
reduced on a multiplier basis, so that 
no bonus is paid in the event that a 
pre-established minimum target is 
not achieved. annual bonus amounts 
(as a percentage of base salary) and 
financial / operational targets are 
approved in advance by the Board. 

Bonuses awarded to operations 
Council members are assessed on 
the basis of the actual performance of 
the group as a whole, of the relevant 
business segments and of operations 
against specific financial targets. For 
evps, 50% of the target is based on 
group objectives with the remaining 
50% related to targets specific to their 
business line. For Coos, 50% of the 
target is based on group objectives with 

the remaining 50% related to targets 
specific to their respective region’s 
financial targets. variable remuneration 
of the Chief executive officer and of the 
heads of corporate functions (Svps) is 
based 100% on group targets.

once the amount of a bonus is 
determined, it is settled 50% in cash 
and 50% in options. although such 
options are granted immediately, they 
vest ratably over a period of three years 
and are only exercisable in the fourth 
and fifth year after grant.

Discretionary bonus

the Board of Directors and Committee 
may also grant discretionary cash 
bonuses to individual operations 
Council Members to reward outstanding 
personal performance. For 2010,  
an amount of CHF 420 000  
(2009: CHF 730 000) of discretionary 
bonuses was awarded to operations 
Council members (including the  
Chief executive officer).

Long-term incentive plans

in addition to the annual bonus, the 
group periodically sets long-term 
incentive (Lti) plans. Such plans are 
designed to motivate the leadership 
team to achieve the long-term stated 

objectives of the group. they consist of 
options granted to a selected number 
of senior executives of the group the 
vesting of which is conditional upon 
(1) the group achieving or exceeding 
stated earnings per share targets and (2) 
the beneficiary being employed by the 
group on the vesting date. 

in 2008, the Company introduced a 
long-term incentive plan (the 2008 Lti 
plan) which is conditional upon achieving 
or exceeding an epS target of CHF 105 
in 2011. the 2008 Lti plan involves the 
granting of options to acquire shares of 
the Company at a strike price of  
CHF 1 349. Such options are in the form 
of traded warrants, with 100 warrants 
required to purchase one share. the 
group originally set aside 5 937 500 
such warrants for this incentive plan 
(see note 31 to the group consolidated 
financial statements). this plan was 
designed to motivate the leadership 
team to achieve the long-term stated 
objective by 2011. no other long-term 
incentive plans are currently in force in 
the group, and no further Lti plans were 
introduced in 2010.

Full details of this long-term incentive 
plan are provided in note 31 to the group 
consolidated financial statements  
(pages 127 to 128 of the annual report).

100% 68% 32%

Base salary variable cash remuneration

46% 54%

the following table shows the vesting period and the exercisable period of the options 1 granted to the Chairman of the Board and 
to the members of the operation Council under each plan:

 veSting veSting veSting 
 Date 1 / 3 Date 1 / 3 Date 1 / 3 exerciSaBle

SgSMo (2008) 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 

SgSMo-2008 Lti (2008)   01.2012 2 01.2012 – 01.2013 

SgSgU (2009) 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012 01.2012 – 01.2014 

SgSop (2010) 01.2010 07.2011 01.2013 01.2013 – 01.2015

1. one hunderd options give the right to acquire one share.

2. vesting conditional on ePS target reached in 2011. 

relationship between annual variable compensation and base salary

the portion of fixed and variable remuneration, as a percentage of the total remuneration in any given year, depends on the 
extent to which pre-defined targets and objectives have been achieved. For the Chief executive officer, whose variable cash 
compensation is potentially greater than the fixed element, the proportion of the fixed and variable components compared to  
the total cash compensation is presented as follows:

total caSH coMPenSation

Below Minimum Target Performance on Target Performance Maximum Performance
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       total 2010 total 2009
      total caSH   reMuneration reMuneration
 Date oF BoarD coMMittee otHer reMuneration SHare (incluDing (incluDing
(CHF thousand) aPPointMent Fee Fee BeneFitS 2010 oPtionS oPtionS) oPtionS) 

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 155 1 570 653

t.r. Brandolini d’adda Mar-05 150 30  180  180 2 180 2

a. von Finck oct-98 150 30  180  180 180

a.F. von Finck May-02 150 30  180  180 180

p. Kalantzis Mar-09 150 30  180  180 139

t. Limberger Mar-08 150 -  150  150 150

S.r. du pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180 180

C. Barel di Sant’albano Mar-09 150 30  180  180 2 139 2

p. Lebard        42 2

total  1 350 270 25 1 645 155 1 800 1 843

1. 2010: annual allocation 50 000 SgSoP: CHF 155 000.

2. Board and committee fees for T.r. Brandolini d’Adda, C.Barel di Sant’Albano and P. Lebard have been paid to  
exor investissements SA, Luxembourg.

the following table shows the details of the options1 granted to the Chairman of the Board under each plan:

 tyPe oF Strike nuMBer oF Market value  nuMBer 
 oPtionS  Price 2  oPtionS granteD at grant  veSteD
 (year oF iSSue) (CHF)  31 DeceMBer 2010 (CHF)  in 2010

SgSMo (2008) 1 349 81 354 192 809   54 236

SgSMo-2008 Lti (2008) 3 1 349 187 500 444 375   -

SgSgU (2009) 1 064 96 619 237 683   64 413

SgSop (2010) 1 339 50 000 155 000   16 667

1. one hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. original strike price. 

3. vesting conditional on ePS target reached in 2011.

5.2.3. Directors’ remuneration

the following chart details the fees and other cash benefits paid to each of the Directors during 2009 and 2010.

in 2010, the variable element of 
the Chief executive officer’s cash 
remuneration represented 32% of the 
total cash compensation (2009: 37%).

For the operations Council as a whole, 
the variable element of the cash 
remuneration in 2010 amounted  
to 28% of total cash compensation  
(2009: 29%).

5.2. coMPenSation For MeMBerS  

oF governing BoDieS

5.2.1. Directors

in 2010, each Board member was 
entitled to a fixed board membership fee 
of CHF 150 000 per annum, unchanged 

from the prior year. Members of the 
Board serving on a Committee were 
entitled to an additional fee of  
CHF 30 000 per committee,  
unchanged from last year.

Directors do not hold service contracts, 
and are not entitled to any termination 
payments. they do not participate in the 
Company’s share option plans (except 
for the Chairman) or other benefit 
schemes and the Company does not 
make any pension contributions on 
their behalf. the remuneration of the 
Chairman of the Board is detailed in 
section 5.2.2. 

5.2.2. Chairman of the Board

as non-executive Chairman of the Board 
of Directors, Sergio Marchionne is 
entitled to a fixed board membership fee 
of CHF 300 000 per annum, unchanged 
since last year. 

the Chairman of the Board receives, 
by decision of the Board of Directors, 
share options in an amount in principle 
equal to 25% of the options granted 
to the Chief executive officer, under 
the same conditions of award, vesting 
and exercise. in 2010, 50 000 SgSop 
options were awarded to the Chairman 
of the Board (2009: 96 619 SgSgU). 
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5.2.4. Compensation paid to the operations Council, Senior Management and Chief executive officer

this section sets out the global remuneration which was paid to the operations Council as a whole, to the three operations Council 
members who make up Senior Management and to the Chief executive officer during 2010. all amounts disclosed in this section 
include cash bonuses payable and options granted in 2011 with respect to performance in 2010 and the related financial results.

5.2.4.1. Cash compensation

(CHF) 2010 2009

to the operations Council (including Senior Management) 12 073 000 11 870 000

to Senior Management (including Chief executive officer) 2 630 000 2 670 000

to the Chief executive officer 1 428 000 1 520 000

the total cash compensation paid to the operations Council excludes severance payments (see section 5.2.4.5.). post employment 
benefits of CHF 1 318 000 are not included (2009: CHF 1 311 000).

5.2.4.2. Share options

in settlement of annual bonus entitlements, a total of 829 264 SgSop options (2009: 1 770 486 SgSgU options) were granted to 
the operations Council (including Senior Management) on the basis of results in 2010.

Such SgSop options grant the right to acquire shares of SgS at a strike price of CHF 1 339 (100 options give the right to acquire one 
share). they vest in tranches of one-third in 2010, 2011 and 2013 and are subject to a blocking period ending in January 2013. all options 
granted to the operations Council on the basis of the 2010 results had a fair value at grant of CHF 2 570 718 (2009: CHF 4 355 396). 

the Senior Management was awarded a total of 92 803 SgSop options (2009: 522 453 SgSgU options). this number includes  
42 647 SgSop options (2009: 386 474 SgSgU options) awarded to the Chief executive officer.

the group has granted an additional 73 000 options of the discretionary long-term incentive plan (SgSMo-2008 Lti) to a member 
of the operations Council. these options will vest January 2012 if the epS target for 2011 is reached. the estimated fair value of 
those options granted is CHF 173 010.

the following table presents details of the share options 1 awarded to members of the operations Council, Senior Management and 
the Ceo, and shows those options which have been granted, vested and / or became exercisable in 2010. this table relates to the 
individuals who were members of the operations Council as at 31 December 2010:

 tyPe oF Strike nuMBer oF Market value  nuMBer 
 oPtionS  Price 2  oPtionS granteD at grant  veSteD
 (year oF iSSue) (CHF)  31 DeceMBer 2010 (CHF)  in 2010

oPerationS council (incluDing Senior ManageMent anD cHieF executive oFFicer)

SgSMo (2008) 1 349 1 014 841 2 405 173   676 561

SgSMo-2008 Lti (2008) 3 1 349 3 533 000 8 373 210   -

SgSgU (2009) 1 064 1 458 366 3 587 580   972 244

SgSop (2010) 1 339 727 213 2 254 360   242 404

Senior ManageMent (incluDing cHieF executive oFFicer)

SgSMo (2008) 1 349 309 655 733 882   206 439

SgSMo-2008 Lti (2008) 3 1 349 890 000 2 109 300   -

SgSgU (2009) 1 064 442 177 1 087 755   294 785

SgSop (2010) 1 339 92 803 287 689   30 934

cHieF executive oFFicer

SgSMo (2008) 1 349 272 627 646 126   181 751

SgSMo-2008 Lti (2008) 3 1 349 750 000 1 777 500   -

SgSgU (2009) 1 064 386 474 950 726   257 649

SgSop (2010) 1 339 42 647 132 206   14 216

1. one hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. original strike price. 

3. vesting conditional on ePS target reached in 2011.
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5.2.4.3. Total compensation paid to the operations Council, Senior Management and Chief executive officer

taking into account the fair value of options at grant date, a total compensation (base salary and annual bonus including options 
granted) was recognised in 2010 as follows:

(CHF) 2010 2009

to the operations Council (including Senior Management) 14 816 728 16 343 895

to Senior Management (including Chief executive officer) 2 917 689 3 955 234

to the Chief executive officer 1 560 206 2 470 726

5.2.4.4. Highest total compensation

in the year under review, the highest compensation paid by the group was awarded to the Ceo (see 5.2.4.3). 

5.2.4.5. Severance payments

in 2010, an amount of CHF 400 000 was recognised as severance payments to operations Council members (2009: CHF 0).

5.2.4.6. Loans to members of governing bodies

as at 31 December 2010, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the group from members of its governing bodies 
(unchanged from prior year).

5.2.5. Company’s performance

the following graph compares the tSr (total Shareholder return) of the Company with the tSr of the Swiss Market index (SMi) 
for the three year period 2008 to 2010. the company measures its performance against the SMi index because this index tracks 
the performance of large companies based in Switzerland, which are also active internationally.

given the lack of direct industry comparables, the SMi is viewed as being the most relevant benchmark. it is a good indication  
of the market performance of other comparable Swiss companies during the period.

Comparison of relative returns between SgS and the SMi index, assuming that SgS dividends are re-invested to purchase 
additional equity at the closing price on the date of payment of dividends for the period 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010:
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6
SHareHolDerS’ ParticiPation 
rigHtS
all registered shareholders receive a copy of the half year and full year results upon 
the publication of such results by the Company. they can request a copy of the 
Company’s annual report and are personally invited to attend the annual general 
Meeting of Shareholders.

6.1. voting rigHtS anD 

rePreSentation reStrictionS

all registered shareholders can attend 
the general Meetings of Shareholders 
and exercise their right to vote. the 
shareholder may also elect to grant 
power of attorney to an independent 
proxy appointed by the Company, 
to a bank or a regulated financial 
intermediary or to any other registered 
shareholder. there are no voting 
restrictions, subject to the exclusion 
of nominee shareholders representing 
undisclosed principals, as detailed  
in section 2.6.

6.2. Statutory QuoruMS

the general Meeting of Shareholders 
can validly deliberate regardless of  
the number of shares represented  
at the meeting. 

resolutions are adopted by the absolute 
majority of votes cast. if a second  
ballot is necessary, a relative majority  
is sufficient.

in addition to the specific provisions 
of Swiss company law, the following 
resolutions require a majority of two 
thirds of votes cast (“Special Majority”): 

• increase in share capital

• election and removal of a member  
of the Board of Directors

• Changes in the maximum number  
of Members of the Board of Directors

• amendment of the requirement for  
a Special Majority

6.3. convocation oF general 

MeetingS oF SHareHolDerS

the rules regarding the convocation of 
general Meetings of Shareholders are in 
accordance with Swiss company law.

6.4. agenDa

the agenda of the general Meeting  
of Shareholders is issued by the Board 
of Directors. Shareholders representing 
shares with a minimum par value of 
CHF 50 000 may request the inclusion 
of an item on the agenda of the general 
Meetings, provided that such a request 
reaches the Company at least 40 days 
prior to the general Meeting.

6.5. regiStration  

in tHe SHare regiSter

the Company does not impose any 
deadline for registering shares prior to a 
general Meeting. However, a technical 
notice of two business days is required 
to process the registration.

7.1. Duty to Make an oFFer

in the absence of any specific rules in 
the Company’s articles of association, 
any investor or group of investors 
acquiring more than 33.3% of the 
shares and voting rights of the Company 
has the duty to make a public offer in 
compliance with the applicable Swiss 
takeover rules.

7.2. clauSeS on cHange oF control

there are no general plans or standard 
agreements offering specific protection 
to Board Members, senior management 
or employees of the group in the event 
of a change of control, subject to the 
standard rules regarding termination  
of employment. 

the employment contract of the 
Chief executive officer includes 
specific provisions which may trigger 
a severance payment of two years 
remuneration and the immediate vesting 
of options granted in the event there is 
a change of control in the Company. no 
other executive contract provides for any 
material change of control protection.

7
cHange oF 

ControL anD 
DeFence MeaSureS
no restriction on changes in control is included  
in the Company’s articles of association.
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8

9

auDitorS
8.1. Duration oF tHe ManDate anD terM oF oFFice

Following a competitive process in 2000, Deloitte Sa was appointed auditor of the 
Company and of the SgS group by the annual general Meeting of Shareholders upon 
recommendation of the Board of Directors. the auditors of the Company are subject 
to re-election at the annual general Meeting every year. 

the current lead auditor, peter Quigley, has acted in this capacity since 2005.

8.2. auDiting FeeS

total audit fees paid to Deloitte for the audit of the Company and the group financial 
statements in 2010 amounted to CHF 5.7 million (2009: CHF 5.9 million).

8.3. aDDitional FeeS

an aggregate amount of CHF 1.3 million (2009: CHF 1.4 million) was paid to Deloitte 
for other professional services, unrelated to the statutory audit activity. this amount 
includes CHF 0.7 million (2009: CHF 0.6 million) for tax compliance services and  
CHF 0.6 million (2009: 0.8 million) for non-statutory reporting, advisory and  
consulting fees.

8.4. SuPerviSory anD control inStruMentS viS-a-viS tHe auDitorS

the audit Committee is responsible for evaluating the external auditor on behalf of 
the Board of Directors, and conducts assessments of the audit services provided to 
the group during its regular meetings. it meets with the auditor at least three times 
per year, including private sessions without the presence of management. the duties 
of the committee include consideration of the audit plan, regular assessment of the 
performance of the auditor and approval of audit fees, on the basis of the amount 
of work required in order to perform the audit. the auditor regularly presents his 
findings, both during the deliberations of the audit Committee, and in written reports 
to the attention of the Board of Directors which summarise key findings. 

the group strives to safeguard and support the independence of the auditor 
by avoiding conflicts of interests. in applying this policy, the attribution of other 
consultancy assignments is carefully reviewed to ensure that such assignments do 
not endanger the auditor’s independence.

inForMation poLiCY

the policy of the group is to provide 
individual and institutional investors, 
directly or through financial analysts, 
business journalists or investment 
consultants (financial community) 
and the employees with financial and 
business information in a consistent, 
broad, timely and transparent manner. 
the group website has a section fully 
dedicated to investor relations,  
http://www.sgs.com/ investor_relations/
financial_highlights.htm, where all 
financial information and presentations 
are available. this includes an updated 
version of the articles of association, 

current information on Share Buy-
Back programmes and minutes of 
shareholders’ meetings. SgS meets 
regularly with institutional investors, 
holds results presentations, road shows, 
presentations at broker-sponsored 
country or industry conferences as well 
as one-on-one meetings.

the group publishes consolidated half 
year unaudited and yearly audited results 
in print and on-line formats. these 
documents are sent to each registered 
shareholder and are available in english 
(binding version) and in French. the 
annual report is published in english 

(binding version) and in French and is 
available upon order or on the internet. 
the current list of publication dates is 
available on the internet.

the group acknowledges the Directives 
on the independence of Financial 
research issued by the Swiss Bankers 
association, particularly articles 26 and 
29-32. in addition, the group complies 
with rules regarding information and 
reporting of the Federal act on Stock 
exchange and Securities trading, and 
the ordinance on Stock exchanges and 
Securities trading.
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If industry, agriculture, incineration plants and traffic 

could all release unlimited gases into the air we 

breathe, our health and the environment would 

substantially suffer.

It is widely recognised that a constant drive to 

minimise pollution is required and in many countries 

laws and regulations define what are acceptable  

levels of emissions. However, these laws are only of 

use if they are enforced and air quality is monitored.

SGS’ expert teams measure emissions in many 

complex and difficult environments using a range of 

methods. Our mobile sample teams are often working 

in remote locations to ensure air measurements are 

taken in accordance with the highest quality standards.

WE CAN ALL 

BREATHE 
  EASIER
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CONSOlIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE yEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

(CHF million)  NOTES 2010 2009 1

REVENuE  4 757 4 712

Salaries and wages  (2 228) (2 229)

Subcontractors’ expenses  (313) (319)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 10 & 12 (225) (228)

Other operating expenses 5 (1 155) (1 142)

OPERATING INCOME (EBIT)  836 794

Analysis of operating income   

 Adjusted operating income  848 822

 Amortisation of acquisition intangibles  (8) (8)

 Restructuring costs  - (20)

 Transaction-related costs  (4) -

Operating income  836 794

Financial income 6 8 12

Financial expenses 7 (15) (15)

PROFIT BEFORE TAXES  829 791

Taxes 8 (215) (200)

PROFIT FOR THE yEAR  614 591

Profit attributable to:  

Equity holders of SGS SA  588 566

Non-controlling interests  26 25

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN CHF) 9 77.64 75.48

DIluTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN CHF) 9 77.22 75.17

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE (IN CHF)  65.00 2 60.00

1. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of results. 

2. As proposed by the Board of Directors.

SGS  
    GROUP

  RESulTS

CONSOlIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(CHF million)   2010 2009

Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit plans   (46) (25)

Income tax on actuarial gains / (losses) taken directly to equity   10 8

Exchange differences and other 1   (192) 42

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE yEAR   (228) 25

Profit for the year   614 591

TOTAl COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE yEAR   386 616

Attributable to:

Equity holders of SGS SA   368 595

Non-controlling interests   18 21

1. In 2010, exchange differences included net exchange losses of CHF 16 million on long-term loans treated as net investment in a foreign  

 entity according to International Accounting Standard (IAS) 21 (2009: gains of CHF 28 million).
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CONSOlIDATED BAlANCE SHEET
AT 31 DECEMBER (BEFORE APPROPRIATION OF AVAIlABlE RETAINED EARNINGS)

(CHF million) NOTES 2010 2009

ASSETS   

NON-CuRRENT ASSETS 

Land, buildings and equipment  10 756 751

Goodwill  11 772 629

Other intangible assets  12 210 148

Investments in associated and other companies   2 1

Deferred tax assets  8 193 192

Other non-current assets  13 42 36

TOTAl NON-CuRRENT ASSETS   1 975 1 757

CuRRENT ASSETS   

Unbilled revenues and inventories 14 217 201

Trade accounts and notes receivable  15 772 812

Other receivables and prepayments  16 202 174

Marketable securities  17 9 9

Cash and cash equivalents  18 806 783

TOTAl CuRRENT ASSETS   2 006 1 979

TOTAl ASSETS   3 981 3 736

EQuITy AND lIABIlITIES   

CAPITAl AND RESERVES   

Share capital 22 8 8

Reserves   2 239 2 312

Treasury shares  22 (178) (247)

EQuITy ATTRIBuTABlE TO EQuITy HOlDERS OF SGS SA   2 069 2 073

Non-controlling interests   39 37

TOTAl EQuITy   2 108 2 110

NON-CuRRENT lIABIlITIES   

Loans and obligations under finance leases  23 553 8

Deferred tax liabilities  8 63 77

Retirement benefit obligations  24 154 146

Provisions 25 100 103

TOTAl NON-CuRRENT lIABIlITIES   870 334

CuRRENT lIABIlITIES   

Loans and obligations under finance leases 23 3 308

Trade and other payables  26 401 388

Provisions  25 17 21

Current tax liabilities   91 72

Other creditors and accruals  27 491 503

TOTAl CuRRENT lIABIlITIES   1 003 1 292

TOTAl lIABIlITIES   1 873 1 626

TOTAl EQuITy AND lIABIlITIES   3 981 3 736
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CONSOlIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FlOWS
FOR THE yEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER

(CHF million) NOTES 2010 2009

Profit for the year  614 591

Other non-cash items 19 417 393

(Increase) / Decrease in working capital 19 (33) 13

Taxes paid  (215) (217)

Core operating cash flow 1  783 780

Cash flows on exceptional items 2008  - 60

CASH FlOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  783 840

Purchase of land, buildings, equipment and other intangible assets 10 & 12 (261) (221)

Acquisition of businesses 3 & 19 (302) -

Proceeds from sale of investments  2 2

(Increase) / Decrease in other non-current assets  (9) 2

(Increase) in marketable securities  (1) -

Interest and dividends received  9 12

Sales of land, buildings and equipment  11 12

CASH FlOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (551) (193)

Dividends paid to equity holders of SGS SA  (455) (375)

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  (25) (16)

Acquisition of non-controlling interests  (4) -

Cash received for treasury shares  85 15

Proceeds of corporate bond  544  -

Interest paid  (15) (16)

(Decrease) in other borrowings  (307) (22)

CASH FlOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  (177) (414)

Currency translation  (32) (24)

INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQuIVAlENTS  23 209

CASH AND CASH EQuIVAlENTS AT BEGINNING OF yEAR  783 574

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  23 209

CASH AND CASH EQuIVAlENTS AT END OF yEAR 18 806 783

1. Before cash flows from exceptional items 2008.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOlIDATED EQuITy

     RETAINED  
    CuMulATIVE EARNINGS EQuITy NON-
 SHARE TREASuRy CAPITAl TRANSlATION AND GROuP HOlDERS CONTROllING TOTAl
(CHF million) CAPITAl SHARES RESERVE ADJuSTMENTS RESERVES OF SGS SA INTERESTS EQuITy

BAlANCE AT 1 JANuARy 2009 8 (262) 62 (398) 2 415 1 825 37 1 862

Profit for the year - - - - 566 566 25 591

Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - 46 (17) 29 (4) 25

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - 46 549 595 21 616

Dividends paid - - - - (375) 1 (375) (21) (396)

Share-based payments - - 13 - - 13 - 13

Movement on treasury shares - 15 - - - 15 - 15

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2009 8 (247) 75 (352) 2 589 2 073 37 2 110

Profit for the year - - - - 588 588 26 614

Other comprehensive income  
for the year - - - (184) (36) (220) (8) (228)

Total comprehensive income 
for the year - - - (184) 552 368 18 386

Dividends paid - - - - (455) 1 (455) (16) (471)

Share-based payments - - 2 - - 2 - 2

Movement in non-controlling interests - - - - (4) (4) - (4)

Movement on treasury shares - 69 - - 16 85 - 85

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 8 (178) 77 (536) 2 698 2 069 39 2 108

1. The amounts available for dividends are based on the SGS SA’s statutory standalone shareholders’ equity determined in accordance with  

 the legal provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

ATTRIBuTABlE TO
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 

FINANCIAl STATEMENTS 

The consolidated financial statements 
of the Group are stated in millions 
of Swiss Francs. They are prepared 
from the financial statements of the 
individual companies within the Group 
for which the significant companies 
have a year-end of 31 December 2010. 
The consolidated financial statements 
comply with the accounting and reporting 
requirements of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). 

The accounting conventions and 
accounting policies are the same as 
those applied in the 2009 consolidated 
financial statements, except for the 
Group’s adoption of new IFRS effective 
1 January 2010 and amendments to the 
presentation of the income statement 
and results by segment.

The financial statements are prepared  
on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost convention, modified as 
required for the revaluation of certain 
financial instruments.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED 

INTERNATIONAl FINANCIAl  

REPORTING STANDARDS 

In the current year, the Group has 
adopted the following Standards  
and Interpretations:

• IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations

• IAS 27 (amendment) Consolidated and 
Separate Financial Statements.

These standards have been applied 
prospectively from 1 January 2010, 
impacting the accounting for business 
combinations and transactions with 
non-controlling interests. These revised 
and amended standards have had no 
significant impact on the reported 
results of the Group.

The Group also adopted the following 
Standards and Interpretations. However, 
these had no material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

• IAS 39 (amendments) Financial 
Instrument - Recognition and 
measurement: Eligible hedged items

• IFRS 2 (amendment) Group  
cash-settled share-based  
payment transations

• IFRIC 17 Distribution of  
non-cash assets

• Improvements to IFRS 2009

At the date of authorisation of these 
financial statements, the following 
Standards and Interpretations were  
in issue but not yet effective:

• IAS 12 (amendment) Income Taxes - 
Recovery of Underlying Assets

• IAS 24 (revised) Related  
party disclosures

• IAS 32 (amendment) Financial 
Instruments – Presentation: 
Classification of right issue

• IFRS 7 (amendment) Disclosures - 
Transfers of Financial Assets

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

• IFRIC 14 (amendment) IAS 19  
The limit on a defined benefit asset, 
Minimum funding requirements and 
their interaction

• IFRIC 19 Extinguishing financial 
liabilities with equity instruments

• Improvements to IFRS 2010

The Directors anticipate that the 
adoption of the following standards  
and interpretations will have no  
material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

NOTES

SGS SA and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) operate around the world under  
the name SGS. The head office of the Group is located in Geneva, Switzerland. 

SGS is the global leader and innovator in inspection, verification, testing and certification 
services supporting international trade in agriculture, minerals, petroleum and consumer 
products. It also provides these services to governments, international institutions and 
to customers engaged in the industrial, environmental and life science sectors.1

2

ACTIVITIES 
         OF THE 

GROUP

SIGNIFICANT 
  ACCOuNTING POlICIES
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CHANGES IN PRESENTATION 

In order to improve transparency, 
exceptional items 2009 are now 
presented within the costs by nature 
on the face of the income statement 
and a reconciliation is provided to the 
segmental measure of profitability.  
The split by nature of the CHF 20 million 
restructuring expense published in 
December 2009 is provided in note 4.

BASIS OF CONSOlIDATION 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are enterprises controlled 
by the Group. Control exists when 
the Group has the power, directly or 
indirectly, to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an enterprise so as 
to obtain benefits from its activities.  
The financial statements of subsidiaries 
are included in the consolidated financial 
statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control 
ceases. The equity and profit attributable 
to non-controlling shareholders’ 
interests are shown separately in the 
consolidated balance sheet and income 
statement, respectively. The principal 
operating companies of the Group are 
listed on pages 157 to 160.

Associates

Associates are enterprises over which 
the Group has significant influence, 
but no control or joint control over 
the financial and operating policies. 
The consolidated financial statements 
include the Group’s share of the 
earnings of associates on an equity 
accounted basis, from the date  
that significant influence commences 
until the date that significant  
influence ceases. 

Jointly controlled entities

Jointly controlled entities are enterprises 
over whose activities the Group has 
joint control, established by contractual 
agreement. The consolidated financial 
statements include the Group’s 
proportionate share of the enterprises’ 
assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses with items of a similar nature 
on a line-by-line basis, from the date that 
joint control commences until the date 
that joint control ceases.

Investments in other companies

Investments in other companies 
(normally below 20% shareholding 
levels) are stated at cost less any 
provision for impairment. The fair  
value of these investments cannot be 
reliably measured. Dividends received 
from these investments are included  
in financial income.

Transactions eliminated  

on consolidation

All significant intra-group balances and 
transactions, and any unrealised gains 
and losses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising  
from transactions with associates and 
jointly controlled entities are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
those entities.

Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are 
recorded at the foreign exchange rate 
prevailing at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at 
the balance sheet date are translated at 
the foreign exchange rate prevailing at 
that date. Exchange differences arising 
on the settlement of monetary items 
or on reporting monetary items at rates 
different from those at which they were 
initially recorded during the period or 
in previous financial statements, are 
recognised in the income statement.

Consolidation of foreign companies

All assets and liabilities of foreign 
companies that are consolidated are 
translated using the exchange rates 
in effect at the balance sheet date. 
Income and expenses are translated at 
the average exchange rate for the year. 
Translation differences resulting from the 
application of this method are classified as 
equity until the disposal of the investment.

Average exchange rates have been 
used to translate the cash flows of 
foreign subsidiaries in preparing the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

A significant and non-recurring 
transaction has been translated at  
the foreign exchange rate prevailing  
at the date of transaction.

SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group reports its operations by 
business segment, according to the 
nature of the services provided. 

The Group operates in ten business 
segments. The Chief Operating Decision 
Maker evaluates segment performance 
and allocates resources based on several 
factors, of which net revenue, adjusted 
operating income and return on capital 
are the main criteria. 

For the Group, the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker is the Senior 
Management composed of the Chief 
Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer and the General Counsel.

All segment revenues reported are 
from external customers. Revenue 
and operating income are attributed to 
countries based on the location in which 
the services are rendered. 

Segment assets comprise all assets held 
by the Group’s operating affiliates after 
elimination of inter-company balances. 

Segment liabilities comprise all  
liabilities held by the Group’s  
operating affiliates after elimination  
of inter-company balances.

Capital additions represent the total  
cost incurred to acquire land, buildings 
and equipment as well as other 
intangible assets. 

Depreciation and amortisation of 
segment assets include depreciation 
of buildings and equipment as well as 
other intangible assets. Impairment of 
segment assets includes impairment 
related to land, buildings and equipment, 
goodwill and other intangible assets 
when incurred.

lAND, BuIlDINGS AND EQuIPMENT 

Land is stated at historical cost and 
is not depreciated. Buildings and 
equipment are stated at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Subsequent expenditures are capitalised 
only if they increase the future economic 
benefits embodied in the related item 
of property and equipment. All other 
expenditures are expensed as incurred. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful life 
of the assets as follows:

• Buildings 12 – 40 years

• Machinery and equipment 3 – 10 years

• Other tangible assets 3 – 10 years
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lEASES 

Assets acquired under finance lease 
agreements, which provide the Group 
with substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership, are capitalised 
at fair value or, if lower, at amounts 
equivalent to the estimated present 
value of the underlying minimum 
lease payments. The corresponding 
liabilities are included in long and short-
term loans. These leased assets are 
depreciated over the lease period or 
their estimated useful lives, whichever 
is shorter. 

Leases where the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the assets are classified 
as operating leases. Operating lease 
expenditures are expensed on a  
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

GOODWIll 

In the case of acquisitions of 
businesses, the acquired identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
are recorded at fair value. The difference 
between the purchase price and the 
fair value is classified as goodwill and 
recorded in the balance sheet as an 
intangible asset.

Goodwill arising from business 
combinations is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments 
arising on the acquisition of a foreign 
entity are recorded in the relevant 
foreign currency and are translated using 
the end of period exchange rate. 

On disposal of part or all of a business 
which was previously acquired and 
which gave rise to the recording of 
acquisition goodwill, the relevant 
amount of residual goodwill is included 
in the determination of the gain or loss 
on disposal. 

Goodwill and other intangible assets 
with indefinite useful lives acquired 
as part of business combinations are 
tested for possible impairment annually 
and whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate their value may 
not be fully recoverable. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, 
the Group has adopted a uniform 
method for assessing goodwill and 
other intangibles recognised under 
the acquisition method of accounting. 
These assets are allocated to the 

cash generating unit (CGU) or group 
of CGUs that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination. The 
recoverable amount of a CGU is 
determined through a value-in-use 
calculation. The key assumptions for 
the value-in-use calculations are those 
regarding the discount rates, growth 
rates and expected changes to selling 
prices or direct costs during the period. 
Pre-tax discount rates used are based 
on the Group’s weighted average cost 
of capital, adjusted for specific risks 
associated with the CGU’s cash flow 
projections. The growth rates are based 
on industry growth forecasts.

Changes in selling prices and direct 
costs are based on past practices  
and expectations of future changes  
in the market. 

For all CGUs, a value-in-use calculation 
is performed using cash flow projections 
covering the next 10 years. The 
cash flows for the first five years are 
based upon budgets approved by 
management, which take account of the 
most recent financial results, while the 
subsequent five years are extrapolated 
based on the average long-term growth 
rate for the relevant activity.

If the recoverable amount of the CGU 
is less than the carrying amount of the 
unit, the impairment loss is allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the unit and 
then to the other assets of the unit. An 
impairment loss recognised for goodwill 
is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Even if the initial accounting for an 
intangible asset acquired in the reporting 
period is only provisional, this asset is 
tested for impairment.

OTHER INTANGIBlE ASSETS 

Intangible assets, including software, 
licences, trademarks and customer 
relationships are capitalised and 
amortised on a straight-line basis over 
their estimated useful lives, normally 
not exceeding 20 years. Indefinite life 
intangible assets are not amortised but 
are subject to an annual impairment test. 
The following useful lives are used in the 
calculation of amortisation:

• Trademarks 5 – 20 years

• Customer relationships 5 – 20 years

• Computer software 1 – 4 years

Other intangible assets acquired as 
part of an acquisition of a business are 
capitalised separately from goodwill if 
their fair value can be measured reliably. 
Internally generated intangible assets 
are recognised if the asset created can 
be identified, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will be generated 
from it, the related development costs 
can be measured reliably and sufficient 
financial resources are available to 
complete the development. These 
assets are amortised on a straight-line 
basis over their useful lives, which 
usually do not exceed four years.  
All other development costs are 
expensed as incurred.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS  

EXCluDING GOODWIll 

At each balance sheet date or whenever 
there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its tangible and 
intangible assets to determine whether 
they have suffered an impairment loss. 
If indications of impairment are present, 
the assets are tested for impairment. 
If impaired, the carrying value of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable 
value. Where it is not possible to 
estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the CGU to which 
the asset belongs. 

The recoverable amount of an asset  
is the greater of the net selling price  
and its value-in-use. In assessing its  
value-in-use, the pre-tax estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.

REVERSAl OF IMPAIRMENT lOSSES 

Where an impairment loss on assets 
other than goodwill subsequently 
reverses, the carrying amount of the 
asset or CGU is increased to the revised 
estimate of its recoverable amount, but 
not in excess of the carrying amount 
that would have been recorded had 
no impairment loss been recognised. 
A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as income immediately.
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uNBIllED REVENuES AND INVENTORIES

Completed but unbilled services are 
recorded at net selling prices.

Work-in-progress is measured at the 
lower of the costs incurred in providing 
the service or its ultimate invoice price 
less costs to complete. 

Inventories are recorded at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is 
determined using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. Net realisable value 
represents the estimated selling price 
less all estimated costs to complete  
and costs to be incurred in selling  
and distribution.

RECEIVABlES 

Trade receivables are recognised and 
carried at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. 
An estimate for doubtful debts is made 
when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probable. Bad debts are written 
off when identified.

MARKETABlE SECuRITIES 

Marketable securities are recorded in the 
balance sheet at fair value. Movements 
in fair value for marketable securities 
held for trading are reported in the 
income statement as financial income /
expenses. For marketable securities 
designated as being available for sale, 
the movements in fair value are recorded 
as a component of shareholders’ equity 
and recognised in the income statement 
at the time of disposal. Marketable 
securities designated as available for 
sale are those that are not classified as 
at fair value through profit and loss.

CASH AND CASH EQuIVAlENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise 
cash, deposits held with banks 
and investments in money market 
instruments with an original maturity of 
three months or less. Bank overdrafts 
are included within current loans.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAl INSTRuMENTS

The Group uses derivative financial 
instruments to hedge its exposure to 
foreign exchange and interest rate risks 
arising from operational, financing and 
investment activities. In accordance 
with its treasury policy, the Group does 
not hold or issue derivative financial 
instruments for trading purposes. 

Derivatives are accounted for on a  
mark-to-market basis. 

Derivative financial instruments are 
initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently re-measured at fair value 
at each balance sheet date. The gains 
and losses resulting from the fair value 
re-measurement are recognised in the 
income statement. 

The fair value of forward exchange 
contracts is determined with reference 
to market prices at the balance  
sheet date.

CORPORATE BOND 

The corporate bond issued by the Group 
is measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, with interest 
expense recognised on an effective 
yield basis.

The effective interest method is a 
method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the 
relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments  
through the expected life of the financial 
liability to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition.

EMPlOyEE BENEFITS 

Pension plans

The Group maintains several defined 
benefit and defined contribution pension 
plans in accordance with local conditions 
and practices in the countries in which it 
operates. Defined benefit pension plans 
are based on an employee’s years of 
service and remuneration earned during 
a pre-determined period. Contributions 
to these plans are normally paid into 
funds which are managed independently 
of the Group, except in rare cases where 
there is no legal obligation to fund.  
In such cases, the liability is recorded in 
the Group’s consolidated balance sheet. 

The Group’s obligations towards 
defined benefit pension plans and the 
annual cost recognised in the income 
statement is determined by independent 
actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method. Actuarial gains and 
losses are immediately recognised in 
the consolidated balance sheet with 
the corresponding movement being 
recorded in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. 

Past service costs are recognised as 
an expense over the average period 
remaining until the benefits become 
vested. To the extent that the benefits 
are already vested immediately following 
the introduction of, or change to, a 
defined benefit plan, the expense is 
recognised immediately. Payments 
to defined contribution plans are 
recognised as an expense in the income 
statement as incurred. 

The retirement benefit obligation 
recognised in the balance sheet 
represents the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation as adjusted 
for unrecognised past service cost, 
and as reduced by the fair value of plan 
assets. Any asset resulting from this 
calculation is limited to the present value 
of available refunds and reductions in 
future contributions to the plan.

Post-employment plans  

other than pensions

The Group operates some post-
employment defined benefit schemes, 
mainly healthcare plans. The method 
of accounting and the frequency of 
valuations are similar to those used  
for defined benefit pension plans.

Equity compensation plans

The Group provides additional benefits to 
certain senior executives and employees 
through equity compensation plans (see 
note 31). An expense is recognised in 
the income statement for shares and 
options granted to senior executives and 
employees under these plans.

TRADE PAyABlES 

Trade payables are recognised at nominal 
value that approximates the fair value.

PROVISIONS 

The Group records provisions when:  
it has an obligation, legal or constructive, 
to satisfy a claim; it is probable that 
an outflow of Group resources will be 
required to satisfy the obligation;  
and a reliable estimate of the amount 
can be made.

In the case of litigation and claims 
relating to services rendered, the 
amount that is ultimately recorded 
is the result of a complex process of 
assessment of a number of variables, 
and relies on management’s informed 
judgement about the circumstances 
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surrounding the past provision of 
services. It also relies on expert legal 
advice and actuarial assessments. 
Changes in estimates are reflected in 
the income statement in the period in 
which the change occurs.

REVENuE RECOGNITION 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured. 

Revenues represent fees for services 
rendered to third parties after the 
deduction of discounts and are 
recognised when the service has been 
completed. In certain circumstances, 
revenue is recognised in proportion to the 
stage of completion, normally determined 
by reference to costs incurred to date 
in comparison with the total estimated 
costs of the transaction at the balance 
sheet date. No margin is recognised 
on work-in-progress. Completed, but 
unbilled, services are recorded at net 
selling prices.

BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 

Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure  
on qualifying assets is deducted  
from the borrowing costs eligible  
for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised 
in the income statement in the period in 
which they are incurred.

CAPITAl MANAGEMENT 

Capital comprises equity attributable 
to equity holders, loans and obligations 
under finance leases and cash and  
cash equivalents. 

The Board of Directors’ policy is to 
maintain a strong capital base in order 
to maintain investor, creditor and 
market confidence and to sustain future 
development of the business. 

The Board also recommends the level of 
dividends to be distributed to ordinary 
shareholders on an annual basis. 

The Group maintains sufficient liquidity 
at the Group and subsidiary level to 
meet its working capital requirements, 
fund capital purchases and small and 
medium-sized acquisitions. 

Cash and cash equivalents as well as 
loans and obligations under finance 
leases are disclosed in notes 18 and 23. 

In 2009, the Group initiated a new 
Share Buy-Back programme for a total 
of CHF 250 million, valid from 26 March 
2009 to 31 December 2011. Treasury 
shares are intended primarily to be used 
to cover the Group’s employee share 
option programmes and / or convertible 
bonds that may be issued. Decisions 
to buy or sell are made on an individual 
transaction basis by management. 

In 2010, the Group issued a six-year 
corporate bond with a coupon of 
1.875% for a total amount of  
CHF 550 million. The net proceeds are to 
be used for general corporate purposes.

There were no changes in the Group’s 
approach to capital management  
during the year. 

The Group is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements.

TAXES 

Income taxes include all taxes based 
upon the taxable profits of the Group 
including withholding taxes payable 
on the transfer of income from Group 
companies and tax adjustments from 
prior years. Taxes on income are 
recognised in the income statement 
except to the extent that they relate to 
items directly charged or credited to 
equity, in which case the related income 
tax effect is recognised in equity. 
Provisions of income and withholding 
taxes that could arise on the remittance 
of subsidiary retained earnings are only 
made where there is a current intention 
to remit such earnings. Other taxes 
not based on income, such as property 
taxes and capital taxes, are included 
within operating expenses.

Deferred taxes are provided using the 
full liability method. They are calculated 
on all temporary differences that arise 
between the tax base of an asset or 
liability and the carrying values in the 
consolidated financial statements except 
for non tax-deductible goodwill and for 

those differences related to investments 
in subsidiaries where their reversal will 
not take place in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred income tax assets relating to 
the carry-forward of unused tax losses 
and tax credits are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future 
profits be available against which they 
can be utilised. 

Current and deferred income tax assets 
and liabilities are offset when the 
income taxes are levied by the same 
taxing authority and where there is 
a legally enforceable right of offset. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on enacted tax rates 
in the respective jurisdictions in which 
the Group operates that are expected to 
apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are 
expected to be recovered or settled.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share are calculated 
by dividing the Group’s profit by the 
weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year, excluding 
treasury shares. For diluted earnings per 
share, the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding is adjusted assuming 
conversion of all potential dilutive 
shares. Group profit is also adjusted  
to reflect the after-tax impact  
of conversion.

DIVIDENDS 

Dividends are reported as a movement 
in equity in the period in which they are 
approved by the shareholders.

TREASuRy SHARES 

Treasury shares are reported as a 
deduction to equity. The original cost 
of treasury shares and the proceeds of 
any subsequent sale are recorded as 
movements in equity.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOuNTING 

JuDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

Judgements

In the process of applying the entity’s 
accounting policies described above, 
management has made the following 
judgements that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.
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Legal and warranty claims  

on services rendered

The Group is subject to litigation and 
other claims as described in note 25. 
Management bases its judgements 
on the circumstances relating to each 
specific event, internal and external legal 
advice, knowledge of the industries and 
markets, prevailing commercial terms 
and legal precedent. The Group’s legal 
and warranty claims are reviewed,  
at a minimum, on a quarterly basis  
by a cross-functional representation  
of management.

Use of estimates

The key assumptions concerning 
the future, and other key sources of 
estimation at the balance sheet date 
that have a risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are discussed below.

Recoverability of trade accounts  

and notes receivable

Trade accounts and notes receivable are 
reflected net of an estimated allowance 
for doubtful accounts (see note 15). 
These allowances for uncollectible 
amounts are estimated based primarily 
on the Group’s ageing policy guidelines, 
individual client analysis and an analysis 
of the underlying risk profile of each 
major revenue stream by business  
and geography.

Impairment of Goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill 
is impaired at minimum on an annual 
basis. This requires an estimation of 
the value-in-use of the CGUs to which 
the goodwill is allocated. Estimating 
the value-in-use requires the Group to 
make an estimate of the expected future 
cash flows from the CGU that holds the 
goodwill at a determined discount rate 
in order to calculate the present value of 
those cash flows.

Estimations of employee  

post-employment benefits obligations

The Group maintains several defined 
benefit pension plans in accordance 
with local conditions and practices 
in the countries in which it operates. 
The related obligations recognised 
in the balance sheet represent the 
present value of the defined benefit 
obligations calculated annually by 
independent actuaries. These actuarial 
valuations include assumptions such 
as discount rates, return on assets, 
salary progression rates and mortality 
rates. These actuarial assumptions 
vary according to the local prevailing 
economic and social conditions.  
Details of the assumptions used are 
provided in note 24.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes 
in numerous jurisdictions. Significant 
judgement is required in determining 
the worldwide provision for income 
taxes. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The group 
recognises liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates 
of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of 
these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, 
such differences will impact the current 
and deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities in the period in which such 
determination is made.

RISK ASSESSMENT 

Disclosures on the Group’s risk 
assessment process as required by 
Swiss law are presented in the notes to 
the accounts of SGS SA on page 137 of 
this report.

The most significant currencies for the Group were translated at the following exchange rates into Swiss Francs:

    yEAR-END RATES  ANNuAl AVERAGE RATES
   2010  2009 2010  2009

Australia AUD 100 96.27  92.56 95.69  85.45

Canada CAD 100 95.19  98.92 101.27  95.20

China  CNY 100 14.35  15.18 15.41  15.89

Eurozone  EUR 100 124.84  148.79 138.37  151.06

USA  USD 100 95.00  103.65 104.35  108.57
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The following business combinations 
and other significant transactions 
occurred during 2010 and 2009:

ACQuISITIONS 2010 

In 2010, the Group completed  
ten acquisitions for a total purchase 
price of CHF 339 million (note 20).

General de Servicios ITV  

(Inspección Técnica de Vehículos) SA

Effective 31 December 2010,  
SGS acquired, for an equivalent of 
CHF 235 million, 100% of the vehicle 
inspection businesses of General de 
Servicios ITV (Inspección Técnica de 
Vehículos) SA in Spain and Argentina. 
This transaction has been accounted 
for by using the acquisition method of 
accounting. The values of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities reflect the best 
estimate at the end of the year and are 
subject to final closing adjustments 
which are not expected to be material. 
Goodwill on acquisition amounted to 
CHF 149 million. 

Other

In 2010, other acquisitions included: 
100% of Intron Group, which operates a 
laboratory in Sittard (The Netherlands) and 
provides inspection, testing, certification, 
consulting as well as project management 
services to the building materials industry 
(effective 1 January 2010); 100% of 
Verilab SA, a company which operates 
a laboratory in Antofagasta (Chile), 
that performs exploration and grade 
control analysis using fire assay, wet 
chemistry and instrumental techniques 
(effective 1 March 2010); 100% of Korea 
Construction Quality Test & Analysis 
(KCQT), Pyeongtaek, Korea, a provider 
of construction materials testing and 
ground investigation services (effective 
1 April 2010); 100% of the business of 
Australian Soil Testing Pty Ltd. (AST) a 
construction materials and geotechnical 
testing laboratory based in Rockdale 
(effective 1 April 2010); 100% of 
Assayers Canada (commonly known as 
Mineral Environments Laboratories Ltd.) 
in Vancouver, Canada (effective  
1 July 2010); 100% of Am’Tech Medical 

in Sèvres, France, the leading medical 
devices regulatory control services 
provider in France (effective 1 August 
2010); 100% of Yan Tai HuaJian 
Inspection Engineering Co., Ltd. (HJEL), 
a leading independent, professional, 
industrial testing business based in Yantai, 
China (effective 1 September 2010); 
100% of the M-Scan Group, the leading 
group of chemical analysis laboratories 
specialised in advanced chemical  
and biochemical testing (effective  
1 November 2010); 100% of Atest SA, 
a leading Swiss Non-Destructive Testing 
(NDT) company, based in Châtel-St-Denis,  
Switzerland (effective 1 December 2010). 
These companies were acquired for  
an equivalent of CHF 104 million  
and the total goodwill generated on  
these transactions amounted to  
CHF 66 million (note 20).

Total

All the above acquisitions contributed in 
total CHF 34 million in revenues and  
CHF 5 million in operating income 
during the year for the Group. Had all 
acquisitions been effective 1 January 
2010, the Group revenues for the period 
would have been increased by CHF 112 
million and the Group operating income 
for the period would have been increased 
by CHF 29 million. Tax deductability 
of a portion of the goodwill arising on 
the acquisition and merger of General 
de Servicios ITV (Inspección Técnica 
de Vehículos) SA will be conditional on 
review and acceptance by the local tax 
authorities. None of the goodwill arising 
on the remaining acquisitions is expected 
to be tax deductible.

ACQuISITIONS OF NON-CONTROllING 

INTERESTS 2010 

In 2010, SGS acquired non-controlling 
interests of existing subsidiaries  
for an equivalent of CHF 4 million. 
The non-controlling interests‘ share of 
goodwill is directly recognised in equity.

DIVESTMENTS 2010 

There were no significant disposals  
in 2010.

ACQuISITIONS 2009 

In 2009, the Group completed two 
acquisitions for a total purchase price  
of CHF 11 million.

UPM

Effective 1 February 2009,  
SGS acquired, for an equivalent of  
CHF 4 million, 100% of Ustav Paliv a 
Maziv (UPM). This company operates 
two laboratories in Prague and Kolin 
(Czech Republic), that perform fuel test, 
fuel conformity assessment and engine 
testing services.

Goodwill on acquisition amounted  
to CHF 3 million.

EKO-PROJEKT

Effective 1 October 2009, SGS acquired, 
for an equivalent of CHF 7 million,  
100% of EKO-PROJEKT Ltd.,  
the leading provider of environmental  
and analytical services in Poland, with 
several laboratories and offices across 
the country.

Goodwill on acquisition amounted  
to CHF 5 million.

Other

In 2009, the Group acquired  
non-controlling interests of existing 
subsidiaries for an equivalent of  
CHF 4 million.

Goodwill on these transactions 
amounted to CHF 4 million.

Total

In 2009, all the above acquisitions 
contributed, in total, CHF 5 million in 
revenues and CHF 1 million in operating 
income for the year for the Group. Had 
all acquisitions been effective 1 January 
2009, Group revenues for the year 
would have been increased by  
CHF 7 million and Group operating 
income for the year would have been 
increased by CHF 2 million.

DIVESTMENTS 2009 

There were no significant disposals  
in 2009. 

3BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
                 AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT 

TRANSACTIONS
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  ADJuSTED AMORTISATION OF OPERATING INCOME 
(CHF million) REVENuE OPERATING INCOME ACQuISITION INTANGIBlES By BuSINESS

2010

Agricultural Services 344 54 - 54

Minerals Services 616 118 (1) 117

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 957 149 (3) 146

Life Science Services  194 29 (1) 28

Consumer Testing Services 821 212 (1) 211

Systems & Services Certification 386 82 - 82

Industrial Services  738 97 (1) 96

Environmental Services  278 30 - 30

Automotive Services  195 36 (1) 35

Governments & Institutions Services  228 41 - 41

TOTAl  4 757 848 (8) 840

    
   Unallocated costs  (4)

   GROuP OPERATING INCOME  836

  ADJuSTED AMORTISATION OF OPERATING INCOME 
(CHF million) REVENuE OPERATING INCOME ACQuISITION INTANGIBlES By BuSINESS

2009 1

Agricultural Services 356 57 - 57

Minerals Services 536 87 (1) 86

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 951 149 (3) 146

Life Science Services 2 200 29 (1) 28

Consumer Testing Services 2 790 201 (1) 200

Systems & Services Certification 367 78 - 78

Industrial Services  744 104 - 104

Environmental Services  288 34 - 34

Automotive Services  266 44 (2) 42

Governments & Institutions Services  214 39 - 39

TOTAl  4 712 822 (8) 814

    
   Unallocated costs  (20)

   GROuP OPERATING INCOME  794

1. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results. 

2. Amended 2009 data following changes in business organisation.

The revenues reported represent revenue generated from external customers.

Revenue in Switzerland from external customers for 2010 amounted to CHF 246 million (2009: CHF 273 million). No country 
represented more than 15% of revenues from external customers in 2010 or 2009.

Unallocated costs 2010 

In 2010, the Group incurred transaction-related costs of CHF 4 million that have been expensed in accordance with the IFRS 3 
(revised) standard adopted on 1 January 2010.

INFORMATION BY BUSINESS AND 
       GEOGRAPHICAl SEGMENT
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Unallocated costs 2009

In 2009, the Group incurred a pre-tax restructuring charge of CHF 20 million largely as a result of personnel re-organisation due 
to the decline in market conditions in certain businesses and geographies (CHF 15 million) as well as an asset impairment charge 
(CHF 5 million).

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

REVENuE FROM EXTERNAl CuSTOMERS By GEOGRAPHICAl SEGMENT    

Europe / Africa / Middle East 2 425 51.0 2 536 53.8

Americas 1 009 21.2 983 20.9

Asia Pacific 1 323 27.8 1 193 25.3

TOTAl  4 757 100.0 4 712 100.0

    

MAJOR CuSTOMER INFORMATION

In 2010 and in 2009, no external customer represented 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue.

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

OPERATING ASSETS By BuSINESS SEGMENT    

Agricultural Services  196 5.4 207 6.2

Minerals Services  423 11.6 431 12.9

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services  666 18.2 683 20.4

Life Science Services  286 7.8 257 7.7

Consumer Testing Services  532 14.6 546 16.3

Systems & Services Certification  151 4.1 135 4.0

Industrial Services  527 14.5 481 14.4

Environmental Services  221 6.0 239 7.1

Automotive Services  396 10.8 181 5.4

Governments & Institutions Services  257 7.0 187 5.6

TOTAl  3 655 100.0 3 347 100.0

   

 

(CHF million)    2010 2009

RECONCIlIATION OF OPERATING ASSETS By BuSINESS SEGMENT TO THE BAlANCE SHEET  

Assets by business segment as above    3 655 3 347

Non-operating assets    326 389

TOTAl ASSETS PER BAlANCE SHEET    3 981 3 736

Assets by business segment comprise all assets held by the Group’s operating affiliates after elimination of inter-company balances.

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

SPECIFIC NON-CuRRENT ASSETS By MATERIAl COuNTRIES   

Switzerland  111 6.2 107 6.8

Spain 336 18.9 129 8.3

Other Countries  1 334 74.9 1 328 84.9

TOTAl  1 781 100.0 1 564 100.0

No other country represented more than 15% of the specific non-current assets in 2010 or 2009.
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(CHF million)    2010 2009

RECONCIlIATION WITH TOTAl NON-CuRRENT ASSETS  

Specific non-current assets as above   1 781 1 564

Deferred tax assets    193 192

Non-current loans to third parties   1 1

TOTAl   1 975 1 757

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

OPERATING lIABIlITIES By BuSINESS SEGMENT    

Agricultural Services  117 7.3 97 7.5

Minerals Services 209 13.0 146 11.3

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 324 20.1 260 20.2

Life Science Services  66 4.1 55 4.3

Consumer Testing Services  278 17.2 216 16.7

Systems & Services Certification  131 8.1 101 7.8

Industrial Services  250 15.5 204 15.8

Environmental Services  94 5.8 79 6.1

Automotive Services  66 4.1 73 5.7

Governments & Institutions Services  78 4.8 59 4.6

TOTAl  1 613 100.0 1 290 100.0

(CHF million)    2010 2009

RECONCIlIATION OF OPERATING lIABIlITIES By BuSINESS SEGMENT TO THE BAlANCE SHEET  

Liabilities by business segment above   1 613 1 290

Non-operating liabilities   260 336

TOTAl lIABIlITIES PER BAlANCE SHEET    1 873 1 626

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

CAPITAl ADDITIONS By BuSINESS SEGMENT    

Agricultural Services  13 5.0 14 6.3

Minerals Services  34 13.0 19 8.6

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services  67 25.7 54 24.5

Life Science Services  13 5.0 14 6.3

Consumer Testing Services  59 22.6 55 24.9

Systems & Services Certification  6 2.3 4 1.8

Industrial Services  29 11.1 23 10.4

Environmental Services  16 6.1 17 7.7

Automotive Services  13 5.0 14 6.3

Governments & Institutions Services  11 4.2 7 3.2

TOTAl  261 100.0 221 100.0
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(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION By BuSINESS SEGMENT    

Agricultural Services  12 5.3 11 4.9

Minerals Services 34 15.1 33 14.8

Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services 41 18.2 41 18.4

Life Science Services  11 4.9 11 4.9

Consumer Testing Services 55 24.5 55 24.7

Systems & Services Certification 5 2.2 5 2.3

Industrial Services  26 11.6 24 10.8

Environmental Services  17 7.6 17 7.6

Automotive Services  14 6.2 15 6.7

Governments & Institutions Services  10 4.4 11 4.9

TOTAl  225 100.0 223 100.0

(CHF million)  2010 % 2009 %

IMPAIRMENT By BuSINESS SEGMENT    

Minerals Services - - 5 100.0

TOTAl - - 5 100.0

    

   2010 1 2009

AVERAGE NuMBER OF EMPlOyEES By GEOGRAPHICAl SEGMENT   

Europe / Africa / Middle East    26 463 25 755

Americas    12 386 12 211

Asia Pacific    21 472 19 187

TOTAl    60 321 57 153
Number of employees at year-end    63 224 58 818

1. Excluding 833 ITV headcount acquired effective 31 December 2010. 
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FINANCIAl EXPENSES

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Interest expense 1 6 7

Loss on derivatives at fair value 5 4

Other financial expenses 4 4

TOTAl  15 15

1. Includes interests on corporate bond (see note 23).

7
TAXES
 

(CHF million)  2010 2009

MAJOR COMPONENTS OF TAX EXPENSE  

Current taxes 218 190

Deferred tax (credit) / expense relating to the  
origination and reversal of temporary differences (3) 10

TOTAl 215 200

8

FINANCIAL INCOME
(CHF million)  2010 2009

Interest income  4 5

Foreign exchange gains  3 6

Other financial income  1 1

TOTAl  8 12

6

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Rental expense, insurance, utilities and sundry supplies  217 219

Consumables, repairs and maintenance  308 311

Communication costs  98 97

Travel costs  308 286

Miscellaneous operating income and expenses  224 229

TOTAl  1 155 1 142

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
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The Group has operations in various countries that have differing tax laws and rates. Consequently, the effective tax rate on 
consolidated income varies from year to year. A reconciliation between the reported income tax expense and the amount that 
would arise using the weighted average statutory tax rate of the Group is as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

RECONCIlIATION OF TAX EXPENSE  

Profit before taxes  829 791

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to the profits earned in the country concerned  182 166

Tax effect of non-deductible or non-taxable items  4 (1)

(Usage of) / tax charge from unrecognised tax losses  (2) 6

Non-creditable foreign withholding taxes  32 29

Other  (1) -

TAX CHARGE  215 200

  2010   2009
(CHF million)  ASSETS  lIABIlITIES ASSETS  lIABIlITIES

COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED INCOME TAX BAlANCES    

Fixed assets  17  11 17  15

Inventories and receivables  7  6 9  5

Actuarial gains and losses on pensions 81  - 75  -

Provisions and other  43  46 39  57

Intangible assets  8  - 10  -

Tax loss carry-forwards  37  - 42  -

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES  193  63 192  77

Net change in deferred tax assets / (liabilities):

    ACTuARIAl   
  INVENTORIES OPERATING GAINS &  TAX lOSSES 
 FIXED & TRADE PROVISIONS lOSSES ON INTANGIBlE CARRy- 
(CHF million) ASSETS RECEIVABlES & OTHERS PENSIONS ASSETS FORWARD TOTAl

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET 
(lIABIlITy) AT 1 JANuARy 2009 (4) 12 7 67 13 22 117

(Charged) / credited to the income statement  5 (11) (21) - (3) 20 (10)

(Charged) / credited to the shareholders’ equity  - - - 8 - - 8

Exchange differences and other  1 3 (4) - - - -

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET
(lIABIlITy) AT 31 DECEMBER 2009 2 4 (18) 75 10 42 115

(Charged) / credited to the income statement  5 (3) 8 - (1) 4 13

(Charged) / credited to the shareholders’ equity  - - - 10 - - 10

Exchange differences and other  (1) - 7 (4) (1) (9) (8)

NET DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSET  6 1 (3) 81 8 37 130
(lIABIlITy) AT 31 DECEMBER 2010
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9
Basic earnings per share are calculated as follows:

 2010 2009

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million) 588 566

Weighted average number of shares  7 571 123 7 498 206

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (CHF)  77.64 75.48

Diluted earnings per share are calculated as basic earnings per share except that the weighted average number of shares includes 
the dilutive effect of the Group’s share option plans (see note 31):

 2010 2009

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million) 588 566

Diluted weighted average number of shares  7 611 818 7 529 218

DIluTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (CHF)  77.22 75.17

The Group has unrecognised tax losses carried forward amounting to CHF 31 million (2009: CHF 41 million) of which  
CHF 17 million (2009: CHF 7 million) expire within the next five years. No tax losses carried forward expired in 2010.

 

(CHF million)  2010 2009

REFlECTED IN THE BAlANCE SHEET AS FOllOWS:  

Deferred tax assets 193 192

Deferred tax liabilities  (63) (77)

TOTAl  130 115

At 31 December 2010, consolidated retained earnings include approximately CHF 3 893 million (2009: CHF 3 449 million) of 
undistributed earnings associated with investments in subsidiaries and foreign incorporated joint ventures that may be subject to tax if 
remitted to the parent company. As a Group policy, no deferred tax is recognised in respect of these amounts until the point at which 
the distributable earnings are determined and foreign statutory requirements, allowing the distribution, are fulfilled. Until that time, the 
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

EARNINGS 
        PER SHARE
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(CHF million)  lAND & MACHINERy & OTHER TANGIBlE 
 BuIlDINGS EQuIPMENT ASSETS TOTAl

2010    

COST    

At 1 January 407 1 075 467 1 949

Additions  11 144 73 228

Acquisition of subsidiaries  45 30 8 83

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (5) (41) (18) (64)

Exchange differences (41) (100) (44) (185)

At 31 December  417 1 108 486 2 011 
 

ACCuMulATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT   

At 1 January 167 719 312 1 198

Depreciation  16 130 45 191

Impairment - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  17 20 5 42

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (3) (35) (16) (54)

Exchange differences  (19) (73) (30) (122)

At 31 December  178 761 316 1 255

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2010  239 347 170 756

    

INCluDED IN lAND, BuIlDINGS AND EQuIPMENT ARE lEASED ASSETS AS FOllOWS

Purchase cost of leased tangible assets  - 5 - 5

Accumulated depreciation  - 2 - 2

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 - 3 - 3

Adjusted earnings per share are calculated as follows:

 2010 2009 1

Profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million)  588 566

Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (CHF million) 8 8

Restructuring costs net of tax (CHF million) - 13

Transaction-related costs net of tax (CHF million) 3 -

Adjusted profit attributable to equity holders of SGS SA (CHF million)  599 587

ADJuSTED BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (CHF)  79.11 78.28

ADJuSTED DIluTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (CHF)  78.69 77.96

1. Amended 2009 data following changes in presentation of segmental results.

10 LAND,
BUILDINGS 
             AND EQuIPMENT
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  lAND & MACHINERy OTHER TANGIBlE 
(CHF million) BuIlDINGS & EQuIPMENT ASSETS TOTAl

2009    

COST    

At 1 January 373 959 441 1 773

Additions  25 133 46 204

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 4 2 6

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (1) (53) (33) (87)

Exchange differences 10 32 11 53

At 31 December  407 1 075 467 1 949 
 

ACCuMulATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT   

At 1 January 152 611 289 1 052

Depreciation  14 126 46 186

Impairment - 5 - 5

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 2 1 3

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - -

Disposals  (1) (45) (29) (75)

Exchange differences  2 20 5 27

At 31 December  167 719 312 1 198

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2009  240 356 155 751

    

INCluDED IN lAND, BuIlDINGS AND EQuIPMENT ARE lEASED ASSETS AS FOllOWS

Purchase cost of leased tangible assets  8 4 1 13

Accumulated depreciation  3 3 1 7

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2009 5 1 - 6

At 31 December 2010, the Group had commitments of CHF 5 million (2009: CHF 6 million) for the acquisition of land,  
buildings and equipment.

Included in the other tangible assets are construction-in-progress assets amounting to CHF 19 million (2009: CHF 14 million).

The values of buildings and equipment for fire insurance purposes are as follows:

 

(CHF million)   2010 2009

Buildings  476 465

Machinery, equipment and other tangible assets   1 492 1 393
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(CHF million)  2010 2009

COST  

At 1 January 629 594

Additions  215 12

Consideration on prior years’ acquisition  (2) -

Exchange differences  (70) 23

AT 31 DECEMBER  772 629

Goodwill additions do not include any contingent consideration in relation to prior years’ acquisitions (2009: nil). 

Goodwill impairment reviews have been conducted for more than 40 goodwill balances allocated to specific cash generating units 
(CGU). The goodwill balances tested account for 99% of the total goodwill net book value reported as at 31 December 2010.  
No goodwill impairment exposure was identified and therefore no impairment charge was recorded (2009: nil). 

Detailed results of the impairment tests are presented below for larger goodwill balances (representing 34% of all goodwill items 
tested). These tests have all been performed in accordance with the Group’s uniform method described on page 93.

lIFE SCIENCE SERVICES, EuROPE

Goodwill recognised on the following acquisitions has been allocated to the Life Science Services, Europe CGU for impairment testing 
purposes: Medisearch International (2003), Cibest (2004) and Aster Cephac (2006). The carrying amounts of the goodwill items 
allocated to this CGU are expressed in EUR for an equivalent of CHF 74 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009: CHF 88 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount. Cash flow 
projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 10.3%. The cash flows for the first five years were based 
upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative long-term growth rate of 
2.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected average growth 
rate of the Life Science Services business in Europe. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue growth 
rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount. 

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

FRESENIuS SERVICES, EuROPE

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Institut Fresenius AG (2004) has been allocated to a specific cross-business CGU for 
impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to this CGU is expressed in EUR for an equivalent of 
CHF 54 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009: CHF 64 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 11.5%. The cash flows for the first five years 
were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative long-term 
growth rate of 1.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected 
average growth rate of the Fresenius businesses in Europe. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount. 

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

11GOODWILL
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OIl, GAS & CHEMICAlS SERVICES, EuROPE (uPSTREAM)

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Horizon Energy Partners (2008) has been allocated to the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services, 
Europe (Upstream) CGU for impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the CGU is expressed 
in EUR for an equivalent of CHF 55 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009: CHF 65 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 13.7%. The cash flows for the first five years 
were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative long-term 
growth rate of 2% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent with the expected 
average growth rate of the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services, Europe (Upstream) segment served by the Group. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

MINERAlS SERVICES, AMERICAS

Goodwill recognised on the following acquisitions has been allocated to the Minerals Services, Americas CGU for impairment 
testing purposes: Lakefield group (2002) and Minnovex group (2005). The carrying amounts of the goodwill items allocated to  
this CGU are expressed in various currencies for an equivalent of CHF 51 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009: CHF 52 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 10.5%. The cash flows for the first  
five years were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative 
long-term growth rate of 2.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent  
with the expected average growth rate of the Minerals Services business in the Americas. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.

OIl, GAS & CHEMICAlS SERVICES, NORTH AMERICA

Goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Petroleum Services Corporation Inc. (2005) has been allocated to the Oil, Gas & 
Chemicals Services, North America CGU for impairment testing purposes. The carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to  
this CGU is expressed in USD for an equivalent of CHF 31 million as at 31 December 2010 (2009: CHF 33 million). 

The recoverable amount of the CGU, determined based upon a value-in-use calculation, is higher than its carrying amount.  
Cash flow projections were used in this calculation, discounted at a pre-tax rate of 9.4%. The cash flows for the first  
five years were based upon financial plans approved by Group Management while the subsequent years assume a conservative 
long-term growth rate of 2.0% and stable operating margins. The overall assumptions used in the calculation are consistent  
with the expected average growth rate of the Oil, Gas & Chemicals Services business in North America. 

The key sensitivity for the impairment test is the growth in sales and operating margin. Reducing the expected annual revenue 
growth rates for the first five years by 200 basis points would not result in the carrying amount exceeding the recoverable amount.

An increase of 1% in the discount rate assumption would not change the conclusions of the impairment test.
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(CHF million) TRADEMARKS AND OTHER CuSTOMER RElATIONSHIPS INTERNAlly GENERATED PuRCHASED TOTAl

2010     

COST     

At 1 January  39 79 58 178 354

Additions - - 6 27 33

Acquisition of subsidiaries  65 16 - 1 82

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (2) (2)

Exchange differences  (5) (12) - (14) (31)

At 31 December 99 83 64 190 436

ACCuMulATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT     

At 1 January 7 18 44 137 206

Amortisation  2 6 7 19 34

Impairment  - - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - - - 1 1

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (2) (2)

Exchange differences  (2) (2) - (9) (13)

At 31 December  7 22 51 146 226

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2010  92 61 13 44 210

(CHF million) TRADEMARKS AND OTHER CuSTOMER RElATIONSHIPS INTERNAlly GENERATED PuRCHASED TOTAl

2009     

COST     

At 1 January  39 75 53 174 341

Additions - 1 5 11 17

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - 2 - - 2

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (7) (7)

Exchange differences  - 1 - - 1

At 31 December 39 79 58 178 354

ACCuMulATED AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT     

At 1 January 5 12 37 122 176

Amortisation  2 6 7 22 37

Impairment  - - - - -

Acquisition of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Sale of subsidiaries  - - - - -

Disposals  - - - (7) (7)

Exchange differences  - - - - -

At 31 December  7 18 44 137 206

NET BOOK VAluE AT 31 DECEMBER 2009  32 61 14 41 148

12
COMPuTER SOFTWARE  

AND OTHER ASSETS

COMPuTER SOFTWARE  
AND OTHER ASSETS

   OTHER 

INTANGIBlE 
   ASSETS
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OTHER
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
(CHF million)  2010 2009

Non-current loans to third parties 1 1

Other non-current assets  41 35

TOTAl  42 36

Depending on the nature of the loan, currency and date of maturity, interest rates on 
long-term loans to third parties range between 0% and 15%. 

Other non-current assets consist mainly of deposits for guarantees and include  
CHF 16 million (2009: CHF 13 million) of restricted cash. Typical examples of 
restricted cash are cash deposits for performance bonds, rentals and other  
operating obligations.

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the Group’s other non-current assets 
approximates the carrying value.

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Work-in-progress  23 23

Unbilled revenues  160 144

Inventories  34 34

TOTAl  217 201

13

SIGNIFICANT INTANGIBlE ASSETS

The Group is implementing global management information systems focusing on contract management, finance and sales order 
processing. In particular, additions relating to the Group’s ERP system amount to CHF 5 million (2009: CHF 5 million) and are being 
amortised over a period of four years. 

Incremental costs relating to internally generated assets are capitalised when incurred and amortised over a period of four years 
from the time of occurrence. Purchased intangible assets mainly consist of purchased computer software and consultancy services 
required for implementations.

UNBILLED REVENUES
                                AND 
                                   INVENTORIES



111

S
G

S
 G

R
O

U
P

 R
E

S
U

LT
S

15
(CHF million)  2010 2009

Trade accounts and notes receivable  947 994

Allowance for doubtful accounts  (175) (182)

TOTAl  772 812

  
Ageing of trade accounts and notes receivable not impaired:  

Not overdue 358 371

Past due not more than two months  283 291

Past due more than two months but not more than four months  71 80

Past due more than four months but not more than six months  31 36

Past due more than six months but not more than one year  29 34

Past due more than one year - -

TOTAl  772 812

Credit risks arise mainly from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. The Group 
periodically assesses the creditworthiness of customers. 

The Group’s credit risk is diversified due to the large number of entities that make up the Group’s customer base and the 
diversification across many different industries and geographic regions. 

The maximum credit risk to which the Group is theoretically exposed at 31 December 2010 is represented by the carrying amounts 
of receivables in the balance sheet. 

No customer accounts for 5% or more of the Group’s total receivables at balance sheet date.

The nominal value, less impairment provisions, of trade accounts and notes receivable is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

The movement of allowance for doubtful accounts is analysed as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Balance at beginning of the year  (182) (173)

Increase in allowance recognised in the income statement  (21) (22)

Utilisations 20 14

Exchange differences  8 (1)

TOTAl  (175) (182)

Receivables aged less than 360 days are provided when the credit worthiness review indicates that the amounts may have 
become unrecoverable.

The Group provides fully for all receivables over 360 days as historical experience shows that receivables aged more than  
360 days are generally not recoverable.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counter-parties and 
customers. Accordingly, management believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for 
doubtful debts.

TRADE ACCOUNTS 
AND NOTES RECEIVABLE
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17

18

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Available for sale  9 9

TOTAl  9 9

Unrealised gains or losses on marketable securities designated as available for  
sale and which are recorded in equity amounted to nil for 2010 (2009: a gain of  
CHF 0.5 million). 

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Cash and short-term deposits  804 775

Short-term loans  2 8

TOTAl  806 783

Cash and cash equivalents do not include restricted cash, which is reported within 
other non-current assets.

16 (CHF million)  2010 2009

Prepayments 69 54

Derivative assets  17 6

Other receivables  116 114

TOTAl  202 174

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a 
large number of counter-parties.

Other receivables consist mainly of sales and other taxes recoverable as well as 
advances to suppliers and prepaid income tax. 

OTHER 

RECEIVABlES 

             
AND PREPAyMENTS

MARKETABLE
SECuRITIES

CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS
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19.1. OTHER NON-CASH ITEMS

(CHF million)  NOTES 2010 2009

Depreciation of buildings and equipment 10 191 186

Impairment of land, buildings and equipment and other intangible assets 10 & 12 - 5

Amortisation of intangible assets 12 34 37

Net financial expenses  7 3

(Decrease) in provisions and employee benefits  (27) (50)

Share-based payment expenses  2 13

(Gain) on proceeds from sales of investments  (3) -

(Gain) on disposals of land, buildings and equipment  (2) (1)

Taxes  215 200

OTHER NON-CASH ITEMS  417 393

19.2. MOVEMENT IN WORKING CAPITAl

(CHF million)  NOTES 2010 2009

(Increase) in unbilled revenues and inventories  (33) (10)

(Increase) / Decrease in trade accounts and notes receivable  (31) 54

(Increase) in other receivables and prepayments  (23) (1)

Increase / (Decrease) in trade and other payables  34 (31)

Increase in other creditors and accruals  24 -

(Decrease) / Increase in other provisions  (4) 1

(INCREASE) / DECREASE IN WORKING CAPITAl  (33) 13

19.3. CASH FlOWS ARISING FROM ACQuISITIONS AND DIVESTMENTS OF BuSINESSES

 2010 2010 2009 2009
(CHF million)  ACQuISITIONS DIVESTMENTS ACQuISITIONS DIVESTMENTS

Tangible and other long-term assets  (43) - (2) -

Intangible assets  (81) - (2) -

Current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents  (27) - (1) -

Cash and cash equivalents  (27) - (1) -

Current liabilities  45 - 3 -

Non-current liabilities  9 - - -

NET IDENTIFIABlE ASSETS ACQuIRED OR DIVESTED  (124) - (3) -

Acquired / (Divested) cash and cash equivalents  27 - 1 -

SuBTOTAl  (97) - (2) -

Goodwill  (215) - (12) -

Divestments gain  - - - -

Consideration payable 11 - 2 -

(Payments) / Receipts on prior year aquisitions 1 (1) - 12 -

NET CASH FlOWS  (302) - - -

1. In 2009, the Group recorded a CHF 14 million cash in-flow in relation with contingent consideration on prior year Horizon acquisition.  

    This amount was already recorded as an amount receivable from former shareholders.

Note 3 provides further information regarding acquisitions and divestments of businesses. All acquisitions were settled in cash.

19CASH FlOW STATEMENT
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ASSETS AND lIABIlITIES ARISING FROM THE 2010 ACQuISITIONS

     

    BOOK FAIR VAluE FAIR VAluE
(CHF million)    VAluE ADJuSTMENTS ON ACQuISITION

Tangible and other long-term assets    43 - 43

Intangible assets   - 81 81

Trade accounts and notes receivable   11 - 11

Cash and cash equivalents    27 - 27

Other current assets   16 - 16

Current liabilities    (45) - (45)

Non-current liabilities    (9) - (9)

NET ASSETS ACQuIRED    43 81 124

Goodwill      215

TOTAl PuRCHASE PRICE      339

Acquired cash and cash equivalents      (27)

Consideration payable     (11)

NET CASH OuTFlOW ON ACQuISITIONS      301

Due to the timing of the transaction, the initial accounting for the acquisition of General de Servicios ITV (Inspección Técnica  
de Vehículos) SA reflects the best estimate at the end of the year and is subject to final closing adjustments which are not 
expected to be material.

The goodwill arising on these acquisitions relates mainly to the value of expected synergies and the value of the qualified workforce 
that do not meet the criteria for recognition as separable intangible assets.

Consideration payable relate mainly to environmental and commercial warranty clauses.

The Group incurred transaction-related costs of CHF 4 million related to external legal fees, due diligence expenses as well as 
the cost of maintaining an internal acquisition department. These expenses are reported within Other Operating Expenses in the 
consolidated income statement.

20ACQUISITIONS

 BOOK FAIR VAluE FAIR VAluE BOOK FAIR VAluE FAIR VAluE
(CHF million) VAluE ADJuSTMENTS ON ACQuISITION VAluE ADJuSTMENTS ON ACQuISITION

Tangible and other long-term assets  33 - 33 10 - 10

Intangible assets - 60 60 - 21 21

Trade accounts and notes receivable - - - 11 - 11

Cash and cash equivalents  17 - 17 10 - 10

Other current assets 8 - 8 8 - 8

Current liabilities  (23) - (23) (22) - (22)

Non-current liabilities  (9) - (9) - - -

NET ASSETS ACQuIRED  26 60 86 17 21 38

Goodwill    149   66

TOTAl PuRCHASE PRICE    235   104

Acquired cash and cash equivalents    (17)   (10)

Consideration payable   -   (11)

NET CASH OuTFlOW ON ACQuISITIONS    218   83

ITV     OTHER

TOTAl
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21
RISK MANAGEMENT POlICIES AND OBJECTIVES

The Group’s activities expose it primarily to market, credit and liquidity risk. Market risk includes foreign exchange, interest rate  
and equity price risks. 

The risk management policies and objectives are governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board of Directors. 

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls 
and to monitor the risk and limits continually by means of reliable and up-to-date administrative and information systems. 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management policies. The Audit 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit.

RISK MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

The Group uses foreign exchange contracts to manage the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. 
These activities are carried out in accordance with the Group’s risk management policies and objectives in areas such as counter-
party exposure and hedging practices. Counter-parties to these agreements are major international financial institutions with 
high credit ratings and positions are monitored using market value and sensitivity analyses. The associated credit risk is therefore 
limited. These agreements generally include the exchange of one currency for a second currency at a future date.

The following table summarises foreign exchange contracts outstanding at year-end. The notional amount of derivatives 
summarised below represents the gross amount of the contracts and includes transactions which have not yet matured. Therefore 
the figures do not reflect the Group’s net exposure at year-end. The market value approximates the costs to settle the outstanding 
contracts. These market values should not be viewed in isolation but in relation to the market values of the underlying hedged 
transactions and the overall reduction in the Group’s exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. 

Currently, the Group has limited exposure to interest risk and no exposure to equity price risks.

 NOTIONAl AMOuNT BOOK VAluE MARKET VAluE
(CHF million)  2010  2009 2010  2009 2010  2009

FOREIGN EXCHANGE FORWARD CONTRACTS      

Currency:      

Australian Dollar (AUD)  (8)  (30)  - (1)  - (1)

Brazilian Real (BRL) 6  (5)  - -  - -

Canadian Dollar (CAD)  1  (10)  - -  - -

Chinese Renminbi (CNY) 17  (60)  - -  - -

Euro (EUR)  (255)  (226)  10 2  10 2

British Pound Sterling (GBP)  1  45  - (1)  - (1)

Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) 12  35  - -  - -

Japanese Yen (JPY)  1  (4)  - (1)  - (1)

Korean Won (KRW)  (3)  (1)  - -  - -

New Zealand Dollar (NZD)  (3)  (3)  - -  - -

US Dollar (USD)  (44)  78  - (12)  - (12)

South African Rand (ZAR)  (4)  (12)  - -  - -

Other  (8)  (16)  - 1  - 1

TOTAl  (287)  (209)  10 (12)  10 (12)

FINANCIAl
RISK MANAGEMENT
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FAIR VAluE MEASuREMENT RECOGNISED IN THE BAlANCE SHEET

Marketable securities and derivatives assets and liabilities are the only financial instruments measured at fair value subsequent  
to their initial recognition.

Marketable securities (2010: CHF 9 million; 2009: CHF 9 million) qualify as Level 1 fair value measurement category. Derivative 
assets (2010: CHF 17 million; 2009: CHF 6 million) and liabilities (2010: CHF 7 million; 2009: CHF 4 million) qualify as Level 2 fair 
value measurement category in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from the quoted price in active markets. Level 2 fair value measurements are 
those derived from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset and liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Derivatives assets and liabilities consist of foreign currency forward contracts that are measured using quoted forward exchange 
rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contract.

CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT

Credit risk arises from the possibility that customers may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. It arises principally from 
the Group’s commercial activities. The Group has dedicated standards, policies and procedures to control and monitor such risks.

As part of financial management activities the Group enters into various types of transactions with international banks, usually with 
a credit rating of at least A. Exposure to these risks is closely monitored and kept within predetermined parameters. The Group 
does not expect any non-performance by these counter-parties.

The maximum credit risk to which the Group is theoretically exposed at 31 December 2010 is the carrying amount of financial 
assets including derivatives.
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Analysis of financial assets by class and category at 31 December 2010:

 AMORTISED COST FAIR VAluE 
 lOANS AND RECEIVABlES AVAIlABlE FOR SAlE AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH P&l TOTAl
  CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR
(CHF million) AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE

Cash and short-term deposits  804 804 - - - - 804 804

Trade receivables  772 772 - - - - 772 772

Other receivables 1 95 95 - - - - 95 95

Unbilled revenues  160 160 - - - - 160 160

Loans to 3rd parties – current  2 2 - - - - 2 2

Loans to 3rd parties – non-current  1 1 - - - - 1 1

Marketable securities  - - 9 9 - - 9 9

Derivatives  - - - - 17 17 17 17

TOTAl FINANCIAl ASSETS  1 834 1 834 9 9 17 17 1 860 1 860

1. Excluding VAT and other tax related items.

Analysis of financial assets by class and category at 31 December 2009:

 AMORTISED COST FAIR VAluE 
 lOANS AND RECEIVABlES AVAIlABlE FOR SAlE AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH P&l TOTAl
  CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR
(CHF million) AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE

Cash and short-term deposits  775 775 - - - - 775 775

Trade receivables  812 812 - - - - 812 812

Other receivables 1 83 83 - - - - 83 83

Unbilled revenues  144 144 - - - - 144 144

Loans to 3rd parties – current  8 8 - - - - 8 8

Loans to 3rd parties – non-current  1 1 - - - - 1 1

Marketable securities  - - 9 9 - - 9 9

Derivatives  - - - - 6 6 6 6

TOTAl FINANCIAl ASSETS  1 823 1 823 9 9 6 6 1 838 1 838

1. Excluding VAT and other tax related items.
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lIQuIDITy RISK MANAGEMENT

The objective of the Group liquidity and funding management is to ensure that all its foreseeable financial commitments can be 
met when due. Liquidity and funding is primarily managed by Group Treasury in accordance with practices and limits set in the risk 
management policies and objectives approved by the Board of Directors.

The nature of the Group’s business requires keeping a significant part of the cash reserves in the operating units.

Due to the significant cash position liquidity risk is limited. The Group has various committed and uncommitted bilateral credit 
facilities with its banks.

Analysis of financial liabilities by class and category at 31 December 2010:

 AMORTISED COST FAIR VAluE 
 OTHER lIABIlITIES AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH P&l TOTAl
 CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR
(CHF million) AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE

Trade payables  167 167 - - 167 167

Other payables and financial liabilities 1 121 121 - - 121 121

Advances from clients  39 39 - - 39 39

Loans and obligations under finance leases  555 555 - - 555 555

Derivatives  - - 7 7 7 7

Bank overdrafts  1 1 - - 1 1

TOTAl FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES  883 883 7 7 890 890

1. Excluding VAT and other tax related items.

Analysis of financial liabilities by class and category at 31 December 2009:

 AMORTISED COST FAIR VAluE 
 OTHER lIABIlITIES AT FAIR VAluE THROuGH P&l TOTAl
 CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR CARRyING FAIR
(CHF million) AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE AMOuNT VAluE

Trade payables  162 162 - - 162 162

Other payables and financial liabilities 1 113 113 - - 113 113

Advances from clients  42 42 - - 42 42

Loans and obligations under finance leases  313 313 - - 313 313

Derivatives  - - 4 4 4 4

Bank overdrafts  3 3 - - 3 3

TOTAl FINANCIAl lIABIlITIES  633 633 4 4 637 637

1. Excluding VAT and other tax related items.
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Contractual maturities of financial liabilities including interest payments at 31 December 2010:

   GROSS SETTlED GROSS SETTlED   
  BANK DERIVATIVE DERIVATIVE   
 BORROWINGS OVERDRAFTS FINANCIAl FINANCIAl TRADE  
 3RD PARTy AND OTHER INSTRuMENTS INSTRuMENTS PAyABlES FINANCE 
(CHF million) lT AND ST lIABIlITIES OuTFlOWS INFlOWS AND OTHERS lEASES TOTAl

On demand or within one year  14 15 302 (292) 290 1 330

Within the second year  13 1 - - 1 1 16

Within the third year  15 - - - - - 15

Within the fourth year  10 1 - - - - 11

Within the fifth year  10 1 - - 1 - 12

After five years  561 - - - 1 - 562

The Group hedges its foreign exchange exposures on a net basis. The net gross settled derivative financial instruments of  
CHF 10 million (2009: CHF 1 million) represents the net nominal value expressed in CHF of the Group’s foreign contracts 
outstanding at 31 December 2010. 

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities including interest payments at 31 December 2009:

   GROSS SETTlED GROSS SETTlED   
  BANK DERIVATIVE DERIVATIVE   
 BORROWINGS OVERDRAFTS FINANCIAl FINANCIAl TRADE  
 3RD PARTy AND OTHER INSTRuMENTS INSTRuMENTS PAyABlES FINANCE 
(CHF million) lT AND ST lIABIlITIES OuTFlOWS INFlOWS AND OTHERS lEASES TOTAl

On demand or within one year  310 12 184 (183) 272 2 597

Within the second year  1 - - - 3 - 4

Within the third year  1 - - - 16 - 17

Within the fourth year  - 1 - - - - 1

Within the fifth year  - - - - - - -

After five years  - 1 - - - - 1

SENSITIVITy ANAlySES

The estimated changes in the value of net foreign currency positions are based on an instantaneous 5% weakening of the Swiss Franc 
against all other currencies from the level applicable at 31 December 2010 and 2009, with all other variables remaining constant.

Sensitivity analysis at 31 December 2010 and 2009:

 2010 2009

 INCOME STATEMENT IMPACT EQuITy IMPACT INCOME STATEMENT IMPACT EQuITy IMPACT

(CHF million) INCOME  / (EXPENSE) INCREASE  / (DECREASE) INCOME  / (EXPENSE) INCREASE  / (DECREASE)

US Dollar (USD)  - 4 1 4

Euro (EUR)  (1) (1) (3) -

CFA Franc BEAC (XAF) 1 - 1 -

British Pound Sterling (GBP)  (1) 2 - 2

Australian Dollar (AUD)  - 2 - 2

Canadian Dollar (CAD)  - 5 - 5

Korean Won (KRW)  - 1 - 1

Chilean Peso (CLP)  - 1 - 1
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 SHARES IN TREASuRy TOTAl TOTAl SHARE CAPITAl
 CIRCulATION SHARES SHARES ISSuED (CHF million)

BAlANCE AT 1 JANuARy 2009 7 473 436 349 000 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation  33 638 (33 638) - -

Treasury shares purchased  (7 188) 7 188 - -

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2009  7 499 886 322 550 7 822 436  8

Treasury shares released into circulation  89 898 (89 898) - -

Treasury shares purchased  - - - -

BAlANCE AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 7 589 784 232 652 7 822 436 8

ISSuED SHARE CAPITAl

SGS SA has a share capital of CHF 7 822 436 (2009: CHF 7 822 436) fully paid in and divided into 7 822 436 (2009: 7 822 436) 
registered shares of a par value of CHF 1. All shares, other than own shares, participate equally in the dividends declared by the 
Company and have equal voting rights.

TREASuRy SHARES

On 31 December 2010, SGS SA held, directly or indirectly, 192 954 treasury shares. In addition, in the consolidated financial 
statements, SGS SA also recognises, as treasury shares, 39 698 shares held by the Foundation (Fondation pour l’Intéressement  
du Personnel au Développement du Groupe SGS). 

In 2010, 89 898 treasury shares were released to cover option rights.

In 2009, the Group initiated a new Share Buy-Back programme for a total of CHF 250 million, valid from 26 March 2009  
to 31 December 2011.

AuTHORISED AND CONDITIONAl ISSuE OF SHARE CAPITAl

The Board has the authority to increase the share capital of SGS SA by a maximum of 500 000 registered shares of a par value 
of CHF 1 each, corresponding to a maximum increase of CHF 500 000 in share capital. The Board is mandated to issue the new 
shares at the market conditions at the time of issue. In the event that the new shares are issued for an acquisition, the Board is 
authorised to waive the shareholders’ preferential right of subscription or to allocate such subscription right to third parties.  
The authority delegated by the shareholders to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital is valid until 24 March 2011.

The shareholders have conditionally approved an increase of share capital in the amount of CHF 1 100 000, divided into  
1 100 000 registered shares of a par value of CHF 1 each. This conditional share capital increase is intended to procure the 
necessary shares to satisfy employee share option plans and option or conversion rights to be incorporated in convertible bonds or 
similar equity-linked instruments that the Board is authorised to issue. The right to subscribe to such conditional capital is reserved 
for beneficiaries of employee share option plans and holders of convertible bonds or similar debt instruments and therefore 
excludes shareholders’ preferential rights of subscription. The Board is authorised to determine the timing and conditions of such 
issues, provided that they reflect prevailing market conditions. The term of exercise of the options or conversion rights may not 
exceed 10 years from the date of issuance of the equity-linked instruments.

22            SHARE CAPITAL 
AND TREASuRy SHARES
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(CHF million)    2010 2009

Bank loans   9 311

Bank overdrafts    1 3

Corporate bond    544 -

Finance lease obligations    2 2

TOTAl    556 316

Current    3 308

Non-current    553 8

Depending on the nature of the loan, currency and date of maturity, interest rates on long-term loans from third parties range 
between 0% and 16% and on short-term loans from third parties range between 0% and 13%.

The loans from third parties exposed to fair value interest rate risk amount to CHF 551 million (2009: CHF 9 million) and the loans 
from third parties exposed to cash flow interest rate risk amount to CHF 3 million (2009: CHF 305 million).

On 19 August 2010, SGS SA issued a six-year corporate bond for a total of CHF 550 million with a coupon of 1.875%. The bond  
has an issue price of 100.346% and a redemption price of 100%. The Group has listed the bond on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

The liability is measured at amortised cost. The interest expense for the period is calculated by applying an effective rate of 2.091%.

At 31 December 2010, the fair value of the corporate bond approximates the carrying value.

Loans and finance lease obligations mature as follows:

 BANK lOANS, OVERDRAFTS 
 AND CORPORATE BOND lEASE OBlIGATIONS

(CHF million)  2010 2009 2010 2009

On demand or within one year  4 312 1 1

Within the second year  2 1 1 1

Within the third year  4 - - -

Within the fourth year  - - - -

Within the fifth year  - - - -

After five years  544 1 - -

TOTAl  554 314 2 2

lOANS AND 

OBLIGATIONS UNDER 

FINANCE LEASES23
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The currency composition of loans and finance lease obligations is as follows:

 BANK lOANS, OVERDRAFTS 
 AND CORPORATE BOND lEASE OBlIGATIONS

(CHF million)  2010 2009 2010 2009

Swiss Franc (CHF)  544 300 - -

Euro (EUR)  3 1 - 1

US Dollar (USD)  - 1 - -

Indian Rupee (INR)  - 1 - -

Colombian Peso (COP)  - - - -

Malagasy Ariary (MGA)  5 6 - -

Malaysian Ringgit (MYR)  - 2 - -

Brazilian Real (BRL)  1 1 - -

Moroccan Dirham (MAD) - - - -

Guinea Franc (GNF)  - 1 - -

Zloty (PLN) - - 1 -

Other  1 1 1 1

TOTAl  554 314 2 2

The main defined benefit pension plans within the Group are in Switzerland, the USA, the UK, the Netherlands, Germany, Italy, 
France and Taiwan. Contributions to most plans are paid to pension funds that are legally separate entities. 

The Group also operates post-employment benefit plans, principally healthcare plans in the USA and in Switzerland. They represent 
a defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2010 of CHF 13 million (2009: CHF 9 million). The method of accounting and the 
frequency of valuation are similar to those used for defined benefit pension plans. Healthcare cost trend assumptions do not have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the income statement.

In 2010, two pension plans previously treated as defined contribution were considered under IAS 19 to be defined benefit and have 
been added to the scope (2009: two).

Reconciliation of assets and liabilities recognised in the balance sheet at 31 December for defined benefit obligations and for  
post-employment benefit plans is as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Present value of funded obligations  749 736

Fair value of plan assets  (672) (657)

NET FuNDED STATuS 77 79

Present value of unfunded obligations  65 56

Past service cost not yet recognised  - -

Limit on pension assets 12 11

NET lIABIlITy 154 146

24RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBlIGATIONS
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Amounts recorded in the income statement:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Current service cost 14 12

Interest cost  38 39

Expected return on plan assets  (41) (36)

Past service (credit) / cost - -

TOTAl INCluDED IN SAlARIES AND WAGES  11 15

Amounts recorded in the statement of comprehensive income:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

CuMulATIVE AMOuNT AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  229 194

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognised in the year  44 21

Limit on pension asset 2 4

Exchange differences  (10) 10

CuMulATIVE AMOuNT AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 265 229

The cumulative amount of gains and losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income amounted to CHF 252 million at 
the end of the period (2009: CHF 218 million).

Movements in the net liability during the period:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

NET lIABIlITy AT 1 JANuARy 146 162

Change in scope 5 (4)

Exchange differences  (14) 3

Expense / (income) recognised in the income statement  11 15

Contributions paid by the Group  (40) (55)

Net liabilities / (assets) assumed in a business combination  - -

Limit on pension asset 2 4

Net actuarial losses / (gains) recognised in the year 44 21

NET lIABIlITy AT 31 DECEMBER 154 146

Change in the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Opening present value of the defined benefit obligation  792 705

Change in scope 5 11

Current service cost  14 12

Interest cost  38 39

Plan participants’ contributions  6 7

Actuarial losses  58 57

Past service (credit) / cost - -

Gains on curtailments - -

Liabilities assumed in a business combination  - -

Exchange differences  (56) 4

Benefits paid (43) (43)

DEFINED BENEFIT OBlIGATION AT 31 DECEMBER 814 792
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Change in fair value of plan assets is as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Opening fair value of plan assets 657 545

Change in scope  - 15

Expected return on plan assets 41 36

Actuarial gains 14 36

Plan participants’ contributions 6 7

Employers contributions 40 55

Assets acquired in a business combination - -

Exchange differences (43) 6

Benefits paid (43) (43)

FAIR VAluE OF PlAN ASSETS AT 31 DECEMBER 672 657

There are no reimbursement rights included in plan assets. The actual return on plan assets was a gain of CHF 55 million  
(2009: gain of CHF 72 million). The Group expects to contribute approximately CHF 30 million to its defined benefit plans in 2011.

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:

(Weighted average %)  2010 2009

Equity securities 41.2 38.5

Debt securities  32.6 36.0

Property 15.6 15.5

Other 10.6 10.0

TOTAl 100.0 100.0

The “Other” assets consist mainly of cash and cash equivalents and assets related to insurance contracts.

SGS occupies property that is included in the Plan assets with a fair value of CHF 5 million (2009: CHF 2 million). The property is 
rented at fair market rental rates. There are no SGS SA shares included in plan assets.

The expected return on plan assets assumption is determined on a uniform basis, considering long-term historical returns, asset 
allocation and portfolio weighting, and future estimates of long-term investment returns.

Actuarial assumptions vary according to local prevailing economic and social conditions. The principal weighted average actuarial 
assumptions used in determining the cost of benefits for both 2010 and 2009 are as follows:

(Weighted average %)  2010 2009

Discount rate  4.4 5.0

Return on assets  6.3 6.3

Salary progression rate  2.8 3.1

Future pension increases  1.1 1.2

Healthcare cost trend assumed for the next year 9.0 9.5

Ultimate trend rate 5.0 5.0

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2019 2019
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Funded status of the retirement benefit obligations for the current and previous periods are as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Defined benefit obligation  814 792 705 813 900

Plan assets (672) (657) (545) (734) (712)

Deficit 142 135 160 79 188

Experience losses / (gains) on plan liabilities (6) (15) 5 4 2

Experience losses / (gains) on plan assets (14) (36) 165 5 (13)

The amount recognised as an expense in respect of defined contribution plans during 2010 was CHF 36 million (2009: CHF 25 million). 

 lEGAl AND WARRANTy DEMOBIlISATION AND  
(CHF million) ClAIMS ON SERVICES RENDERED RE-ORGANISATION OTHER PROVISIONS TOTAl

AT 1 JANuARy 2010 60 47 17 124

Acquisitions of subsidiaries 1 - 6 7

Charge to income statement  15 12 15 42

Release to income statement  (4) (6) (4) (14)

Reclassification  - (5) - (5)

Payments  (11) (14) (4) (29)

Exchange differences  (5) (2) (1) (8)

AT 31 DECEMBER 2010 56 32 29 117

Analysed as:   2010 2009

Current liabilities    17 21

Non-current liabilities   100 103

   117 124

A number of Group companies are subject to litigation and other claims arising out of the normal conduct of their business that 
can be best viewed as claims on services rendered. The claim provision represents the sum of estimates of amounts payable on 
identified claims and of losses incurred but not yet reported. They therefore reflect estimates of the future payments required to 
settle both reported and unreported claims.

The process of estimation is complex, dealing with uncertainty, requiring the use of informed estimates, actuarial assessment, and 
the judgement of management. Any changes in these estimates are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the 
estimates change.

The timing of cash outflows from pending litigation and claims is uncertain since it depends, in the majority of cases, on the 
outcome of administrative and legal proceedings. The Group does not discount its provisions, as the timing of the cash outflows 
cannot be reasonably and reliably determined.

In the opinion of management, based on all currently available information, the provisions adequately reflect exposure to legal and 
warranty claims on services rendered. The ultimate outcome of these matters is not expected to materially affect the Group’s 
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

PROVISIONS
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(CHF million)  2010 2009

Trade payables  167 162

Other payables  104 103

Other financial liabilities  130 123

TOTAl  401 388

Trade accounts and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade 
purchases and ongoing operating costs.

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the Group’s trade accounts and 
other payables approximates the carrying value.

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Accrued expenses 397 413

Advance billings  48 44

Advances from clients  39 42

Derivative liabilities  7 4

TOTAl  491 503

At 31 December 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the Group’s other creditors and 
accruals approximates the carrying value.

CONTINGENT lIABIlITIES
In the normal course of business, the Group and its subsidiaries are parties to various 
lawsuits and claims. Management does not expect that the outcome of any of these 
legal proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows.

26

27

28

For specific long-term contracts, typically with two to five years’ duration, the Group is required to dismantle infrastructure and dismiss 
personnel upon termination of the contract. These demobilisation costs are provided for during the life of the contract.

Experience has shown that these contracts may be either extended or terminated earlier than expected. The timing of these 
demobilisation outflows is difficult to assess. The amounts are therefore not discounted. In some jurisdictions, there is a legal obligation 
to make a termination payment to employees upon leaving the Group. These obligations are included under other provisions.

TRADE 
AND OTHER PAYABLES

OTHER 

CREDITORS AND 
     ACCRUALS
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GuARANTEES
(CHF million)  2010 ISSuED 2009 ISSuED

Guarantees 106 122

Performance bonds  82 88

TOTAl  188 210

The Group has issued unconditional guarantees to certain financial institutions  
that have provided credit facilities (loans and guarantee bonds) to its subsidiaries.  
In addition, it has issued performance bonds and bid bonds to commercial customers 
on behalf of its subsidiaries. Management believes the likelihood that a material 
payment will be required under these guarantees is remote.

OPERATING LEASES
Operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Less than one year 90 79

Between one and five years  146 136

More than five years  27 27

TOTAl  263 242

The Group leases the majority of its office and laboratory space, as well as vehicles 
and equipment. During the year ended 31 December 2010, CHF 127 million was 
recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases 
(2009: CHF 122 million).

29

30

Selected directors and employees of the SGS Group are entitled to participate each year in a share option plan. The benefits consist 
of the right to buy SGS SA shares (accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions) at a predetermined fixed 
price through a traded option plan.

Grants to Directors and members of the Operations Council

A total of 879 264 options granting the right to acquire shares of SGS SA at a strike price of CHF 1 339 (100 options give the right 
to acquire one share and each option expires in January 2015 [these options hereinafter referred to as SGSOP]) were granted to 
the members of the Operations Council and the Board of Directors in 2010. One-third of these options vest or have vested in each 
of the years 2010, 2011 and 2013 and can be exercised or sold between 2013 and 2015. At the date of grant, these options had an 
aggregate value (calculated on the basis required for Swiss tax reporting purposes) of CHF 1 573 883. The estimated fair value at 
the time of grant of the options granted was CHF 2 725 718.

31EQUITY
COMPENSATION 
             PlANS
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Grants to other employees

In 2010, an additional 2 044 085 SGSOP options were granted to employees, other than members of the Operations Council 
and the Board of Directors. One-third of these options vest or have vested in each of the years 2010, 2011 and 2013 and can be 
exercised or sold between 2013 and 2015. At the date of grant, these options had an aggregate value (calculated on the basis 
required for Swiss tax reporting purposes) of CHF 3 658 912. The estimated fair value at the time of grant of the options granted 
was CHF 6 336 664.

Long-Term Incentive plan (LTI)

In 2010, no option was granted under the Group’s long-term incentive plan. Additional information is disclosed under the Director’s 
report on Corporate Governance in this report (pages 64 to 83). In 2010, the Group has granted an additional 73 000 options of the 
discretionary long-term incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) to a member of the Operations Council. The estimated fair value of those 
options granted is CHF 173 010.

   OPTIONS    OPTIONS
 EXERCISE PERIOD STRIKE OuTSTANDING AT    EXERCISED  OuTSTANDING AT
DESCRIPTION FROM TO    PRICE1 31 DECEMBER 2009 GRANTED CANCEllED OR ADJuSTED 31 DECEMBER 2010

SGSMU-Ordinarily issued Jan-08 Jan-10 716.16 238 974 - - (238 974) -

SGSGF-Ordinarily issued  Jan-09 Jan-11 975.14 1 302 663 - - (1 112 002) 190 661

SGSGF-2006 LTI  Jan-09 Jan-11 975.14 2 345 000 - - (2 345 000) -

SGSFS-Ordinarily issued  Jan-10 Jan-12 1 253.00 2 767 146 - (1 000) (1 760 255) 1 005 891

SGSMO-Ordinarily issued  Jan-11 Jan-13 1 295.59 3 401 217 - (110 253) - 3 290 964

SGSMO-2008 LTI  Jan-12 Jan-13 1 295.59 5 847 500 73 000 (705 000) - 5 215 500

SGSGU-Ordinarily issued  Jan-12 Jan-14 1 029.74 4 038 110 - (183 553) - 3 854 557

SGSOP-Ordinarily issued Jan-13 Jan-15 1 312.29 - 2 923 349 (80 538) - 2 842 811

TOTAl     19 940 610 2 996 349 (1 080 344) (5 456 231) 16 400 384

Of which exercisable at 31 December    3 886 637    1 196 552

1. The strike price of the options has been adjusted in accordance with market practice for capital reductions and special dividends.

The fair value of share options granted during the year is based on their market value at grant date. All options are publicly 
traded. The exercise dates are not known to the Group. Correspondingly, the weighted average share price at the date of 
exercise cannot be calculated.

The Group recognised during the year total expenses of CHF 2 million (2009: CHF 13 million) in relation with equity-settled 
share-based payments. The Board has considered the fulfilment of the EPS target of CHF 105 in relation with the long-term 
incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) as unlikely and has consequently decided to reverse the CHF 9 million expense previously 
recognised for these options.

Shares available for future option plans:
  TOTAl

AT 1 JANuARy 2009  83 233

Repurchased shares  7 188

Options granted  (40 771)

Options cancelled   4 897

AT 31 DECEMBER 2009  54 547

Repurchased shares   -

Options granted  (34 545)

Options cancelled   11 217

AT 31 DECEMBER 2010  31 219
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32 Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of 
the Group, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in the note.

COMPENSATION TO DIRECTORS AND MEMBERS OF THE OPERATIONS COuNCIl

The remuneration of Directors and members of the Operations Council during  
the year was as follows:

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Short-term benefits  14 14

Post-employment benefits  1 1

Share-based payments 1 3 5

Severance payments 0 -

TOTAl  18 20

1. Market value at grant date.

The remuneration of Directors and members of the Operations Council is determined by the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee. Additional information is disclosed under the Directors’ report on Corporate Governance in this report (pages 64 to 83).

During 2010 and 2009, no member of the Board of Directors or of the Operations Council had a personal interest in any business 
transactions of the Group.

The Chairman of the Board and the Operations Council (including Senior Management) participate in the share option plans as 
disclosed in note 31.

In 2010, Directors’ fees were CHF 1 645 000 (2009: CHF 1 605 000). In addition, the Chairman of the Board received options for  
a total value of CHF 155 000 (2009: CHF 237 680).

The total compensation (cash and options) received by the Operations Council (including Senior Management) amounted to  
CHF 14 816 728 (2009: CHF 16 343 895).

Disclosure of compensation paid to the Board of Directors and Senior Management, as required by Swiss law is presented in the 
notes to the accounts of SGS SA on pages 140 to 147 of this report.

At 31 December 2010, the Group had the following shares available to satisfy the option and share purchase plan programmes:

   

 2010 TOTAl 2009 TOTAl
 

Number of unallocated shares held  231 178 321 076

Shares held for 2005 option plans  - (13 566)

Shares held for 2006 option plans  (16 093) (92 116)

Shares held for 2007 option plans  (29 843) (28 211)

Shares held for 2008 option plans  (85 692) (92 250)

Shares held for 2009 option plans  (39 320) (40 386)

Shares held for 2010 option plans  (29 011) -

SHARES AVAIlABlE  FOR FuTuRE OPTION PlANS AT 31 DECEMBER 31 219 54 547

The Group has entered into agreements with various banks, whereby the Group has an obligation to offer to sell to the banks the shares 
underlying the option programme at the relevant strike price whenever these shares become unblocked. The banks are not obliged to 
purchase these shares.

RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS
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SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS

lOANS TO MEMBERS OF GOVERNING BODIES

As at 31 December 2010, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the Company from members of its governing bodies 
(unchanged from prior year).

TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RElATED PARTIES

During the year, the Group performed inspection, verification, testing and certification services for other related parties on normal 
commercial terms generating total revenues of CHF 15.9 million (2009: CHF 15.2 million). Related trade receivable balances unpaid 
as at 31 December 2010 amounted to CHF 4.6 million (2009: CHF 4.2 million). These trade receivable balances are to be settled 
in cash when due and are linked to no specific performance bonds or guarantees. No expense was incurred in 2010 and in 2009 in 
respect of any bad or doubtful debts due from these related parties.

As at 31 December 2010, Exor held 15.00% (2009: 15.00%), Mr. August von Finck 
and members of his family acting in concert held 14.96% (2009: 14.96%), the Bank  
of New York Mellon Corporation held 4.99% (2009: 3.01%), Allianz SE held 4.97%  
(2009: 7.40%), The Capital Group Companies held 3.51% (2009: 3.51%) of the share 
capital and voting rights of the Company. 

At the same date, SGS Group held 2.97% of the share capital of the Company  
(2009: 4.12%).

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and presentation of  
the financial statements. These financial statements were authorised for issue  
by the Board of Directors on 21 January 2011, and will be submitted for approval  
by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders’ to be held on 15 March 2011.

Effective 1 January 2011, the Group acquired:

- 100% of International Electrical Certification Center, Ltd. (IECC), a leading 
independent laboratory providing third-party testing, in Hong Kong. IECC employs  
22 staff members and generated revenue of more than CHF 1 million in 2010.

- 100% of Tianjin Tianbao Construction Material Testing Co, Ltd. (Tianbao) in  
Tianjin (China). Tianbao is the leading construction materials testing laboratory  
in the Tianjin Binhai Development Zone and employs 15 staff members.

- A characterisation business in Ellesmere Port (UK), formerly run by LGC Group.  
With a team of 8 highly specialised members and serving mainly the Oil, Gas & 
Chemical industry, the laboratory generated revenue in excess of CHF 1 million in 2010.

- 80% of NviroCrop, a leading South African precision agriculture services, in 
Potchefstroom (South Africa). With 17 staff operating from Potchefstroom, 
Langebaan, Johannesburg, a representative office in Lusaka Zambia and operations  
in Namibia, NviroCrop has generated revenue in excess of CHF 2.5 million in 2010.

33
APPROVAL OF 

FINANCIAl STATEMENTS AND 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
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REPORT OF THE STATuTORy AuDITOR
To the General Meeting of 

SGS SA, GENEVA

REPORT ON THE CONSOlIDATED FINANCIAl STATEMENTS

As statutory auditor, we have audited the consolidated financial statements of the SGS Group presented on pages 86 to 130,  
which comprise the income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet, statement of cash flows, statement  
of changes in equity and notes for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law, Swiss Auditing Standards and International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Those standards require that we plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 give a true and fair view of the financial 
position, the results of operations and the cash flows in accordance with IFRS and comply with Swiss law.

REPORT ON OTHER lEGAl REQuIREMENTS

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 
(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the instructions of 
the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

DELOITTE SA

Peter Quigley Fabien Bryois
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 21 January 2011
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No environment is without risk. 

There are always things that 

could go wrong and the worst-

case scenario is that people get 

hurt. When you put this into an 

industrial or business context 

there are financial implications 

as well. Customers would view 

any accidents as negligence, 

which would affect their 

purchase decisions. Whatever 

the industry, carefully performing 

risk assessments and executing 

measures to make working 

environments as safe as possible 

can only have positive outcomes. 

Through the ISO18001 Standard 

SGS ensures organisations have 

effective occupational health and 

safety systems in place to protect 

employees. By identifying hazards 

and controlling risks customer 

confidence is generated, public 

image maintained and insurance, 

litigation and loss costs minimised.

Attention 

- SAfETy 
       

CREATES success
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incoMe stAteMent
FoR the yeARs ended 31 deceMbeR

(CHF million)  2010 2009

incoMe  

Dividends from subsidiaries 123 779

Interest income 24 37

Other income 1 1

Liquidation of subsidiaries, net 3 -

Exchange gain, net - 2

totAL incoMe 151 819
  

eXPendituRe  

Administrative expenses (4) (5)

Liquidation of subsidiaries, net - (1)

Depreciation (1) (1)

financial expenses (18) (21)

Movement in provisions (3) 12

Exchange loss, net (13) -

totAL eXPendituRe (39) (16)
  

PRoFit  

Profit before taxes 112 803

Taxes (9) (11)

PRoFit FoR the yeAR 103 792
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bALAnce sheet At 31 deceMbeR
(beFoRe APPRoPRiAtion oF AvAiLAbLe RetAined eARninGs)

(CHF million)  2010 2009

Assets  

non-cuRRent Assets  

Land and buildings 3 4

Financial assets  

Investments in subsidiaries 920 947

Loans to subsidiaries 465 332

totAL non-cuRRent Assets 1 388 1 283
  

cuRRent Assets  

Amounts due from subsidiaries 183 322

Other current assets 12 5

Cash and cash equivalents 317 379

totAL cuRRent Assets 512 706

totAL Assets 1 900 1 989
  

eQuity And LiAbiLities  

cAPitAL And ReseRves  

Share capital 8 8

General reserve 34 34

Reserve for own shares 181 238

Retained earnings 558 857

totAL eQuity 781 1 137
  

LiAbiLities  

Non-Current liabilities  

Corporate bond 550 -

Current liabilities  

Provisions 35 34

Amounts due to subsidiaries  524 505

Other liabilities and accruals  10 13

Bank loans - 300

totAL LiAbiLities 1 119 852

totAL eQuity And LiAbiLities 1 900 1 989
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SGS SA (“the Company”) is the ultimate parent company of the  

SGS Group which owns and finances, either directly or indirectly,  

its subsidiaries and joint ventures throughout the world. The financial 

statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles 

required by Swiss law. During the year, there were no changes in the 

accounting policies, however, certain comparative information for  

the period ended 31 December 2009 has been reclassified in order  

to conform to the current year presentation, with no impact on the  

income statement.

NOTES

1
investMents in subsidiARies

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at acquisition cost less an adjustment for impairment.

FoReiGn cuRRencies

Balance sheet items denominated in foreign currencies are converted at year end exchange rates with the exception of investments 
in subsidiaries which are valued at the historical exchange rate. All unrealised gains and losses arising on foreign exchange 
transactions are included in the determination of the net profit except long-term unrealised gains which are deferred.

RecLAssiFicAtion

The reclassification made relates to an amount of CHf 320 million previously classified as “loans to subsidiaries” in non-current 
assets which has been reclassified to “amounts due from subsidiaries” in current assets. The revised classification better reflects 
the nature of these advances to subsidiaries.

Risk AssessMent

Risks potentially threatening the Group’s ability to meet its strategic objectives are monitored on an ongoing basis by the Board  
of Directors through the approval of all major investments, transactions and changes by the Operations Council. In addition,  
in conjunction with the Operations Council, an annual risk assessment process is conducted to ensure the Group is responding 
effectively to changes in economic conditions, market dynamics and internal mutations.

The annual risk assessment process is conducted in three stages. Individual members of the Operations Council, on a rotation 
basis, are requested to identify the key risks for their areas of responsibility that could prevent the Group from delivering its strategy 
and achieving its business objectives. All such risks are then ranked according to their potential significance, their likelihood and 
how effective management has been at managing the exposure. By applying this framework, the key business risks profile of  
the Group across geographies and business segments is identified and tracked from one year to the next.

On behalf of the full Board of Directors, the Audit Committee reviews and discusses with management, in the presence of  
the external auditors, the outcome of the above risk assessment process. Special focus is placed on ensuring that the risk profile 
covers all areas of concern identified by the Board and that the Operations Council has put in place internal controls to monitor  
the evolution of such risks and mitigate their likely impact at an early stage. The outcome of the above process was approved by 
the Board of Directors on 22 October 2010.

siGniFicAnt 

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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SHARE CAPITAL

issued shARe cAPitAL

SGS SA has a share capital of CHf 7 822 436 (2009: CHf 7 822 436) fully paid-in and divided into 7 822 436 (2009: 7 822 436) 
registered shares of a par value of CHf 1. All shares, other than own shares, participate equally in the dividends declared by the 
Company and have equal voting rights.

3
    totAL shARe
    cAPitAL 

 shARes in ciRcuLAtion tReAsuRy shARes totAL shARes issued (CHF million)

bALAnce At 1 JAnuARy 2009 7 473 436 349 000 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation 33 638 (33 638) - -

Treasury shares purchased, net (7 188) 7 188 - -

bALAnce At 31 deceMbeR 2009 7 499 886 322 550 7 822 436 8

Treasury shares released into circulation 89 898 (89 898) - -

bALAnce At 31 deceMbeR 2010 7 589 784 232 652 7 822 436 8

(CHF million) shARe cAPitAL GeneRAL ReseRve ReseRve FoR own shARes RetAined eARninGs totAL

bALAnce At 1 JAnuARy 2009 8 34 253 427 722

Dividends paid - - - (377) (377)

Decrease in the reserve for own shares - - (15) 15 -

Profit for the year - - - 792 792

bALAnce At 31 deceMbeR 2009 8 34 238 857 1 137

Dividends paid - - - (459) (459)

Decrease in the reserve for own shares - - (57) 57 -

Profit for the year - - - 103 103

bALAnce At 31 deceMbeR 2010 8 34 181 558 781

TOTAL eQuity
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4 The Company has no unsecured bank loans (2009: CHf 300 million) under bilateral 
credit commitments.

On 19 August 2010, SGS SA issued a six-year corporate bond for a total of  
CHf 550 million with a coupon of 1.875%. The bond has an issue price of  
100.346% and a redemption price of 100%. The Group has listed the bond on  
the SIX Swiss Exchange.

GUARANTEES
(CHF million) 2010 issued 2010 utiLised  2009 issued 2009 utiLised

Guaranteed 124 74 136 73

Performance bonds 14 14 22 22

totAL 138 88 158 95

The Company has unconditionally guaranteed or provided comfort to financial 
institutions providing credit facilities (loans and guarantee bonds) to its subsidiaries.  
In addition, it has issued performance bonds to commercial customers on behalf  
of its subsidiaries. 

The company is part of a VAT Group comprising itself and other Group companies  
in Switzerland.

tReAsuRy shARes

On 31 December 2010, SGS SA held, directly or indirectly, 192 954 of its own shares for which SGS SA has recorded a “reserve for 
own shares”. In addition, in the consolidated financial statements, SGS SA also recognises as treasury shares 39 698 shares held 
by the foundation (fondation pour l’Intéressement du Personnel au Développement du Groupe SGS).

In 2010, a total of 89 898 treasury shares, of which 29 080 held by the foundation, were released to cover option rights.  
There were no purchases of treasury shares during the year.

AuthoRised And conditionAL issue oF shARe cAPitAL

The Board of Directors has the authority to increase the share capital of the Company by a maximum of 500 000 registered shares 
of a par value of CHf 1 each, corresponding to a maximum increase of CHf 500 000 in share capital. The Board is authorised to 
issue the new shares at the market conditions prevailing at the time of issue. In the event that the new shares are issued for an 
acquisition, the Board is authorised to waive the shareholders’ preferential right of subscription, or to allocate such subscription 
rights to third parties. The authority delegated by the shareholders to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital is valid 
until 24 March 2011.

The shareholders have conditionally approved an increase of share capital in the amount of CHf 1 100 000 divided into  
1 100 000 registered shares of a par value of CHf 1 each. This conditional share capital increase is intended to obtain the shares 
necessary to meet the Company’s obligations with respect to employee share option plans and option or conversion rights to be 
incorporated in convertible bonds or similar equity-linked instruments that the Board is authorised to issue. The right to subscribe  
to such conditional capital is reserved to beneficiaries or employee share option plans and holders of convertible bonds or similar 
debt instruments and therefore excludes shareholders’ preferential rights of subscription. The Board is authorised to determine  
the timing and conditions of such issues, provided that they reflect prevailing market conditions. The term of exercise of the options 
or conversion rights may not exceed 10 years from the date of issuance of the equity-linked instruments.

bAnk LoAns
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(CHF million) 2010 2009

Buildings 15 15

8.1. coMPAny’s  

ReMuneRAtion PoLicies

The Group’s overriding compensation 
policies are defined by the Board of 
Directors. The objectives of these 
policies are twofold: a) to attract and 
retain the best talent available in the 
industry; and b) to motivate employees 
and managers to create value for 
shareholders by generating long-term 
sustainable financial achievements.

The Board of Directors is responsible  
for determining the remuneration of  
the Chairman and the directors.  
It also decides on the remuneration 
and terms of employment of the Chief 
Executive Officer, based upon the 
recommendations of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee.  

It additionally determines the financial 
targets upon which the variable 
element of the remuneration of the 
Operations Council and other Group 
senior executives is based, and defines 
the conditions of all share option plans 
(including Long-Term Incentive (LTI) 
plans) as well as the allocation of such 
options and the conditions of their 
granting, vesting and exercise. All 
general executive remuneration policies, 
including the criteria and weighting 
of financial targets relevant to the 
assessment of the variable element of 
executive remuneration, are approved by 
the Board of Directors. 

The Board of Directors is assisted 
in its work by a Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee which 
consists of independent non-executive 

Directors. The Committee acts in part in 
a consultative capacity to the Board, and 
in part as a decision-making body on 
matters that the Board has delegated to 
the Committee. The Committee reviews 
regularly, at least once a year, the 
compensation of each member of  
the Operations Council (other than the 
Chief Operating Officer), and decides  
on all matters relating to the 
remuneration of these executives. 

Neither the Chairman of the Board nor 
the Chief Executive Officer is allowed to 
participate in discussions and decisions 
on their own compensation. General 
executive remuneration policies, 
including the implementation of  
long-term incentive plans, are decided 
by the Board, on the recommendation  
of the Committee.

8

6fIRE INSURANCE 
                                                        vALue oF 

                                                       FiXed Assets

coMPensAtion, 
SHAREHOLDINGS 
                         And LoAns

subsidiARies
The list of principal group subsidiaries appears in the Annual Report  
(pages 157 to 160).

The net gain on liquidation of subsidiaries relates to SGS Luxembourg Ltd.  
It arises from liabilities of SGS SA not paid, CHf 40 million, less loss on write off  
of investment, CHf 37 million.
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The following Directors served on 
the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee in 2010:

•	 Sergio Marchionne (Chairman)

•	 August von finck

•	 Tiberto Ruy Brandolini d’Adda

The Chief Executive Officer attends  
all meetings of the Committee,  
except when his own remuneration  
is being discussed.

When reviewing and deciding on 
executive remuneration policies, the 
Committee and the Board have access 
to the Group Human Resources staff 
and may use third party consultants 
specializing in compensation matters. 
In 2010, neither the Committee nor the 
Board had recourse to such external 
advisors. In discharging their duties in 
relation to compensation, they have 
relied on advice from the Group Human 
Resources department and on publicly 
available information on director and 
executive management remuneration 
paid by other Swiss companies and,  
as applicable, on available comparable 
data in the relevant location and / or 
industrial segment.

The Group’s executive compensation 
consists of a fixed base salary (including 
benefits), and a variable remuneration 
in the form of an annual bonus and 
long-term incentive plans. The policies 
described here apply to all members of 
the Operations Council, including the 
Chief Executive Officer.

Employment contracts

Employment contracts of Operations 
Council members have no fixed term 
and can be terminated at any time by 
either party, provided a standard notice 
period (from three to six months) is 
respected. The Chief Executive Officer’s 
employment contract provides for a 
severance payment equivalent to two 
years total remuneration payable in the 
event that the employment contract  
is terminated or constructively 
terminated (including in the event of 
a change of control) by the Company, 
other than for cause. No severance 
payment is due if the employment 
relationship is terminated in any  
other circumstance.

Base salary

The base salary is reviewed annually, 
on the basis of market data for similar 
positions and on an individual’s 

performance. Additional employment 
benefits are paid depending on standard 
practice in the location of employment. 
Such employment benefits include a car 
allowance and, if applicable, a housing 
allowance and tuition fees allowance  
for children. 

Geneva based Operations Council 
members participate, on the same basis 
as other Swiss employees of the Group, 
in the Company’s pension schemes, 
being one defined benefit scheme 
established in accordance with the 
Swiss LPP regulations up to an insured 
amount of CHf 100 000 and one defined 
contribution scheme for pensionable 
remuneration in excess of CHf 100 000 
up to a maximum of CHf 820 800  
per year.

Employees contribute 8% of their base 
salary and the Company contributes an 
amount equal to one and a half times 
the contributions paid by all employees 
to the scheme.

Annual bonus

In addition to the base salary, members 
of the Operations Council (including the 
Chief Executive Officer) are entitled to 
a performance-related annual bonus 
which, if pre-defined financial targets are 
met, results in an incentive payment of 
between 30% and 70% of base salary. 
If targets are exceeded, annual bonuses 
are increased on a multiplier basis with 
a maximum payout equal to a range of 
75% to 175% of base salary.

In the event of underperformance 
against targets, the bonus is ratably 
reduced on a multiplier basis, so that 
no bonus is paid in the event that a 
pre-established minimum target is not 
achieved. Annual bonus amounts (as a 
percentage of base salary) and financial /
operational targets are approved in 
advance by the Board. 

Bonuses awarded to Operations 
Council members are assessed on 
the basis of the actual performance of 
the Group as a whole, of the relevant 
business segments and of operations 
against specific financial targets. for 
EVPs, 50% of the target is based on 
Group objectives with the remaining 
50% related to targets specific to their 
business line. for COOs, 50% of the 
target is based on Group objectives with 
the remaining 50% related to targets 
specific to their respective region’s 
financial targets. Variable remuneration 

of the Chief Executive Officer and of the 
heads of corporate functions (SVPs) is 
based 100% on Group targets. 

Once the amount of a bonus is 
determined, it is settled 50% in cash 
and 50% in options. Although such 
options are granted immediately, they 
vest ratably over a period of three years 
and are only exercisable in the fourth 
and fifth year after grant.

Discretionary bonus

The Board of Directors and Committee 
may also grant discretionary cash 
bonuses to individual Operations Council 
Members to reward outstanding personal 
performance. for 2010, an amount of 
CHf 420 000 (2009: CHf 730 000) of 
discretionary bonuses was awarded to 
Operations Council members (including 
the Chief Executive Officer).

Long-term incentive plans

In addition to the annual bonus, the 
Group periodically sets long-term 
incentive (LTI) plans. Such plans are 
designed to motivate the leadership 
team to achieve the long-term stated 
objectives of the Group. They consist of 
options granted to a selected number 
of senior executives of the Group the 
vesting of which is conditional upon 
(1) the Group achieving or exceeding 
stated earnings per share targets and (2) 
the beneficiary being employed by the 
Group on the vesting date. 

In 2008, the Company introduced a long-
term incentive plan (the 2008 LTI Plan) 
which is conditional upon achieving or 
exceeding an EPS target of CHf 105 in 
2011. The 2008 LTI Plan involves the 
granting of options to acquire shares  
of the Company at a strike price of  
CHf 1 349. Such options are in the form 
of traded warrants, with 100 warrants 
required to purchase one share. The 
Group originally set aside 5 937 500 such 
warrants for this incentive plan (see note 
31 to the Group consolidated financial 
statements). This plan was designed to 
motivate the leadership team to achieve 
the long-term stated objective by 2011. 
No other long-term incentive plans are 
currently in force in the Group, and no 
further LTI plans were introduced in 2010.

full details of this long-term incentive 
plan are provided in note 31 to the Group 
consolidated financial statements  
(Pages 127 to 128 of the Annual Report).
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Relationship between annual variable compensation and base salary

The portion of fixed and variable remuneration, as a percentage of the total remuneration in any given year, depends on the 
extent to which pre-defined targets and objectives have been achieved. for the Chief Executive Officer, whose variable cash 
compensation is potentially greater than the fixed element, the proportion of the fixed and variable components compared to  
the total cash compensation is presented as follows:

Total cash compensation:

(%) beLow MiniMuM tARGet PeRFoRMAnce on tARGet PeRFoRMAnce MAXiMuM PeRFoRMAnce

Base salary 100 68 46

Variable cash remuneration 0 32 54 

In 2010, the variable element of the Chief Executive Officer’s cash remuneration represented 32% of the total cash  
compensation (2009: 37%).

for the Operations Council as a whole, the variable element of the cash remuneration in 2010 amounted to 28% of total cash 
compensation (2009: 29%).

The following table shows the vesting period and the exercisable period of the options 1 granted to the Chairman of the Board and 
to the members of the Operation Council under each plan:

 vestinG vestinG vestinG 
 dAte 1 / 3 dAte 1 / 3 dAte 1 / 3 eXeRcisAbLe

SGSMO (2008) 01.2008 07.2009 01.2011 01.2011 – 01.2013 

SGSMO-2008 LTI (2008)   01.2012 2 01.2012 – 01.2013 

SGSGU (2009) 01.2009 07.2010 01.2012 01.2012 – 01.2014 

SGSOP (2010) 01.2010 07.2011 01.2013 01.2013 – 01.2015

1. One hunderd options give the right to acquire one share.

2. Vesting conditional on EPS target reached in 2011.
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       totAL 2010
      totAL cAsh   ReMuneRAtion
 dAte oF boARd coMMittee otheR ReMuneRAtion shARe (incLudinG
(CHF thousand) APPointMent Fee Fee beneFits 2010 oPtions oPtions)

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 155 1 570 

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda Mar-05 150 30  180  180 2

A. von finck Oct-98 150 30  180  180

A.f. von finck May-02 150 30  180  180

P. Kalantzis Mar-09 150 30  180  180

T. Limberger Mar-08 150 -  150  150

S.R. du Pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180

C. Barel di Sant’Albano Mar-09 150 30  180  180 2

totAL  1 350 270 25 1 645 155 1 800

1. 2010: annual allocation 50 000 SGSOP: CHF 155 000. 

2. Board and committee fees for T.R. Brandolini d’Adda and C.Barel di Sant’Albano have been paid to Exor Investissements SA, Luxembourg.

The following chart details the fees and other cash benefits paid to each of the Directors during 2009:

       totAL 2009
      totAL cAsh   ReMuneRAtion
 dAte oF boARd coMMittee otheR ReMuneRAtion shARe (incLudinG
(CHF thousand) APPointMent Fee Fee beneFits 2009 oPtions oPtions)

S. Marchionne May-01 300 90 25 415 238 1 653

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda Mar-05 150 30  180  180 2

A. von finck Oct-98 150 30  180  180

A.f. von finck May-02 150 30  180  180

P. Kalantzis Mar-09 116 23  139  139

T. Limberger Mar-08 150 -  150  150

S.R. du Pasquier Mar-06 150 30  180  180

C. Barel di Sant’Albano Mar-09 116 23  139  139 2

P. Lebard May-05 35 7  42  42 2

totAL  1 317 263 25 1 605 238 1 843

1. 2009: annual allocation 96 619 SGSGU: CHF 237 683 

2. Board and committee fees related to T.R. Brandolini d’Adda, P. Lebard and C. Barel di Sant’Albano have been paid to  

    Exor Investissements SA, Luxembourg.

8.2. coMPensAtion FoR MeMbeRs oF GoveRninG bodies

8.2.1. Directors

In 2010, each Board member was entitled to a fixed board membership fee of CHf 150 000 per annum, unchanged from the prior 
year. Members of the Board serving on a Committee were entitled to an additional fee of CHf 30 000 per committee, unchanged 
from last year.

Directors do not hold service contracts, and are not entitled to any termination payments. They do not participate in the Company’s 
share option plans (except for the Chairman) or other benefit schemes and the Company does not make any pension contributions 
on their behalf. The remuneration of the Chairman of the Board is detailed in section 8.2.2. 

8.2.2. Chairman of the Board’s remuneration

As non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors, Sergio Marchionne is entitled to a fixed board membership fee of  
CHf 300 000 per annum, unchanged since last year. 

The Chairman of the Board receives, by decision of the Board of Directors, share options in an amount in principle equal to 25% 
of the options granted to the Chief Executive Officer, under the same conditions of award, vesting and exercise. In 2010, 50 000 
SGSOP options were awarded to the Chairman of the Board (2009: 96 619 SGSGU).

8.2.3. Directors’ remuneration

The following chart details the fees and other cash benefits paid to each of the Directors during 2010:
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The following table shows the details of the options 1 granted to the Chairman of the Board under each plan:

 tyPe oF stRike nuMbeR oF MARket vALue  nuMbeR 
 oPtions  PRice 2  oPtions GRAnted At GRAnt  vested
 (yeAR oF issue) (CHF)  31 deceMbeR 2010 (CHF)  in 2010

SGSMO (2008) 1 349 81 354 192 809   54 236

SGSMO-2008 LTI (2008) 3 1 349 187 500 444 375   -

SGSGU (2009) 1 064 96 619 237 683   64 413

SGSOP (2010) 1 339 50 000 155 000   16 667

1. One hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. Original strike price. 

3. Vesting conditional on EPS target reached in 2011.

8.2.4. Compensation paid to the Operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer

This section sets out the global remuneration which was paid to the Operations Council as a whole, to the three Operations Council 
members who make up Senior Management and to the Chief Executive Officer during 2010.

All amounts disclosed in this section include cash bonuses payable and options granted in 2011 with respect to performance in 
2010 and the related financial results.

8.2.4.1. Cash compensation

(CHF) 2010 2009

To the Operations Council (including Senior Management) 12 073 000 11 870 000

To Senior Management (including Chief Executive Officer) 2 630 000 2 670 000

To the Chief Executive Officer 1 428 000 1 520 000

The total cash compensation paid to the Operations Council excludes severance payments (see section 8.2.4.5.). Post employment 
benefits of CHf 1 318 000 are not included (2009: CHf 1 311 000).

8.2.4.2. Share options

In settlement of annual bonus entitlements, a total of 829 264 SGSOP options (2009: 1 770 486 SGSGU options) were granted  
to the Operations Council (including Senior Management) on the basis of results in 2010.

Such SGSOP options grant the right to acquire shares of SGS at a strike price of CHf 1 339 (100 options give the right to acquire 
one share). They vest in tranches of one-third in 2010, 2011 and 2013 and are subject to a blocking period ending in January 2013. 
All options granted to the Operations Council on the basis of the 2010 results had a fair value at grant of CHf 2 570 718  
(2009: CHf 4 355 396). 

The Senior Management was awarded a total of 92 803 SGSOP options (2009: 522 453 SGSGU options). This number includes  
42 647 SGSOP options (2009: 386 474 SGSGU options) awarded to the Chief Executive Officer.

The Group has granted an additional 73 000 options of the discretionary long-term incentive plan (SGSMO-2008 LTI) to a member 
of the Operations Council. These options will vest January 2012 if the EPS target for 2011 is reached. The estimated fair value of 
those options granted is CHf 173 010.
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The following table presents details of the share options 1 awarded to members of the Operations Council, Senior Management and 
the CEO, and shows those options which have been granted, vested and / or became exercisable in 2010. This table relates to the 
individuals who were members of the Operations Council as at 31 December 2010:

8.2.4.3. Total compensation paid to the Operations Council, Senior Management and Chief Executive Officer 

Taking into account the fair value of options at grant date, a total compensation (base salary and annual bonus including options 
granted) was recognised in 2010 as follows:

(CHF) 2010 2009

To the Operations Council (including Senior Management) 14 816 728 16 343 895

To Senior Management (including Chief Executive Officer) 2 917 689 3 955 234

To the Chief Executive Officer 1 560 206 2 470 726

 tyPe oF stRike nuMbeR oF MARket vALue  nuMbeR 
 oPtions  PRice 2  oPtions GRAnted At GRAnt  vested
 (yeAR oF issue) (CHF)  31 deceMbeR 2010 (CHF)  in 2010

oPeRAtions counciL (incLudinG senioR MAnAGeMent And chieF eXecutive oFFiceR)

SGSMO (2008) 1 349 1 014 841 2 405 173   676 561

SGSMO-2008 LTI (2008) 3 1 349 3 533 000 8 373 210   -

SGSGU (2009) 1 064 1 458 366 3 587 580   972 244

SGSOP (2010) 1 339 727 213 2 254 360   242 404

senioR MAnAGeMent (incLudinG chieF eXecutive oFFiceR)

SGSMO (2008) 1 349 309 655 733 882   206 439

SGSMO-2008 LTI (2008) 3 1 349 890 000 2 109 300   -

SGSGU (2009) 1 064 442 177 1 087 755   294 785

SGSOP (2010) 1 339 92 803 287 689   30 934

chieF eXecutive oFFiceR

SGSMO (2008) 1 349 272 627 646 126   181 751

SGSMO-2008 LTI (2008) 3 1 349 750 000 1 777 500   -

SGSGU (2009) 1 064 386 474 950 726   257 649

SGSOP (2010) 1 339 42 647 132 206   14 216

1. One hundred options give the right to acquire one share. 

2. Original strike price. 

3. Vesting conditional on EPS target reached in 2011.
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8.2.4.4. Highest total compensation

In the year under review, the highest compensation paid by the Group was awarded to the CEO (see 8.2.4.3).

8.2.4.5. Severance payments

In 2010, an amount of CHf 400 000 was recognised as severance payments to Operations Council members (2009: CHf 0). 

8.2.4.6. Loans to members of governing bodies

As at 31 December 2010, no loan, credit or outstanding advance was due to the Company from members of its governing bodies 
(unchanged from prior year).

8.3. shARes And oPtions heLd by MeMbeRs oF GoveRninG bodies

8.3.1. Shares and options held by Members of the Board of Directors

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2010:

 sGsFs sGsMo sGsGu sGsoP shARes      

S. Marchionne  81 354 54 236 64 413 16 666 700

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda     1

A. von finck      19 670

A.f. von finck      438 000

P. Kalantzis     20

S.R. du Pasquier     10

C. Barel di Sant’Albano     10

T. Limberger     1

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Members of the Board of Directors as at 31 December 2009:

 sGsGF sGsFs sGsMo sGsGu shARes      

S. Marchionne  150 000 54 236 54 236 32 206 50

T.R. Brandolini d’Adda     1

A. von finck      19 670

A.f. von finck      438 000

P. Kalantzis     20

S.R. du Pasquier     10

C. Barel di Sant’Albano     10 

T. Limberger     1
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8.3.2. Shares and options held by Senior Management

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Senior Management as at 31 December 2010:

 coRPoRAte     
 ResPonsibiLity  sGsFs sGsMo sGsGu sGsoP shARes

 Chief Executive  
C. Kirk Officer  86 064 181 750 257 648 14 215 1 199

 Chief financial  
G. Matchett Officer  20 926 18 018 23 080 7 873 -

 General Counsel &  
O. Merkt Chief Compliance Officer  5 000 6 666 14 054 8 845 35 
   

The following table shows the shares and vested options held by Senior Management as at 31 December 2009:

 coRPoRAte       
 ResPonsibiLity  sGsGF sGsFs sGsMo sGsGu shARes

 Chief Executive     
C. Kirk Officer  582 741 57 376 181 750 128 825 1 199

 Chief financial     
R. Tobin Officer  150 000 44 007 56 203 38 230 -

 General Counsel &     
O. Merkt Chief Compliance Officer  20 000 6 666 6 666 7 027 35

As at 31 December 2010, Exor held 15.00% (2009: 15.00%), Mr. August von finck 
and members of his family acting in concert held 14.96% (2009: 14.96%), the Bank  
of New york Mellon Corporation held 4.99% (2009: 3.01%), Allianz SE held 4.97%  
(2009: 7.40%), The Capital Group Companies held 3.51% (2009: 3.51%) of the share 
capital and voting rights of the Company. 

At the same date, SGS Group held 2.97% of the share capital of the Company  
(2009: 4.12%).

9 siGniFicAnt 

SHAREHOLDERS
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PRoPosAL oF the boARd oF diRectoRs FoR the APPRoPRiAtion  
oF AvAiLAbLe RetAined eARninGs

(CHF)  2010 2009

Profit for the year 102 998 162 792 449 459

Balance brought forward from previous year 402 431 864 50 314 847

Dividend paid on own shares released into circulation in 2009  
prior to the Annual General Meeting on 22 March 2009 - (1 681 899)

Dividend paid on own shares released into circulation in 2010   
prior to the Annual General Meeting on 22 March 2010 (3 649 080) -

Reversal from the reserve for own shares  56 273 566 15 469 297

totAL RetAined eARninGs AvAiLAbLe FoR APPRoPRiAtion  558 054 512 856 551 704

Proposal of the board of Directors:  

Dividends 1 (495 916 330) (454 119 840)

bALAnce cARRied FoRwARd 62 138 182 402 431 864

Ordinary gross dividend per registered share  30.00 30.00

Additional gross dividend per registered share  35.00 30.00

1. No dividend is paid on own shares held directly or indirectly by SGS SA.
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RePoRt oF the stAtutoRy AuditoR
To the General Meeting of 

sGs sA, GenevA

RePoRt on the FinAnciAL stAteMents

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of SGS SA presented on pages 134 to 148, which comprise the 
income statement, balance sheet and notes for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss 
law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal 
control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making 
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control 
system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An 
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010 comply with Swiss law and the company’s articles 
of incorporation.

RePoRt on otheR LeGAL ReQuiReMents

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 
(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control 
system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the  
Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s articles of 
incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

DELOITTE SA

Peter Quigley fabien Bryois
Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert
Auditor in Charge

Geneva, 16 January 2011
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Every smart invention is driven by 

necessity. While novelties might 

attract fleeting interest, what 

really counts is finding solutions 

that make things work better, 

easier, faster or more profitably. 

All industries rely on the smooth 

operation of interconnected 

processes, each playing a vital  

role in a product’s production.  

By mechanising these processes 

using various tools and 

technologies organisations can 

streamline their operations.  

As robotic technologies develop 

they provide answers to 

manufacturing problems that  

meet the needs of industry.

SGS advises organisations on 

how to improve their operating 

efficiencies. Our expert knowledge 

of available and future technologies 

allows us to provide creative 

solutions when and where they  

are needed.

Necessity 
 Not

 nOvElTy 
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sGs GRoUP FiVe-yeAR stAtisticAL DAtA iNcoMe stAteMeNts
FoR the yeARs eNDeD 31 DeceMbeR

(CHF million)  2010 2009 1 2008 1 2007 1 2006 1

ReVeNUe 4 757 4 712 4 818 4 372 3 821

Salaries and wages (2 228) (2 229) (2 243) (2 097) (1 847)

Subcontractors’ expenses (313) (319) (331) (307) (263)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment (225) (228) (214) (197) (172)

Other operating expenses (1 155) (1 142) (1 093) (1 081) (915)

oPeRAtiNG iNcoMe (ebit) 836 794 937 690 624

Analysis of operating income

 Adjusted operating income 848 822 817 716 609

 Amortisation of acquisition intangibles (8) (8) (7) (5) (4)

 Restructuring costs - (20) - (21) (19)

 Transaction-related costs (4) - - - -

 Other non-recurring items - - 127 - 38

operating income 836 794 937 690 624

Financial income / (expenses) (7) (3) (4) 2 (1)

PRoFit beFoRe tAXes 829 791 933 692 623

Taxes (215) (200) (219) (172) (155)

PRoFit FoR the yeAR 614 591 714 520 468

Profit attributable to:   

Equity holders of SGS SA 588 566 692 500 443

non-controlling interests 26 25 22 20 25

ADJUsteD oPeRAtiNG iNcoMe MARGiNs iN % 17.8 17.4 17.0 16.4 15.9

AVeRAGe NUMbeR oF eMPLoyees 60 321 57 153 55 026 50 331 45 928

1. Amended data following changes in presentation of results.
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sGs GRoUP FiVe-yeAR stAtisticAL DAtA coNsoLiDAteD bALANce sheets
At 31 DeceMbeR

(CHF million)  2010 2009 2008 20071 20061

land, buildings and equipment 756 751 721 738 656

Goodwill and other intangible assets 982 777 759 716 644

Investments in associated and other companies 2 1 2 2 2

Deferred tax and other non-current assets 235 228 219 187 188

totAL NoN-cURReNt Assets 1 975 1 757 1 701 1 643 1 490

Unbilled revenues and inventories 217 201 184 206 180

Trade accounts and notes receivable 772 812 919 867 762

Other receivables and prepayments 202 174 194 184 182

Cash and marketable securities 815 792  583 438 239

totAL cURReNt Assets 2 006 1 979  1 880 1 695 1 363

totAL Assets 3 981 3 736  3 581 3 338 2 853
     

Share capital 8 8  8 8 8

Reserves 2 061 2 065  1 817 1 933 1 548

eQUity AttRibUtAbLe to eQUity hoLDeRs oF sGs sA 2 069 2 073  1 825 1 941 1 556

non-controlling interests 39 37  37 36 30

totAL eQUity 2 108 2 110  1 862 1 977 1 586

loans and obligations under finance leases 553 8  10 20 7

Deferred tax liabilities 63 77  65 64 46

Provisions and retirement benefit obligations 254 249  267 211 293

totAL NoN-cURReNt LiAbiLities 870 334 342 295 346

loans and obligations under finance leases 3 308  325 40 17

Trade and other payables 401 388  403 452 402

Current tax liabilities 91 72  107 69 88

Provisions, other creditors and accruals 508 524  542 505 414

totAL cURReNt LiAbiLities 1 003 1 292  1 377 1 066 921

totAL LiAbiLities 1 873 1 626  1 719 1 361 1 267

totAL eQUity AND LiAbiLities 3 981 3 736  3 581 3 338 2 853
     

cAPitAL eXPeNDitURe     

land, buildings and equipment 261 221  290 285 248

1. 2006 and 2007 data has been restated to reflect the adoption of IFRIC 14.
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sGs GRoUP FiVe-yeAR stAtisticAL shARe DAtA

(CHF unless indicated otherwise)  2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

shARe iNFoRMAtioN     

ReGisteReD shARes     

number of shares issued 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436 7 822 436

number of shares with dividend rights 7 629 482 7 568 664 7 542 214 7 708 946 7 706 030

PRice     

High 1 704 1 400 1 596 1 607 1 394

low 1 332 1 036 904 1 296 1 057

year-end 1 569 1 351 1 100 1 349 1 358

Par value 1 1 1 1 1
     

Key FiGURes by shARes     

Equity attributable to equity holders of SGS SA
per share in circulation at 31 December 272.53 276.36 244.07 254.32 204.18

Basic earnings per share 1 77.64 75.48 91.08 65.47 58.36

Dividend per share-ordinary 30.00 2 30.00 35.00 25.00 20.00

Dividend per share-special 35.00 2 30.00 15.00 10.00 - 
   

DiViDeNDs (chF MiLLioN)     

Ordinary 229 2 227 264 193 154

Special 267 2 227 113 77 -

1. Calculation of the basic earnings per share (weighted average for the year) is disclosed in note 9, pages 104 to 105.

2. As proposed by the Board of Directors.

sGs GRoUP shARe iNFoRMAtioN

shARe tRANsFeR

SGS SA has no restrictions as to share ownership, except that registered shares acquired in a fiduciary capacity by third parties  
may not be registered in the shareholders’ register, unless a special authorisation has been granted by the Board of Directors.

MARKet cAPitALisAtioN

At the end of 2010, market capitalisation was approximately CHF 12 273 million (2009: CHF 10 568 million). Shares are quoted  
on the SIX Swiss Exchange.
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sGs GRoUP PRiNciPAL oPeRAtiNG coMPANies AND ULtiMAte PAReNt
  issUeD cAPitAL  issUeD cAPitAL  % heLD DiRect /
coUNtRy NAMe AND DoMiciLe cURReNcy AMoUNt by GRoUP  iNDiRect

Albania SGS Albania ltd., Tirana All 100 000 100 D

Albania SGS Automotive Albania sh.p.k, Tirana All 100 100 I

Algeria Qualitest Algérie SPA, Alger DZD 50 000 000 100 D

Algeria Société de Contrôle Technique Automobile S.A., DZD 173 600 000 77 D
 Rouiba-Alger

Angola SGS Angola limitada, luanda AOA 8 000 000 100 D

Argentina SGS Argentina S.A., Buenos Aires ARS 4 171 536 100 D

Argentina ITv SA, Buenos Aires ARS 1 500 000 100 I

Australia SGS Australia Pty. ltd., Bentley AUD 200 000 100 I

Australia Gearhart Australia limited, Perth AUD 5 609 210 100 I

Australia SGS Scientific Services Pty. ltd., Perth AUD 30 198 853 100 I

Austria SGS Austria Controll-Co. Ges.m.b.H., vienna EUR 185 000 100 D

Azerbaijan SGS Azeri ltd., Baku USD 100 000 100 D

Bahamas SGS Bahamas ltd., Freeport BSD 5 000 100 D

Bangladesh SGS Bangladesh limited, Dhaka BDT 100 000 100 D

Belarus SGS Minsk ltd., Minsk USD 20 000 100 D

Belgium SGS Belgium n.v., Antwerpen EUR 2 178 200 100 I

Benin SGS Bénin S.A., Cotonou XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Bolivia  SGS Bolivia S.A., la Paz BOB 41 900 100 D

Bosnia-Herzegovina SGS Bosna i Hercegovina (d.o.o.) ltd., Sarajevo BAM 2 000 100 I

Botswana  SGS Botswana (Proprietary) limited, Gaborone BWP 1 000 100 D

Brazil SGS do Brasil ltda., São Paulo BRl 53 009 486 100 D

Bulgaria SGS Bulgaria ltd., Sofia BGn 10 000 100 D

Burkina Faso SGS Burkina S.A., Ouagadougou XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Cameroon SGS Cameroun S.A., Douala XAF 10 000 000 100 D

Canada SGS Canada Inc., Missisauga CAD 20 900 000 100 D

Chile SGS Chile limitada, Santiago de Chile ClP 180 000 000 100 D

China SGS-CSTC Standards Technical USD 3 966 667 85 I
 Services ltd., Beijing 

Colombia SGS Colombia S.A., Bogota COP 84 965 360 100 D

Congo SGS Congo S.A., Pointe-noire XAF 10 000 000 100 D

Croatia  SGS Adriatica, w.l.l., Rijeka HRK 1 300 000 100 I

Czech Republic  SGS Czech Republic s.r.o., Praha CZK 7 707 000 100 I

Denmark  SGS Danmark A / S, Frederiksberg DKK 700 000 100 I

Dubai  (see United Arab Emirates)

Ecuador  SGS del Ecuador S.A., Guayaquil USD 147 680 100 D

Egypt  SGS Egypt ltd., Giza / Cairo EGP 1 500 000 100 D

Estonia  SGS Estonia ltd., Maardu EEK 660 000 100 I

Ethiopia  SGS Ethiopia Private limited, Addis Abeba ETB 15 000 100 D

Finland  SGS Inspection Services Oy, Helsingfors EUR 102 000 100 I

Finland  SGS Fimko Oy, Helsingfors EUR 260 000 100 I
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  issUeD cAPitAL  issUeD cAPitAL  % heLD DiRect /
coUNtRy NAMe AND DoMiciLe cURReNcy AMoUNt by GRoUP  iNDiRect

France  SGS Oil, Gas & Chemicals, SAS, Cachan EUR 720 000 100 I

France  SGS Qualitest Industrie SAS, Orsay EUR 200 000 100 I

France  Securitest S.A., Paris EUR 2 745 000 91.986 I

France  SGS Aster SA, Paris EUR 11 216 390 100 I

France SGS Cephac Europe SAS, St-Benois EUR 457 347 100 I

Georgia  SGS Georgia ltd., Batumi USD 80 000 100 D

Germany  SGS Gottfeld nDT Services GmbH, Herne EUR 750 000 100 I

Germany  SGS Germany GmbH, Hamburg EUR 1 210 000 100 I

Germany  SGS Institut Fresenius GmbH, Taunusstein EUR 7 490 000 100 I

Germany SGS Tüv GmbH, Sulzbach  EUR 750 000 74.9 I

Ghana  SGS Ghana limited, Accra GHS 5 202 100 D

Ghana  Ghana Community network GHS 1 978 604 60 D
 Services limited, Accra 

Great Britain  SGS United Kingdom limited, Ellesmere Port GBP 8 000 000 100 I

Great Britain M-Scan limited, Ellesmere Port GBP 139 100 I

Greece  SGS Greece SA, Peristeri EUR 301 731 100 D

Guam  SGS Guam, Guam USD 25 000 100 D

Guatemala  SGS de Guatemala, S.A., Guatemala-City GTQ 1 068 000 100 D

Guinea - Conakry SGS Guinée Conakry S.A., Conakry GnF 50 000 000 100 D

Guinea - Equatorial Compañia de Inspecciones y Servicios G.E., Malabo XAF 10 000 000 51 D

Hong Kong  SGS Hong Kong limited, Hong Kong HKD 200 000 100 D

Hungary  SGS Hungária Kft., Budapest HUF 18 000 000 100 I

India  SGS India Private ltd., Mumbai InR 800 000 100 D

Indonesia  P.T. SGS Indonesia, Jakarta USD 200 000 100 D

Iran  SGS Iran (Private Joint Stock) limited,Tehran IRR 50 000 000 100 D

Iran  Arya–SGS Quality Services,  IRR 1 500 000 000 50 D
 Private Joint Stock Co.,Tehran 

Ireland  SGS Ireland (Holdings) limited, Dublin EUR 62 500 100 I

Ireland  vicuna limited, Dublin EUR 2 748 753 100 I

Italy  SGS Italia S.p.A., Milan EUR 2 500 000 100 I

Ivory Coast  SGS Côte d’Ivoire S.A., Abidjan XOF 300 000 000 80 D

Ivory Coast  Société Ivoirienne de Contrôles Techniques  XOF 200 000 000 95 D
 Automobiles et Industriels S.A., Abidjan 

Jamaica SGS Supervise Jamaica limited, Kingston JMD 1 569 520 100 D

Japan  SGS Japan Inc., yokohama JPy 350 000 000 100 D

Jordan  SGS (Jordan) Private Shareholding  JOD 100 000 50 D
 Company, Amman 

Kazakhstan  SGS Kazakhstan limited, Almaty KZT 146 527 100 D

Kenya  SGS Kenya limited, Mombasa KES 2 000 000 100 D

Korea (Republic of)  SGS Korea Co., ltd., Seoul KRW 5 567 540 000 100 D

Kosovo SGS Kosovo ltd, Prishtina EUR 2 500 100 I

Kuwait  SGS Kuwait W.l.l., Kuwait KWD 50 000 49 D

latvia  SGS latvija limited, Riga lvl 83 200 100 I

lebanon  SGS (liban) S.A.l., Beirut lBP 30 000 000 99.99 D

liberia SGS liberia Inc, Monrovia lRD 100 100 D
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coUNtRy NAMe AND DoMiciLe cURReNcy AMoUNt by GRoUP  iNDiRect

lithuania  SGS Klaipeda ltd., Klaipeda lTl 40 000 100 I

luxembourg  SGS luxembourg S.A., Mamer EUR 38 000 100 I

Madagascar  SGS Madagascar SARl, Antananarivo MGA 20 000 000 100 I

Madagascar Malagasy Community network Services S.A.,  MGA 10 000 000 70 D
 Antananarivo

Malawi  SGS Malawi limited, Blantyre MWK 30 000 100 D

Malaysia  Petrotechnical Inspection (Malaysia) MyR 350 000 70 D
 Sdn. Bhd., Kuala lumpur 

Malaysia  SGS (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd., Kuala lumpur MyR 60 000 100 I

Mali  Analabs Mali SARl, Kayes XOF 2 500 000 100 D

Mauritius  SGS (Mauritius) lTD, Phoenix MUR 100 000 100 D

Mexico  SGS de Mexico, S.A. de C.v., Mexico MXn 7 065 828 100 D

Moldova  SGS (Moldova) S.A., Chisinau MDl 488 050 100 D

Mongolia  SGS Mongolia llC, Ulaanbaatar USD 10 000 100 I

Morocco  SGS Maroc S.A., Casablanca MAD 7 500 000 100 D

Morocco SGS Maroc Automotive SA, Casablanca MAD 33 000 000 75 D

Mozambique  SGS Moçambique, limitada, Maputo MZM 100 000 000 100 D

Myanmar  SGS (Myanmar) limited, yangoon MMK 300 000 100 D

namibia  SGS Inspection Services namibia (Propietary)  nAD 100 100 I
 limited, Windhoek

netherlands  SGS nederland B.v., Spijkenisse EUR 250 000 100 I

netherlands SGS Horizon B.v., Gravenhage EUR 45 000 100 I

netherlands Intron Holding B.v., Sittard EUR 136 134 100 I

new Zealand  SGS new Zealand limited, Auckland-Onehunga nZD 4 522 190 100 D

nigeria  SGS Inspection Services nigeria limited, lagos nGn 200 000 50 D

nigeria SGS Scanning nigeria limited, lagos nGn 100 000 100 D

norway  SGS norge A / S, Bergen nOK 800 000 100 I

Pakistan  SGS Pakistan (Private) limited, Karachi PKR 2 300 000 100 D

Panama  SGS Panama Control Services Inc., Panama USD 850 000 100 D

Papua-new-Guinea  SGS PnG Pty. limited, Port Moresby PGK 2 100 I

Paraguay  SGS Paraguay S.A., Asunción PyG 1 962 000 000 100 D

Peru  SGS del Perú S.A.C., lima PEn 11 738 890 100 D

Philippines  SGS Global Trade Solutions Philippines,  PHP 8 325 000 100 D
 Inc., Manila 

Philippines  SGS Philippines, Inc., Manila PHP 24 620 000 100 D

Poland  SGS Polska Sp.z o.o.,Warsaw Pln 6 179 800 100 I

Poland  SGS EKO-PROJEKT Sp. z.o.o., Pzcczyna Pln 2 559 000 100 I

Portugal  SGS Portugal - Sociedade Geral de  EUR 500 000 100 I
 Superintendência S.A., lisbon 

Romania  SGS Romania S.A., Bucharest ROn 100 002 100 I

Russia  SGS vostok limited, Moscow RUB 8 000 000 100 D

Saudi Arabia  SGS Inspection Services Saudi Arabia  SAR 1 000 000 75 D
 ltd., Jeddah 

Senegal  SGS Sénégal S.A., Dakar XAF 35 000 000 100 D

Serbia  SGS Beograd d.o.o., Beograd EUR 66 161 100 I
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Singapore  SGS Testing & Control Services Singapore  SGD 100 000 100 D
 Pte ltd., Singapore

Slovakia  SGS Slovakia spol.s.r.o., Kosice EUR 19 917 100 I

Slovenia  SGS Slovenija d.o.o. - Podjetje za  EUR 10 432 100 I
 kontrol blaga, Koper 

South Africa  SGS South Africa (Proprietary) limited,  ZAR 5 100 006 100 D
 Johannesburg 

Spain  SGS Española de Control S.A., Madrid EUR 240 000 100 I

Spain  SGS Tecnos, S.A., Sociedad  EUR 12 072 040 100 I
 Unipersonal, Madrid 

Spain  SGS International Certification Services  EUR 60 101 100 I
 Ibérica, S.A., Madrid    

Spain General de Servicios ITv, S.A., Madrid EUR 4 559 657 100 I

Sri lanka  SGS lanka (Private) limited, Colombo lKR 9 000 000 100 D

Sweden  SGS Sweden AB, Göteborg SEK 1 500 000 100 I

Switzerland  SGS Société Générale de Surveillance SA, Geneva CHF 10 000 000 100 I

Switzerland  SGS SA, Geneva CHF 7 822 436  Ultimate 
     

Switzerland  SGS Group Management SA, Geneva CHF 100 000 100 I

Taiwan  SGS Taiwan limited, Taipei TWD 62 000 000 100 I

Tanzania  SGS Tanzania Superintendence Co.  TZS 250 000 100 D
 limited, Dar-es-Salaam 

Thailand  SGS (Thailand) limited, Bangkok THB 20 000 000 99.99 D

Togo  SGS Togo S.A., lomé XOF 10 000 000 100 D

Tunisia  SGS Tunisie S.A., Tunis TnD 50 000 50 D

Turkey  SGS Supervise Gözetme Etud Kontrol  TRy 1 550 000 100 I
 Servisleri Anonim Sirketi, Istanbul 

Turkmenistan  SGS Turkmen ltd., Ashgabat USD 50 000 100 D

Uganda  SGS Uganda limited, Kampala UGX 5 000 000 100 D

Ukraine  SGS Ukraine, Foreign Enterprise, Odessa USD 400 000 100 I

United Arab Emirates  SGS Gulf limited, Abu Dhabi, (Branch office) – – – –

United States  SGS north America Inc.,Wilmington USD 73 701 996 100 I

United States  SGS U.S. Testing Company Inc., new york USD 303 625 100 I

Uruguay  SGS Uruguay limitada, Montevideo UyU 1 500 100 D

Uruguay  Sociedad Uruguaya de Control Técnico de  UyU 24 000 100 I
 Automotores Sociedad Anónima, Montevideo 

Uzbekistan  SGS Tashkent ltd., Tashkent USD 50 000 100 D

venezuela  SGS venezuela S.A., Caracas vEF 162 980 100 D

vietnam  SGS vietnam ltd., Ho Chi Minh City  USD 288 000 100 D

Zambia  SGS Inspections Services ltd, lusaka ZMK 5 000 000 100 I

Zimbabwe  SGS Zimbabwe (Private) limited, Harare ZWD 5 000 100 D

parent company
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SHAREHOlDER  

iNFoRMATIOn
sGs sA coRPoRAte oFFice

1 place des Alpes

P.O. Box 2152

CH – 1211 Geneva 1

t   +41 (0)22 739 91 11

f   +41 (0)22 739 98 86

e   sgs.investor.relations@sgs.com

www.sgs.com

stocK eXchANGe ListiNG

SIX Swiss Exchange, SGSn

stocK eXchANGe tRADiNG

SIX Swiss Exchange

coMMoN stocK syMboLs

Bloomberg: Registered Share: SGSn.vX

Reuters: Registered Share: SGSn.vX

Telekurs: Registered Share: SGSn

ISIn: Registered Share: CH0002497458

Swiss security number: 249745

coRPoRAte coMMUNicAtioNs & 

iNVestoR ReLAtioNs sGs sA

Jean-luc de Buman

1 place des Alpes

P.O. Box 2152

CH – 1211 Geneva 1

t   +41 (0)22 739 93 31

f   +41 (0)22 739 98 61

www.sgs.com

ANNUAL GeNeRAL MeetiNG  

oF shARehoLDeRs

The Annual General Meeting  
of Shareholders will be held  
on 15 March 2011 at the  
Grand Hotel Kempinski, Geneva.

PRoJect MANAGeMeNt

Carole Streng

coNcePt, DesiGN, PhotoGRAPhy, 

ReALisAtioN AND PRoDUctioN 

Group Charlescannon Sàrl 
verbier, Switzerland

PRiNteD by

HERTIG Print SA 
lyss, Switzerland

The 2010 results and financial  
statements are also pu  blished in French.

English version is binding.

Printed on chlorine and acid free paper in 
Switzerland, February 2011.
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